
Regular Council Meeting 
October 14, 2024 
Executive Summary 

Item #  Summary 
9A‐B  Description: Items for Action by Unanimous Consent 

Recommended Action: Motion to approve the consent agenda 
as presented. 

10A  Description: Brownfield Plan Amedment 

Recommended Action: Motion to adopt Resolution 2024-27
approving an amendment to the 2008 Brownfield Plan.

10B  Description: Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate 
Application

Recommended Action: Motion to adopt Resolution 2024-28 
approving the Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption 
Certificate Application from 420 E. Mills LLC for properties 
located at 328 E. Mill Street and 420 E. Mill Street.



Council Agenda  Page 1 of 2 October 14, 2024 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

  

 
City Council Agenda 

October 14, 2024 
 
 

1. Regular meeting called to order at 7:00 PM 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge to the flag 

*         4. Approval of the agenda 

*         5. Approval of the minutes of the September 23, 2024, regular meeting.  

A. Approval of the corrected minutes of the September 9, 2024, regular meeting. 

√        6. Public Hearings:  

A. Public Hearing to hear comments and consider granting a Commercial 
Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate for 420 E. Mills, LLC, for the properties 
located at 328 and 420 E. Mill Street, Hastings, MI 49058 (Parcels 08-55-001-
001-02 and 08-55-001-001-04). 

 
7. Public Comment 

8. Formal Recognitions and Presentations: 

B. Presentation from Dave Hatfield, Barry County Commissioner. 

√        9. Items for Action by Unanimous Consent:  

*                   A. Consider for approval, under direction of staff, St. Rose’s request to hold the 
annual 5K Fun Run to be held on May 3rd, 2025. 

*                   B. Receive and place on file sixteen (16) invoices totaling $467,407.87 as detailed 
in attachments.  

√        10. Items of Business: 

*                   A. Consider for approval adoption of Resolution 2024-27, approving an 
amendment to the 2008 Brownfield Plan. 

*                   B. Consider for approval adoption of Resolution 2024-28, approving the 
Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate Application from 420 E. Mills LLC 
for properties located at 328 E. Mill Street and 420 E. Mill Street.  

11. Staff Presentations and Policy Discussions (None) 



Council Agenda  Page 2 of 2 October 14, 2024 

12. City Manager Report: 

*                   A. Public Services Director Tate Monthly Report 
*                   B. Fire Chief Jordan Monthly Report 
*                   C. Library Director Hemerling Monthly Report 
*                   D. Assessor Rashid Monthly Report 

√        13. Reports and Communications: 

*                   A. YMCA Updates for the City of Hastings, September 9th, 2024. 
*                   B. Hastings Public Library Board of Trustees Draft Meeting Minutes October 7th, 

2024. 
*                   C. November 2024 Event Calendar 

14. Public Comment: 

15. Mayor and Council comment: 

16. Adjourn 

 
 
* Items with enclosures. 
√ Motion under agenda heading requires roll call vote. 
 
 

Guidelines for Public Comment 
 

Public Comment is welcomed and appreciated. Please follow these simple guidelines to ensure all have 
an opportunity to be heard. 
 
All comments and questions will be made through the chair. All comments will be made in a courteous 
and civil manner; profanity and personal attacks will not be tolerated. Please limit the length of your 
comments to 3 minutes. If you are a member of a group, please appoint a spokesperson to speak on 
behalf of the group (those speaking on behalf of a group may be provided additional time). Please 
state your name before offering comment. 



4464 
 

Council Minutes  September 9, 2024 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

  

 
City Council Minutes 
September 9, 2024 

 
 

1. Regular meeting called to order at 7:00 PM 

2. Roll call  

Councilmembers Present: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, 
Stenzelbarton, and Tossava 
 
Motion by Nesbitt, with support from Brehm, to excuse Councilmember Bowers.  
All ayes. Motion carried. 
 
City Staff and Appointees Present: Perin, Moyer-Cale, King, Tate, Kelly, and Jordan. 

 
3. Pledge to the flag 

4. Approval of the agenda 

Motion by McLean, with support from Jarvis, to approve the agenda as present. 
All ayes. Motion carried. 
 

5. Approval of the minutes of August 26, 2024 regular meeting 

Comment from Brehm for correction of City Staff member Boulter’s name spelling on 
minutes. 
 
Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Jarvis, to approve the minutes of the August 
26, 2024, regular meeting, with correction. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 
 

6. Public Hearings: (None) 

7. Public Comment (None) 

8. Formal Recognitions and Presentations: 

A. Presentation from Dave Hatfield, Barry County Commissioner. 
 

Comment by Stenzelbarton. 
 



4465 
 

Council Minutes  September 9, 2024 

9. Items for Action by Unanimous Consent: 

A. Consider the request for permission from Pavement Ends, Inc. to hold the Barry 
Roubaix Fall Fondo Fundraising cycling event on Sunday, October 6, 2024 from  
9:00 AM to 6:00 PM at Fish Hatchery Park. 

 
Motion by Resseguie, with support from McLean, to approve request for permission 
from Pavement Ends, Inc. to hold the Barry Roubaix Fall Fondo Fundraising cycling 
event on Sunday, October 6, 2024 from 9:00 AM to 6:00 PM at Fish Hatchery Park. 
 
Comments by Jarvis, and King. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 

 
10. Items of Business. 

A. Consider for approval the Mayor and City Clerk to sign a listing agreement extension 
from September 12, 2024 to December 31, 2024 with Miller Real Estate for city-
owned vacant industrial property containing 8.6 acres and located on Star School 
Road north of Enterprise Drive. 

 
Motion by Barlow, with support by Brehm, to approve the Mayor and City Clerk to 
sign a listing agreement extension from September 12, 2024 to December 31, 2024 
with Miller Real Estate for city-owned vacant industrial property containing 8.6 acres 
and located on Star School Road north of Enterprise Drive. 
 
Comments by Jarvis, Stenzelbarton, King, and Moyer-Cale. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion Carried. 

 
B. Consider for approval the airport management contract with Lucci Distributing 

effective October 1, 2024 through October 2, 2027 as presented. 
 
Motion by Resseguie, with support from Jarvis, to approve the airport management 
contract with Lucci Distributing effective October 1, 2024 through October 2, 2027 
as presented. 
 
Comments by Resseguie, Moyer-Cale, and Tossava. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: None. 



4466 
 

Council Minutes  September 9, 2024 

Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 

 
C. Consider for approval R&H Tractor Services LLC’s proposal to demolish the site at 

133 E. State Street (Old Vinnie’s Site) for the price of $14,300. 
 

Motion by Barlow, with support from Nesbitt, to approve R&H Tractor Services LLC’s 
proposal to demolish the site at 133 E. State Street (Old Vinnie’s Site) for the price 
of $14,300. 
 
Comments by Nesbitt, and Moyer-Cale. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 

 
D. Consider for approval the submission of an urban and community forestry grant 

application to the MDNR for a public tree inventory with a match of $12,500. 
 

Motion by Resseguie, with support from Jarvis, to approve the submission of an 
urban and community forestry grant application to the MDNR for a public tree 
inventory with a match of $12,500. 
 
Comments by Jarvis, Tate, Moyer-Cale, and Tossava. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, and Tossava. 
Nays: Stenzelbarton. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 

 
E. Consider for awarding the City Tree Planting bid from County Line Nurseries, Inc. for 

$12,730. 
 

Motion by McLean, with support from Nesbitt, to award the City Tree Planting bid 
from County Line Nurseries, Inc. for $12,730. 
 
Comments by McLean, Nesbitt, Tate, Moyer-Cale, and Tossava. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Absent: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 
 
 

11. Staff Presentations and Policy Discussions (None) 

12. City Manager Report: 



4467 
 

Council Minutes  September 9, 2024 

City Manager Moyer-Cale addressed council. 
 
Comments by Jarvis, Stenzelbarton, Moyer-Cale, and Tossava. 
 
Update from Deputy Police Chief Kelly on status of Chief Boulter. 

 
A. Public Services Director Tate Monthly Report. 

 
B. Fire Chief Jordan Monthly Report. 

 
Comment by Jordan. 

 
C. Assessor Rashid Monthly Report. 

 
13. Reports and Communications: 

A. September 2024 Calendar. 
 

Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Brehm, to accept to place on file 
September 2024 calendar.  
All ayes. Motion carried. 

 
14. Public Comments: (None) 

15. Mayor and Council comments: 

Comment from Tossava. 
 

16. Adjourn: 

Motion by McLean, with support from Stenzelbarton, to adjourn at 7:42 PM.  
All ayes. Motion carried. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Read and Approved: 
 
 
 
________________________     ___________________________ 
David J. Tossava, Mayor      Linda Perin, City Clerk 

 
 



4468 
 

Council Minutes  September 23, 2024 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

  

 
City Council Minutes 
September 23, 2024 

 
 

1. Regular meeting called to order at 7:00 PM 

2. Roll call  

Councilmembers Present: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, 
Stenzelbarton, and Tossava. 

City Staff and Appointees Present: Moyer-Cale, Hemerling, Jordan, Kelly, King, Perin, 
and Tate. 

 
3. Pledge to the flag 

4. Approval of the agenda 

Motion by Brehm, with support from McLean, to approve the agenda as present. 
All ayes. Motion Carried. 
 

5. Approval of the minutes of September 9, 2024 regular meeting 

Comment from Perin to table approval of minutes until they can be reviewed and 
brought back to next meeting for approval. 
 

6. Public Hearings: (None) 

7. Public Comment: (None) 

8. Formal Recognitions and Presentations: 

A. Presentation from Dave Hatfield, Barry County Commissioner. (Absent) 
 

B. Presentation from Gino Lucci, Hastings City/Barry County Airport Manager. 
 

Comments from Bowers. 
 

9. Items for Action by Unanimous Consent: 

A. Consider for approval the Hastings Student Council’s request to conduct the annual 
homecoming parade on City streets located near Hastings High School from 5:30pm 
to 6:00pm on Friday, September 27th, 2024. 

 
Motion by Barlow, with support from Jarvis, to approve the Hastings Student 
Council’s request to conduct the annual homecoming parade on City streets located 



4469 
 

Council Minutes  September 23, 2024 

near Hastings High School from 5:30pm to 6:00pm on Friday, September 27th, 2024. 
Comments from Justine Kramer, Hastings High School Student Council Advisor, and 
Tossava. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
B. Consider for approval the closure of a portion of Green Street on Thursday, October 

31st, 2024, for Halloween Trick-or-Treating from 4:45pm until 8:00pm. 
 

Motion from Stenzelbarton, with support from Brehm, to approve the closure of a 
portion of Green Street on Thursday, October 31st, 2024, for Halloween Trick-or-
Treating from 4:45pm until 8:00pm 
 
Comments from Stenzelbarton, and Kelly. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, and 
Tossava. 
Nays: Bowers. 
Motion carried. 

 
C. Consider for approval the motion to cast a ballot for Thad Beard and Dan Swallow to 

serve three (3)-year terms on the MML Liability & Property Pool Board. 
 

Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Resseguie, to approve the motion to 
cast a ballot for Thad Beard and Dan Swallow to serve three (3)-year terms on the 
MML Liability & Property Pool Board. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
D. Consider for approval receipt and placement on file six (6) invoices totaling 

$137,170.64 as detailed in attachments. 
 

Motion by Barlow, with support from McLean, to approve receipt and placement on 
file six (6) invoices totalling $137,170.64 as detailed in attachments. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
10. Items of Business. 

A. Consider for approval the purchase of a new U.S. Cargo trailer from USA Trailer 
Sales of Wayland in the amount of $10,824.00. 



4470 
 

Council Minutes  September 23, 2024 

 
Motion by Nesbitt, with support from Brehm, to approve the purchase of a new U.S. 
Cargo trailer from USA Trailer Sales of Wayland in the amount of $10,824.00. 

 
Comments from Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, Kelly, Moyer-
Cale, and Tossava. 

 
Motion by Jarvis, with support by McLean, to table U.S. Cargo trailer purchase until 
Deputy Chief Kelly gathers further information. 

 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers. Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Stenzelbarton, and Tossava. 
Nays: Resseguie. 
Motion to table carried. 

 
B. Consider for approval scheduling a public hearing at 7:00pm, October 14th, 2024, 

during the Council meeting, to review and consider a Commercial Rehabilitation 
Exemption Certificate application from 420 E. Mills, LLC, for properties located at 328 
and 420 E. Mill Street. 

 
Motion by McLean, with support from Resseguie, to schedule a public hearing at 
7:00pm, October 14th, 2024, during the Council meeting, to review and consider a 
Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate application from 420 E. Mills, LLC, 
for properties located at 328 and 420 E. Mill Street. 
 
Comments from Jarvis, and Moyer-Cale. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
C. Consider for scheduling a workshop at 6:00pm, October 14th, 2024, to allow City 

Attorney Jessica Wood to provide background information on Brownfield Plans and 
Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption incentives. 

 
Motion by McLean, with support from Barlow, to schedule a workshop at 6:00pm, 
October 14th, 2024, to allow City Attorney Jessica Wood to provide background 
information on Brownfield Plans and Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption 
incentives. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
D. Consider for approval, under direction of staff, the Hastings Downtown Business 

Team’s request to hold Fall Girls Night Out event on Thursday, October 3rd, 2024, 
from 5:00pm until 8:00pm, close Jefferson Street from State Street to the mid-block 
alley on Jefferson Street for a musical performance, and adopt Resolution 2024-
26 to stay the necessary ordinances. 



4471 
 

Council Minutes  September 23, 2024 

 
Motion by McLean, with support from Jarvis, to approve, under direction of staff, the 
Hastings Downtown Business Team’s request to hold Fall Girls Night Out event on 
Thursday, October 3rd, 2024, from 5:00pm until 8:00pm, close Jefferson Street from 
State Street to the mid-block alley on Jefferson Street for a musical performance, 
and adopt Resolution 2024-26 to stay the necessary ordinances. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bowers, Brehm, Jarvis, McLean, Nesbitt, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton, 
and Tossava. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried.  

 
11. Staff Presentations and Policy Discussions (None) 

12. City Manager Report:  

Mayor Exchange Day comments from Moyer-Cale.  
 
Comments from Barlow, and Ressguie. 
 

A. Deputy Police Chief Kelly Monthly Report. 
 
Comments from Stenzelbarton. 
 

B. City Clerk/Treasurer Perin Monthly Financial Report. 
 

C. Community Development Director King Monthly Report. 
 

Comments from Stenzelbarton. 
 

D. Library Director Hemerling Monthly Report. 
 

Comments from Bowers. 
 

13. Reports and Communications: 

A. Draft Library Board Meeting Minutes September 9th, 2024. 
B. October 2024 Calendar. 

 
Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Brehm, to approve Draft Library Board 
Meeting minutes from September 9th, 2024, and October 2024 Calendar. 
 
All ayes. 
Motion carried. 
 

14. Public Comments: 

Comments from Mary Lawry, Hastings Resident. 
 
A. Public hearing notifications through water bills. 
B. Request for covers for new LED lights. 



4472 
 

Council Minutes  September 23, 2024 

C. Reminder where yard signs can be placed. 
 

15. Mayor and Council comments: 

16. Adjourn: 

Motion by McLean, with support from Barlow, to adjourn meeting. 
 
All ayes. 
Motion carried. Meeting adjourned at 7:43pm. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Read and Approved: 
 
 
 
________________________     ___________________________ 
David J. Tossava, Mayor      Linda Perin, City Clerk 
 

 
 



Summary - City of Hastings Invoices
City Council Meeting

October 14, 2024

No. Vendor Amount Description (with date paid)
1 Bonded Chemical Inc. $6,158.25 Six (6) Aluminum Sulfate Liquid Totes (9/20/2024)

2 Wickham Cemetery Care, LLC $6,497.92 Foundation Repairs and Stone Resets (9/20/2024)

3 Wickham Cemetery Care, LLC $7,737.50 Cemetery Contract, Full Burial & Cremation (9/20/2024)
4 Advantage Plumbing & Drain $9,786.00 Lead Line Replacements - August 2024 (9/20/2024)
5 Acker Building Co. $9,999.00 Removal & Replace of Roof, Soffit Repair, Window Replace (9/20/2024)

6 Acker Building Co. $9,999.00 Window Replacement for NEP Grant (9/20/2024)
7 Etna Supply - Grand Rapids $143,517.96 Water Plant DPW Supplies (9/20/2024)
8 Katerberg VerHage, Inc. $152,304.30 Sitework/Excavation (9/20/2024)
9 KV Landscapes $11,180.00 August 2024 Lawn Maintenance (10/2/2024)
10 Thornapple Arts Council $22,214.00 Programming agreement and reimbursement (10/2/2024)
11 Bonded Chemical Inc. $6,158.25 Six (6) Aluminum Sulfate Liquid Totes (10/2/2024)
12 Landscape Forms, Inc. $36,270.00 Streetscape Improvements Phase II (10/2/2024)
13 Precise Construction Contractors, Inc. $21,220.00 Mobile screening plant, Loader, 2000 Tons Supply (10/2/2024)

14 Moore + Bruggink $5,200.61 East State Street Improvements (10/2/2024)
15 Moore + Bruggink $11,059.31 Green & Market Street Improvements (10/2/2024)
16 Moore + Bruggink $8,105.77 Green & Market Street Improvements (10/2/2024)
16 Invoices $467,407.87

ATTACHMENT ‐ AGENDA ITEM 9A

9B







































Moore+Bruggi:nk 
Consulting Enginei?rs 

2020 Monroe Avenue NW 
Gr'and RapidsMl-495.05-6298 
P 616,363.9801 F 616.363 .. 2480 

CITY OF HASTINGS 
TRAVIS TATE 
201 EAST STATE STREET 
HASTINGS, Ml 49058 

Invoice from July 1, 2024 through August 2, 2024 

Base Design 

1. Cross section design.
2. Utility design.
3. Grading and road corridor.
4. Develop maintenance of traffic plans.
5. Draft engineer's estimate.

Description 

DESIGN LABOR 

Aging Summary 

Invoice Number Invoice Date Outstanding 

230232.1-7 07/11/2024 24,552.63 

230232.1-8 08/12/2024 8,105.77 

Total 32,658.40 

Please Mail remittance to: 

Current 

8,105.77 

8,105.77 

FISCAL 

24-25-

YEAR 

Invoice number 
Date 

230232.1-8 
08/12/2024 

Project 230232.01 GREEN STREET AND 
MARKET STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

Total 

Invoice total 

Over 30 Over 60 Over 90 

24,552.63 

24,552.63 0.00 0.00 

Current 
Billed 

8,105.77 

8,105.77 

8,105.77 

Over 120 

0.00 

Moore & Bruggink, Inc., 2020 Monroe Avenue, N. W., Grand Rapids, Ml 49505-6298 

A service charge of one percent per month will be added to all accounts not paid within 30 days of invoice 



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Mayor Tossava and City Council 

From: Dan King 

Subject: St. Rose Annual 5K Fun Run 

Meeting Date: October 14, 2024 

 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to approve, under direction of staff, St. Rose request to hold the annual 5K Fun Run to 
be held on May 3, 2025. 

 

Background Information:  

St. Rose Church has held the annual 5K Fun Run since 2016. The event is held to encourage 
community outreach and physical fitness. Staff has reviewed the request and the special event 
application and has no issues. 

 

Financial Implications:  

There are no financial implications for the City. 

 

Attachments: 

 St. Rose Request Letter 
 Special Event Application 

9A 



















 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Mayor Tossava and City Council 

From: Dan King 

Subject: Brownfield Plan Amendment Resolution 2024‐27 

Meeting Date: October 14, 2024 

 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to adopt Resolution 2024‐27 approving an amendment to the 2008 Brownfield Plan. 

 

Background Information:  

City Council adopted Resolution 2024‐23 on August 12, 2024 delegating authority to the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to conduct a public hearing on a Brownfield Plan 
Amendment proposed by 420 E. Mills, LLC for properties located at 328 E. Mill and 428 E. Mill 
Street. The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority conducted a public hearing during their 
September 26, 2024 regular meeting. The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority unanimously 
adopted Resolution 2024‐01 approving the Plan Amendment and recommended the Plan 
Amendment to City Council. 

420 E. Mills LLC is proposing to construct three three‐story buildings that will contain 
approximately 165,640 sf of residential space and one commercial building containing 
approximately 15,080 sf to house a community food/ arts/childcare center. The residential 
portion will contain approximately 135 units varying from one‐, two‐, and three‐bedroom units. 
Surface parking will be available for both the residential and commercial uses.  

The developer is seeking to utilize the new Housing TIF program and intends to designate 
twenty percent (20%) of the units (27 units) for tenants earning 100% area median income or 
below.  The project will facilitate the development of housing projected to be rented to 
households earning 80% and 100% or less of the area median income. The total capital 
investment is estimated to be $32.3 million and the project is expected to create five new full‐
time jobs. Staff has negotiated with the developer to pass through 20% of the tax capture to 
the Downtown Development Authority and this is reflected in the proposed plan. 

10A 



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

Development of the property will generate substantial tax revenue for the taxing jurisdictions, 
create new job opportunities, stimulate additional investment in the surrounding area, and 
increase availability of housing in the community. For these reasons, this Plan Amendment 
constitutes a public purpose and meets all the criteria needed for approval by the City Council, 
as set forth in the Brownfield Act. 

A figure depicting how TIF financing works can be found below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

Benefits of the project for your consideration include, but are not limited to, the following:  

 Estimated $ 8.48 million taxable value ‐ highest value multifamily housing development 
ever constructed in the city. 

 More residents to support local businesses through spending (residents living in this 
development are expected to spend $7.4 million on retail goods and $857,837 on food 
and drink services annually according to projections by Place & Main Advisors).  

 Additional housing options for employees to be able to live near where they work 
 Enhance nearby property values 
 Opportunity for some residents to downsize and allow single‐family housing stock to 

turn over   
 Increase number of students in school which benefits the school system and decreases 

the need for future debt millages 
 Food hub and daycare center supporting vital local service access 
 Developer to provide public easement for pedestrian access through the property 

connecting the neighborhood to the north of the site to downtown 
 Additional water and sewer users to contribute to paying for the infrastructure systems 
 Catalyst for riverfront development 
 Creation of five full‐time jobs 

 

Financial Implications:  

2024 aggregate annual property tax collection was $7,748.45. Upon completion of the project 
targeted for 2026, the annual passthrough amount to taxing units is projected to be $39,704 
(starting year). Without the project, the aggregate projected tax collection over the next 25 
years would be approximately $200,000. The adoption of the amended plan would result in an 
aggregate projected tax collection over the next 25 years of $2,104,443. 

 

Attachments: 

 Resolution 2024‐27 
 Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Resolution 2024‐01 
 Brownfield Plan Amendment 



 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF HASTINGS 
BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-27 

 
RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AN AMENDMENT TO THE 

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 
 Councilmember ________________, supported by Councilmember ________________, 
moved the adoption of the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Act 381 of the 
Public Acts of Michigan of 1996, as amended, MCL 125.2651 et seq. (“Act 381”), the City of 
Hastings Council previously created the City of Hastings Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
(the “Authority”) and established the boundaries of the Authority district. 

WHEREAS, Act 381 permits the Brownfield Plan to be amended pursuant to the same 
procedures necessary for approval of the original Brownfield Plan. 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment would involve the construction of three new three-
story buildings that will contain approximately 165,640 sf of residential space and one commercial 
building, for an approximately 15,080 sf community food and arts center (the “Amendment”). 

WHEREAS, the Authority has, pursuant to Act 381 and Resolution No. 2024-23, held a 
public hearing on the Amendment. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Act 381, the City provided timely notice of the public hearing and 
the Amendment to the taxing jurisdictions that levy taxes subject to capture under Act 381.  

WHEREAS, the City Council has, pursuant to Act 381, determined that the Amendment 
constitutes a public purpose.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the Amendment is hereby approved. 

2. That a copy of the Amendment be held in the Department of Community 
Development of the City located at City Hall, 201 E. State Street, Hastings, MI 49058, for public 
examination and inspection and shall also be available upon calling the City's Department of 
Community Development at (269) 945-2468. 

3. That all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be and the same 
are hereby rescinded. 

 



 

YEAS:  Councilmembers           

              

NAYS: Councilmembers          

ABSENT: Councilmembers          

ABSTAIN: Councilmembers          

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
Dated: October 14, 2024           
       Linda Perin, City Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

 I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Clerk of the City of Hastings, Barry County, 
Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted 
by the City Council at a regular meeting held on October 14, 2024, the original of which is on file 
in my office, and public notice of said meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance with Act 
267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended. 
 
 
Dated: October 14, 2024           
       Linda Perin, City Clerk/Treasurer 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 









 

 

CITY OF HASTINGS BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

AMENDMENT TO THE BROWNFIELD PLAN 

FOR 

420 E. MILLS, LLC 

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

328 & 420 E. MILL ST 
HASTINGS, MI 49058 

Hastings Brownfield Redevelopment Authority  
Contact: Dan King, Community Development Director / Zoning Administrator 

Phone (269) 945-2468 
 
 
 

Last Revision: August 6, 2024 
 

 

 

 

 

Prepared with the assistance of: 

Warner Norcross and Judd LLP 
150 Ottawa Ave N.W., Suite 1500 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
 
 
Approved by the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority on September 26, 2024 

Approved by the City of Hastings City Council on       _____________________



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-2- 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I.  Introduction ..............................................................................................................................4 

II. Proposed Redevelopment .........................................................................................................4 

III. Basis of Eligibility ....................................................................................................................4 

IV. Required Elements of Brownfield Plan Amendment ...............................................................4 

a. A description of costs intended to be paid for with the tax increment revenues 
[MCL 125.2663(2)(a)]. ....................................................................................... 6 

b. A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible 
property [MCL 125.2663(2)(b)]. ........................................................................ 7 

c. An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for each 
year of the Plan from each parcel of eligible property and in the aggregate 
[MCL 125.2663(2)(c)]. ....................................................................................... 9 

d. The method by which the costs of the Plan will be financed, including a 
description of any advances made or anticipated to be made for the costs of the 
Plan from the City [MCL 125.2663(2)(d)]. ........................................................ 9 

e. The maximum amount of the note or bonded indebted indebtedness to be 
incurred, if any [MCL 125.2663(2)(e)]............................................................... 9 

f. The proposed beginning date and duration of capture of tax increment revenues 
which shall not exceed the lesser of (1) the period required to pay for the 
eligible activities from tax increment revenues plus the period of capture 
authorized for the local site remediation revolving fund or (2) 30 years [MCL 
125.2663(2)(f) & MCLA 125.2663b(16)]. ......................................................... 9 

g. An estimate of the future tax revenues of all taxing jurisdictions in which the 
Property is located to be generated during the term of the Plan [MCL 
125.2663(2)(g)]. .................................................................................................. 9 

h. A legal description of each parcel of eligible property to which the Plan 
applies, a map showing the location and dimensions of each eligible property, a 
statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property, 
and a statement of whether personal property is included as a part of the 
eligible property [MCL 125.2663(2)(h)]. ......................................................... 10 

i. An estimate of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to 
which the Plan applies and the number of families or individuals to be 
displaced, if any [MCL 125.2663(2)(i)]. ............................................................ 6 

j. A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-3- 

implementation of the Plan, if applicable [MCL 125.2663(2)(j)]. ................... 10 

k. Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of the 
Plan, and financial assistance and reimbursement of expenses, if any [MCL 
125.2663(2)(k)]. ................................................................................................ 10 

l. A strategy for compliance with the Michigan Relocation Assistance Act, if 
applicable [MCL 125.2663(2)(l)]. .................................................................... 11 

m. Other material that the Authority or the City Council considers pertinent [MCL 
125.2663(2)(m)]. ............................................................................................... 11 

 
 
 
Table 1: Table of Eligible Activities ................................................................................................5 
 
Property Location and Site Maps ....................................................................................... Exhibit A 
 
Legal Description of Eligible Property .............................................................................. Exhibit B 
 
Documentation of Facility Status....................................................................................... Exhibit C 
 
Potential Rent Loss ............................................................................................................ Exhibit D 
 
Projected Tax Increment Capture and Effect on Taxing Jurisdictions .............................. Exhibit E 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-4- 

I. Introduction 

420 E. Mills, LLC (“Developer”) intends to develop the vacant property located at 328 & 
420 E. Mill Street, Hastings, MI 49058 (the “Property”).  

II. Proposed Development 

Developer is proposing to construct three new three-story buildings that will contain 
approximately 165,640 sf of residential space and one commercial building for an 
approximately 15,080 sf community food and arts center (the “Project”). The residential 
buildings will contain approximately 135 units, including 36 one-bedroom units, 91 two-
bedroom units, and 8 three-bedroom units. The Project will also include a surface parking 
lot for use by the tenants and guests.  

The Property consists of two parcels and sits between Mill Street and the Thornapple River 
just east of N Michigan Ave. See Property Location and Site Maps attached as Exhibit A.  

The Developer is seeking to utilize the new Housing TIF program and intends to 
designate twenty percent (20%) of the units (27 units) for tenants earning 100% area 
median income or less.  The Project will facilitate the development of housing projected 
to be rented to households earning 80% and 100% or less of the area median income.  
The City of Hastings is projecting an increase in housing demand of at least 10% by 
2032, as identified in the Barry County Housing Toolkit.1 
 
Total capital investment is estimated to be approximately $32.3 million and the Project is 
expected to generate five (5) new full time jobs. Construction of the Project is expected to 
begin in the fourth quarter of 2024 and is expected to be completed within twenty-four (24) 
months.  

Development of the Property will generate substantial tax revenue for the taxing 
jurisdictions, create new job opportunities, stimulate additional investment in the 
surrounding area, and increase availability of housing in the community. For these reasons, 
this Plan Amendment constitutes a public purpose and meets all the criteria needed for 
approval by the City Council, as set forth in the Act. 

Vacancy and Net Absorption Trends for the area are outlined below: 

 

 

 

 

 
1 Barry County Housing Toolkit (June 2023 – Page 18): https://www.barrycf.org/wp-
content/uploads/2024/01/01_BC_Affordable-Housing_Booklet_FULL-compressed.pdf  

https://www.barrycf.org/wp


{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-5- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
III. Basis of Eligibility 

A Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) for the parcel located at 420 E. Mill 
Street, dated October 13, 2020, identified contaminants above EGLE Part 201 Generic 
Cleanup Criteria (GCC) and groundwater surface water interface protection (GSIP) 
criteria. Specifically, the Property contains Tetrachloroethene (PCE), benzo(a)pyrene, 
fluoranthene, phenanthrene, arsenic, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and zinc 
in the soil in concentrations exceeding the GCC and GSIP. Naphthalene, PCE, xylenes, 2-
methylnaphthalene, phenanthrene, and mercury were also measured in the soil at 
concentrations exceeding EGLE’s residential VIAP screening levels. Additionally, 
Trichloroethene (TCE), arsenic, copper, lead, and zinc were measured in groundwater 
(and, with respect to TCE, soil gas) at concentrations the GCC and VIAP screening levels.  

Therefore, the 420 E. Mill Street parcel is considered an “eligible property” as defined in 
Act 381 of 1996, as amended, because the Property is classified as a “facility” under Part 
201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, Act 451 P.A. 1994, as 
amended (“NREPA”). A summary of the environmental conditions is attached as Exhibit 
C.  The parcel located at 328 E. Mills Street also contains certain exceedances but is 
eligible as adjacent or contiguous to the 420 E. Mill Street parcel and the development of 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-6- 

the parcel is estimated to increase the captured taxable value of that parcel. 

The Property is also considered “Housing Property” under the Act. 

IV. Required Elements of Brownfield Plan Amendment under Section 13(1) of the Act  

a. A description of costs intended to be paid for with the tax increment revenues 
[MCL 125.2663(2)(a)]. 

Developer will seek tax increment financing (“TIF”) from available local taxes, school 
operating taxes, and state education tax millage for eligible activities at the Property, 
including department specific activities, demolition, site preparation, housing development 
activities, including infrastructure improvements to support housing property, a 15% 
contingency, and brownfield and work plan preparation, development and implementation 
totaling $9,847,075.  Reimbursements will be limited to the lesser of the total eligible 
activities or 25 years of TIF.  
 
The Act authorizes the Authority to use taxes captured from eligible property to pay for 
reasonable and actual administrative and operating activities of the Authority or the City 
on behalf of the Authority. The Developer agrees that the Authority may use taxes captured 
from the Property to pay for the reasonable and actual costs of administrative and operating 
activities of the Authority not to exceed 5% of the capture per year.  
 
Table 1 shows the estimated costs of the eligible activities for the Project that qualify for 
reimbursement from TIF. 
 
 

Table 1 – Estimated Costs of EGLE Eligible Activities 

Activity Cost Estimate 

Department Specific Activities  
1. Exempt Activities (Preapproved) 

- Phase I, II and Baseline Environmental Assessments 
 

$30,000 
 

Subtotal $30,000 

2. Contingency (15%) $4,500 

TOTAL EGLE COSTS $34,500 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-7- 

Table 1 – Estimated Costs of MSHDA Eligible Activities 

Activity Cost Estimate 
1. Demolition (Preapproved) 

 
$207,000 

2. Site Preparation to Support Housing Development Activities 
 Mass Grading/Land Balancing 
 Engineered fill 
 Special Foundations – Aggregate Piers 
 Temporary construction facilities 
 Erosion control 
 Site design, geotechnical engineering, permits, and surveying 

 

 
$150,000 
$70,000 

$260,000 
$10,000 
$77,000 
$73,000 

3. Housing Development Activities – Potential Rent Loss (PRL)2 $8,109,900 

4. Infrastructure Improvements to Support Housing Activities and Property 
      - Stormwater Management System 
      - Water and sewer utilities for community center 
      - Sidewalks and pedestrian walkway/emergency access 

 
$260,500 
$80,000 

$267,000 

                                         Subtotal $9,564,400 

5. Contingency (15%) – excludes PRL $218,175 

6. Brownfield Plan/Work Plan Preparation, Development and Implementation $30,000 
 

TOTAL MSF COSTS $9,812,575 

 
b. A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible 

property [MCL 125.2663(2)(b)]. 

“Eligible Activities” are defined in Act 381 of 1996, as amended (the “Act”) as meaning 
one or more of the following: (i) department specific activities; (ii) relocation of public 
buildings or operations for economic development purposes; (iii) reasonable cost of 
environmental insurance; (iv) reasonable cost of developing, preparing and implementing 
brownfield plans, combined brownfield plans, and work plans; (v) demolition of structures 
that is not a response activity under Part 201 of NREPA; and (vi) lead, asbestos, or mold 
abatement.  In addition, in qualified local governmental units such as the City of Hastings 
and for projects that include housing property located in a community that has identified a 
specific housing need and has absorption data or job growth data included in the brownfield 
plan, the Act includes the following additional activities under the definition of “eligible 
activities”: (A) housing development activities; (B) infrastructure improvements that are 
necessary for housing property and support housing development activities; and (C) site 
preparation that is not a response activity and that supports housing development activities.  
The cost of eligible activities is estimated in the table above and includes the following: 

 
2 See Exhibit D for Potential Rent Loss 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-8- 

 Department Specific Activities 

1. Preapproved Environmental Assessment Activities. Baseline 
environmental assessment (BEA) activities were conducted on the 
Property, including a Phase I ESA, Phase II ESA, Due Care Plan, and BEA.  

2. Contingency.  A 15% contingency is included to address unexpected costs 
encountered during construction. 

MSHDA Activities 

1. Preapproved Demolition. Demolition activities are expected to include 
demolition of the existing commercial building and demolition of existing 
site improvements. 

2.  Site Preparation to Support Housing Development Activities. Site 
preparation activities are expected to include design and engineering 
associated with the eligible activities, mass grading/land balancing, 
excavation and backfill of engineered fill, special foundations (i.e. 
aggregate piers), temporary construction facilities, erosion control, site 
design, geotechnical engineering, permits, and surveying for eligible 
activities. 

3. Housing Development Activities. To support the critical need for attainable 
housing in the City of Hastings, Developer intends to price 20% of the 
Project’s residential units for income qualified households (i.e., those with 
an annual household income of not more than 80% and 100% AMI). 
Reimbursement to offset Developer’s potential rent loss and cost associated 
with the development of those units is an eligible activity, as well as the 
cost of infrastructure (described below) to support the housing.  The housing 
development activities were calculated using 120% AMI compared to 
Developers projected rents for Potential Rent Loss (PRL) and Total 
Housing Subsidy (THS) (see Exhibit D for calculation).  
 

4. Infrastructure Improvements to Support Housing Activities and Property. 
Infrastructure improvements are expected to include the design and 
construction of a stormwater management system, water and sewer 
utilities, sidewalks, and pedestrian walkways/access. 

5. Contingency (excludes PRL).  A 15% contingency is included to address 
unexpected costs encountered during construction. 

6. Brownfield Plan Preparation, Development, and Implementation. Costs 
incurred to prepare and develop this brownfield plan and proposed work 
plan, as required per Act 381 of 1996, as amended. 

 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-9- 

7. Authority Administrative and Operating Expenses. Administrative and 
operating costs incurred by the Authority or the City on behalf of the 
Authority in implementing this Plan Amendment. 

 
c. An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for each 

year of the Plan from each parcel of eligible property and in the aggregate 
[MCL 125.2663(2)(c)]. 

An estimate of the real property tax capture for tax increment financing is attached as 
Exhibit E. The Plan Amendment intends to capture 80% of the captured taxable value with 
the remaining 20% passed through. 
 
d. The method by which the costs of the Plan will be financed, including a 

description of any advances made or anticipated to be made for the costs of 
the Plan from the City [MCL 125.2663(2)(d)]. 

The cost of the eligible activities included in the Plan Amendment and related to the 
development will initially be paid for by Developer and it will seek reimbursement through 
available local and school tax increment revenues during the term of the Plan Amendment.  

e. The maximum amount of the note or bonded indebted indebtedness to be 
incurred, if any [MCL 125.2663(2)(e)]. 

No bonds or notes will be issued for the Project. 

f. The proposed beginning date and duration of capture of tax increment 
revenues, which shall not exceed the lesser of (1) the period required to pay for 
the eligible activities from tax increment revenues plus the period of capture 
authorized for the local site remediation revolving fund or (2) 30 years. [MCL 
125.2663(2)(f) and MCLA 125.2663b(16)]. 

The duration of the Plan Amendment for the Project is estimated to be 31 years. It is 
estimated that development of the Property will be completed by 2026 and that it will take 
up to 25 years to recapture the Eligible Activities through tax increment revenues, plus up 
to five years of capture for the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (the “LBRF”), if 
available. Therefore, the first year of tax increment capture will be 2025, to the extent 
available, and the Brownfield Plan Amendment will remain in place until Developer is 
fully reimbursed (lesser of full reimbursement or 25 years) and the Authority has 
completed capture for the LBRF capture, if available, subject to the maximum duration 
provided for in MCL 125.2663.  The Plan Amendment intends to capture 80% of the 
captured taxable value with the remaining 20% passed through. 

g. An estimate of the future tax revenues of all taxing jurisdictions in which the 
Property is located to be generated during the term of the Plan [MCLA 
125.2663(2)(g)]. 

An estimate of real property tax capture is attached as Exhibit E.  The Plan Amendment 
intends to capture 80% of the captured taxable value with the remaining 20% passed 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-10- 

through. 

h. A legal description of each parcel of eligible property to which the Plan applies, 
a map showing the location and dimensions of each eligible property, a 
statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property, 
and a statement of whether personal property is included as a part of the 
eligible property [MCL 125.2663(2)(h)]. 

1. Legal Description: See Exhibit B. 

2. Location and Site Map: See Exhibit A. 

3. Characteristics of Property: The Property was formerly used for the 
following operations: 

- 1884-1949 – James L. Wilkins sawmill in eastern portion. 

- 1896 – Hastings Table Company west of the sawmill and railroad present.  
International Seal and Lock Company present on the western portion. 

- 1900 – James L. Wilkins box factory replaced the sawmill. 

- 1909 – Box factory no longer present and Seal and Lock Company was 
replaced with Consolidated Press and Tool Company until 1928 when it 
was again occupied by Seal and Lock Company.  A dwelling was present 
in the northwestern portion and a second was present by 1916. 

- 1949 – Table Company in the eastern portion was replaced by Royal 
Coach, which manufactured auto house trailers by 1949. 

- 2018-2020 – Industrial building was no longer present on the western end 
and the Royal Coach building suffered a catastrophic fire in late 2020.  
The site has remained vacant since.  

4. Personal property: All new personal property added to the Property is 
included as part of the “eligible property” to the extent it is taxable.  

 
i. An estimate of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to 

which the Plan applies and the number of families or individuals to be 
displaced, if any [MCL 125.2663(2)(i)]. 

There are no persons currently residing on this Property and, therefore, no families or 
individuals will be displaced.  

j. A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by 
implementation of the Plan, if applicable [MCL 125.2663(2)(j)]. 

There are no persons currently residing on the Property and, therefore, no families or 
individuals will be displaced. 

k. Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of 



{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-11- 

the Plan, and financial assistance and reimbursement of expenses, if any [MCL 
125.2663(2)(k)]. 

There are no persons currently residing on the Property and, therefore, no families or 
individuals will be displaced. 

l. A strategy for compliance with the Michigan Relocation Assistance Act, if 
applicable [MCL 125.2663(2)(l)]. 

There are no persons currently residing on the Property and, therefore, no families or 
individuals will be displaced. 

m. Other material that the Authority or the City Council considers pertinent 
[MCL 125.2663(2)(m)]. 

The Project will significantly improve the overall use of the Property by replacing a vacant 
property with new multistory residential and commercial spaces in the City. The Project 
will address the existing contamination at the site and bring new jobs and investment to 
the City. The Project includes total capital investment of approximately $32.3 million and 
will increase long term property tax and income tax revenues for the City and State of 
Michigan. 



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-12- 

Exhibit A 

Property Location and Site Maps  

 

  



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-13- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-14- 

Exhibit B 

Legal Description of the Eligible Property 

Property Address: 420 E. Mill St, Hastings, MI 49058 

Tax Parcel No.: 55-001-001-04 

Legal Description:  

Land in the City of Hastings, County of Barry, State of Michigan, described as follows: 
ALL OF LOTS 322 THRU 328, LOTS 336 THRU 348, PART OF LOTS 329 AND 335, ALL OF THE 
BLANK LOTS LYING WEST OF LOT 348, SOUTH OF APPLE STREET AND NORTHERLY OF 
THE THORNAPPLE RIVER, AND PART OF VACATED HANOVER, EAST AND APPLE 
STREETS, ALL IN THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE VILLAGE (NOW CITY) OF HASTINGS, 
BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS : 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTH 1/ 4 POST OF SECTION 17, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 8 WEST, 
HASTINGS TOWNSHIP, BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN; THENCE S00°15'25"W 1121.72 FEET 
ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 1/ 4 LINE OF SAID SECTION 17 TO THE SOUTH LINE OF 
PLATTED MILL STREET (SAID POINT LYING 1.39 FEET EAST OF AN IRON PIPE); THENCE 
S00 °15'25" W, 499.60 FEET ALONG SAID 1/ 4 LINE TO AN INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE 
OF THE NORTH BANK OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER; THENCE S70°55'22"W, 268.20 FEET 
ALONG SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N72°46'49"W, 215.56 FEET ALONG 
SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N50°12'27"W, 358 .27 FEET TO THE END 
OF SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N34 °44'13"E, 360 . 42 FEET TO SAID 
SOUTH LINE OF MILL STREET; THENCE S89°46'48"E, 531.53 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. INCLUDING ALL LAND LYING BETWEEN SAID 
INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER AS 
LIMITED BY THE SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE SIDELINES. CONTAINING 7.71 ACRES 
OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, TO SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE, PLUS AN 
UNDETERMINED AND VARIABLE AREA BETWEEN SAID TRAVERSE LINE AND THE 
WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER. SPLIT FROM 001-001-01 ON 8/28/19 
 

Property Address: 328 E. Mill St, Hastings, MI 49058 

Tax Parcel No.: 55-001-001-02 

Legal Description:  

Land in the City of Hastings, County of Barry, State of Michigan, described as follows: 
ALL OF LOTS 330, 332, 333, AND 334 AND PART OF LOTS 329, 331, AND 335 AND PART OF 
VACATED PLATTED HANOVER STREET, AND PART OF VACATED PLATTED BOLTWOOD 
STREET, ALL IN THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE VILLAGE (NOW CITY) OF HASTINGS, 
BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS: COMMENCING AT 
THE NORTH ¼ CORNER OF SECTION 17, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 8 WEST: THENCE 
S00°15'23"W, 1121.83 FEET ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH ¼ LINE OF SAID SECTION 17 TO 
THE SOUTH LINE OF PLATTED MILL STREET; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-15- 

N89°46'48"W, 534.08 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S34°44'13"W, 
359.13 FEET TO AN INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE OF THE NORTH BAND OF THE 
THORNAPPLE RIVER; THENCE ALONG SAID TRAVERSE LINE N50°51'15"W, 331.34 FEET; 
THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID TRAVERSE LINE N68°47'24"W, 82.56 FEET TO THE 
END OF SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE ALONG THE WEST LINE OF 
VACATED BOLTWOOD STREET N00°19'59"E, 58.15 FEET TO SAID SOUTH LINE OF MILL 
STREET; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE S89°46'48"E, 538.24 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. INCLUDING LAND LYING BETWEEN SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE 
AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER, AS LIMITED BY THE SIDE LINES 
EXTENDED TO THE WATER EDGE. CONTAINING 1.95 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, 
TO SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE, PLUS AS UNDETERMINED AND VARIABLE 
AREA BETWEEN SAID TRAVERSE LINE AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE 
RIVER.SPLIT/COMBINED ON 01/13/2017 FROM 55-001-001-00  



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-16- 

Exhibit C 

Documentation of Facility Status  



PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE 

ASSESSMENT REPORT 

FORMER HMC ROYAL COACH SITE  

420 EAST MILL STREET  

HASTINGS, MICHIGAN 49058 

EGLE Grant Tracking Code:  2019-1380 

SME Project Number:  081604.00 

October 13, 2020



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................... 1

2. PROPERTY INFORMATION AND HISTORY ............................................. 2

3. SUMMARY OF PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT ................ 3

4. PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT ..................................... 4

4.1 GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY ................................................................................... 4

4.2 SAMPLING LOCATIONS AND RATIONALES ................................................... 4

4.3 SAMPLE COLLECTION PROCEDURES ............................................................. 5

4.4 CHEMICAL ANALYSES ..................................................................................... 5

4.5 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND QUALITY CONTROL (QA/QC) ............................ 6

5. PHASE II ESA FINDINGS ........................................................................ 7

5.1 SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS ................................................... 7

5.2 CHEMICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS ...................................................................... 7

5.2.1 ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL ................................................................................ 7

5.2.1.1 SURFACE SOIL SAMPLES .................................................................................. 8

5.2.1.2 SUBSURFACE SOIL SAMPLES ........................................................................... 8

5.2.2 ANALYSIS RESULTS – GROUNDWATER ............................................................ 8

5.2.3 ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL GAS ......................................................................... 9

5.2.4 DATA VERIFICATION/VALIDATION AND USABILITY ....................................... 9

6. SUMMARY ......................................................................................... 10

6.1 SOIL CONDITIONS ........................................................................................ 10

6.2 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS..................................................................... 10

6.3 SOIL GAS CONDITIONS................................................................................. 10

6.4 GENERAL OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS .............................. 11

6.5 EGLE-REQUIRED CONCEPTUAL REMEDIATION ESTIMATE .......................... 11

7. GENERAL NOTES ................................................................................ 12

8. REFERENCES ...................................................................................... 13

FIGURES 

FIGURE 1:  PROPERTY LOCATION MAP 

FIGURE 2:  PROPERTY FEATURES DIAGRAM 

FIGURE 3:  SOIL BORING LOCATIONS AND SOIL CONDITIONS SUMMARY 

FIGURE 4:  SUMMARY OF SURFACE SOIL CONDITIONS  

FIGURE 5:  SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS 

FIGURE 6:  SUMMARY OF SOIL GAS CONDITIONS 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA 

TABLES 

TABLE 1:  2020 GROUNDWATER ELEVATION SUMMARY 

TABLE 2:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL 

TABLE 3:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – GROUNDWATER 

TABLE 4:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL GAS  

APPENDIX A  

GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY REPORT – MAY 17, 2020 

APPENDIX B  

SAMPLING PROCEDURES SUMMARY 

APPENDIX C  

LABORATORY REPORTS 

APPENDIX D  

SOIL BORING LOGS 

APPENDIX E 

QUALIFICATIONS OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROFESSIONALS 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  1 

1. INTRODUCTION 

SME’s environmental team prepared this report to document the results of a Phase II Environmental Site 
Assessment (ESA) of the Former Hastings Manufacturing Company (HMC) Royal Coach site, located at 
420 East Mill Street (formerly a portion of the parcel known as 325 North Hanover Street), in Hastings, 
Barry County, Michigan, and is herein referred to as “the Property”.  Figure 1 is a scaled area map 
showing the location of the Property and surrounding areas. 

The purpose of this Phase II ESA was to evaluate the recognized environmental conditions (RECs) 
identified in a recent Phase I ESA report completed by PM Environmental, Inc. (PME) and dated 
September 13, 2019.  The Phase II ESA was intended assist the City of Hastings and a prospective 
purchaser with better understanding the current environmental conditions of the site.  This will aid in 
determining the potential redevelopment restrictions/limitations and the necessary cleanup/response 
activities to facilitate a future site redevelopment. 

We were retained by the City of Hastings to conduct this Phase II ESA as part of their Michigan 
Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE; formerly MDEQ) Brownfield Site 
Assessment Grant (Grant Tracking Code:  2019-1380, Location Code: 8G01).  The assessment services 
were conducted in accordance with SME’s Work Plan #1 (Rev 1.0), dated March 20, 2020, which was 
approved by EGLE on March 30, 2020. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  2 

2. PROPERTY INFORMATION AND HISTORY

At the time of PME’s 2019 Phase I ESA, the Property was comprised of a 9.2-acre portion of a larger 
parcel of land developed with two vacant buildings: a three-story, approximately 116,100 square foot 
building (Royal Coach building; western building), and a two-story, approximately 17,500 square foot 
building (Warehouse #3; eastern building).  The buildings on the Property were known by the common 
addresses of 420 and 498 East Mill Street.  Other portions of the Property included paved and gravel 
drives and parking areas, open grass fields, and wooded areas.  Property features are shown on Figure 
2.  The parent parcel has recently been divided and the Property is now known by the formal address of 
420 East Mill Street (tax parcel ID# 55-001-001-04). 

According to the 2019 PME Phase I ESA, the Property was developed prior to 1900 with portions of the 
current Royal Coach building.  Various additions and demolitions to portions of the building occurred 
between 1900 and 1967.  The central portion of the building was utilized for paint storage and as a paint 
booth in at least 1948, and potentially from at least 1929.  Available records do not document when the 
paint booth and paint storage areas were removed.  An outbuilding was present in the central portion 
from at least 1949 until between March 2018 and August 2019.  The building was historically utilized as a 
paint and oil storage warehouse.  A second outbuilding was present southeast of the Royal Coach 
building from at least 1900 until between 2018 and 2019, and was utilized as an oil warehouse.  Former 
tramways were present on the central and southern portions of the property from at least 1900 until at 
least 1948.  The Property was historically occupied by various manufacturing tenants (wooden box 
manufacturers, wooden table manufacturers, motorhome manufacturers, and a piston ring manufacturing 
company).  After manufacturing operations ceased, HMC used the buildings for storage. 

HMC operated industrial landfills on the southern and northeastern portions of the Property from at least 
1955 through 1982, and reportedly placed foundry sand, metal debris, and concrete in the landfills during 
their operation.  The landfills were closed and reportedly capped and covered with grass in 1982.  Much 
of the existing historical environmental data for the site is well over years old, the data is sparse, and the 
impact was not well understood.  Interested developers have expressed concern that the lack of data 
control and unknown conditions of the landfill are limiting factors in determining redevelopment costs.  
Additionally, EGLE had concerns that per- and polyfluouroalkyl substances (PFAS) may be migrating 
onto the Property, and to the Thornapple River, from the north-adjoining HMC manufacturing facility, and 
that methane could be present in soil gas from historical disposal in the landfill areas. 

Subsequent to completion of SME’s Phase II ESA, the Royal Coach building was destroyed by a fire on 
October 7, 2020.  The majority of the structure is no longer present on the Property; however, building 
debris and the foundations and concrete floors remain. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  3 

3. SUMMARY OF PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT 

PME conducted a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the Property and prepared a Phase I 
ESA report dated September 13, 2019.  The Phase I ESA was conducted according to the ASTM 
International (ASTM) Practice E 1527-13 and Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) 
2019 Environmental Review Requirements.  

PME identified the following recognized environmental conditions (RECs) in connection with the Property: 

 The documented presence of impacted soil and groundwater on the Property, and the potential 
for impacted soil gas (vapor encroachment) from the known impact.  Subsurface investigations in 
1989, 2005, and 2013 indicated the presence of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), semi-
volatile organic compounds (SVOCs), and metals in the soil and groundwater.  

 The potential for other impact in soil, groundwater, or soil gas (vapor encroachment) on the 
Property from unreported and/or undetected releases of hazardous substances and/or petroleum 
products associated with the following on-site sources: 

o Historical manufacturing operations throughout the Property, including a painting area in 
Warehouse #3. 

o The potential for placement of contaminated materials in the landfills.  The northeastern 
and southern portions of the subject property were utilized for landfill operations from at 
least the 1950s to 1980s. 

o The potential for unidentified USTs associated with the shed building located southeast of 
the Warehouse #3 building. 

o The potential for releases of hazardous substances and/or petroleum products from 
historical fueling (see fuel dispenser building) and from paint and oil storage (see former 
oil warehouse/paint shed). 

o The potential for releases of hazardous substances and/or petroleum products to the 
subsurface from the historical use of drains in Warehouse #3 that may have not been 
connected to the sewer system. 

o The potential for environmental impact from releases of hydraulic oil that may contain 
PCBs from the hydraulic elevators in the northeast and southeast portions of the 
Warehouse #3 building. 

o The potential for a release of transformer oils that may contain PCBs from the leaking 
electrical transformer on the second floor of the Warehouse #3 building. 

 The potential for migration of impacted groundwater and/or soil gas (vapor encroachment) onto 
the Property from reported, unreported and/or undetected releases of hazardous substances 
associated with the historical and current use of the north-adjoining site for automotive parts 
manufacturing, machining, and other heavy industrial manufacturing uses by Hastings 
Manufacturing Company, Viking/Tyden Corporation, International Lock and Seal, and Casite 
Corporation since the early-1900s. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  4 

4. PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT 

The Phase II ESA was designed and conducted to further evaluate the RECs identified in PME’s 2019 
Phase I ESA summarized in Section 3, and to evaluate potential due care issues associated with 
redevelopment.  The assessment included a geophysical survey to evaluate for potential USTs or other 
buried structures that could affect redevelopment, as well as collection of soil, groundwater, and soil gas 
samples to evaluate for potential contamination.  This section includes a discussion of the geophysical 
survey, sampling locations and rationales, sample collection procedures, quality assurance/quality control 
(QA/QC), and chemical analyses.   

4.1 GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY 

WorkSmart, Inc. of Paw Paw, Michigan conducted a geophysical survey of the Property to evaluate for 
potential USTs or other anomalies that could affect redevelopment of the site.  Their survey results are 
documented in their Subsurface Imaging Report, dated May 17, 2020, which is attached in Appendix A.  
WorkSmart identified several anomalies consistent with site utilities and identified two anomalies that 
were inconsistent with utilities.  WorkSmart was unable to determine the nature of the two non-utility 
anomalies, but opined that the anomalies were also not consistent with underground storage tanks 
(USTs), citing the depths and lack of heavy metallic reflections.  The unknown subsurface anomalies are 
shown on Figure 3.   

4.2 SAMPLING LOCATIONS AND RATIONALES 

On May 18 through 20, 2020, we advanced soil borings at 19 sampling locations (SB1 through SB19; 
Figure 3).  Soil borings SB1 through SB17 were advanced from depths ranging from 8 feet below ground 
surface (bgs) to 19 feet bgs using truck-mounted, hydraulically-driven, direct-push sampling equipment.  
Soil borings SB18 and SB19 were advanced using a hand auger to depths of 1.5 feet bgs and 2.5 feet 
bgs, respectively.  

On May 20 and June 2, 2020, we sampled surface soil (upper 6 inches to 1 foot) at 25 locations (SS1 
through SS25; Figure 4).  The surface soil samples were collected manually from the upper six-inches of 
soil using a decontaminated hand shovel because the locations were inaccessible to the direct-push 
sampling equipment.   

We installed temporary groundwater monitoring wells at soil boring locations SB1, SB2, SB6, SB8, SB15, 
and SB17 (see Figure 5).  The well screens were installed such that the screen intersected the depth 
where groundwater was encountered during drilling.  On May 18 and 19, 2020, groundwater samples for 
chemical analysis were collected from each temporary monitoring well.  On May 20, 2020, we also 
collected groundwater samples for chemical analysis from four pre-existing groundwater monitoring wells 
(MW10D, MW17 through MW19; see Figure 5).  SME was unable to locate MW10S in the field; therefore, 
this existing well was not sampled. 

On May 19, 2020, we installed Vapor PinsTM at nine locations in the building (SG1 through SG11; Figure 
6).  We also installed three deep soil gas monitoring probes on May 20, 2020 (SG12 through SG14; 
Figure 6).  We subsequently collected soil gas samples for chemical analysis from both the sub-slab 
Vapor PinsTM and deep soil gas monitoring probes on June 1, 2020. 

A summary of the rationale for each sampling location is provided in the table below.  



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  5 

SAMPLE ID SAMPLE TARGET / RATIONALE

SB1 
Evaluated soil and groundwater conditions in the area of the 
unidentified subsurface anomaly. 

SB2, SB3, SB9 through SB12, 
SB16 through 19, MW17 

Evaluated soil and/or groundwater conditions in the vicinity of the 
Royal Coach building.   

SB4, SB13 through SB15, 
MW10D 

Evaluated soil and/or groundwater conditions in the vicinity of 
Warehouse #3.  

SB5, SB6, MW18 
Evaluated soil and/or groundwater conditions in the vicinity of the 
former southern landfill area. 

SB7, SB8, MW19 
Evaluated soil and/or groundwater conditions in the vicinity of the 
former northern landfill area. 

SS1 through SS25 
Evaluated surface soil conditions on the Property for 
manufacturing debris (i.e., slag) potentially exposed at the 
surface. 

SG1 through SG11 
Evaluated soil vapors beneath the Royal Coach building slab to 
assess the potential for vapor intrusion into the current building 
and future buildings that may be constructed at the Property. 

SG12 through SG14 
Evaluated soil vapors within the subsurface to assess the 
potential for vapor intrusion into future buildings that may be 
constructed at the Property. 

4.3 SAMPLE COLLECTION PROCEDURES 

Detailed descriptions of our soil, groundwater, and soil gas sampling procedures are provided in 
Appendix B.  We collected soil samples from each soil boring for classification, field screening, and/or 
laboratory analyses.  We visually classified the soil samples in accordance with ASTM D2488, Standard 
Practice for Description and Identification of Soils (Visual-Manual Procedure) and field screened the soil 
samples for the presence of ionizable VOCs using a calibrated 10.6 eV PID.  At locations inaccessible to 
the direct-push equipment, we collected hand auger samples or surface soil samples for chemical 
analysis using a decontaminated hand auger or shovel.  We measured depth to groundwater (Table 1) 
and collected groundwater samples from both existing monitoring wells and pre-packed, temporary 
monitoring wells installed at selected soil boring locations.  After installation of soil vapor implants and 
Vapor PinsTM, we also collected soil gas samples for VOCs using laboratory provided Bottle-VacTM

sample containers.  

4.4 CHEMICAL ANALYSES  

We submitted 43 soil samples, 10 groundwater samples, 14 soil gas samples, and 7 QC samples to 
Fibertec Environmental Services (Fibertec) of Holt, Michigan, for chemical analyses of one or more of the 
following: VOCs, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), arsenic, 
barium, cadmium, chromium, hexavalent chromium, copper, lead (including total and fine and coarse soil 
fractions), mercury, selenium, silver, and/or zinc.  We also submitted four groundwater samples from 
existing wells, and three associated QC samples, to Eurofins TestAmerica, Sacramento (TestAmerica) of 
West Sacramento, California, for chemical analysis of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS).  

The specific analytes for each sample are presented in Table 2 (soil), Table 3 (groundwater), and Table 4 
(soil gas).  We selected the target analytes to be representative of, or indicator parameters for, the 
contaminants reasonably expected to be associated with the identified historical on-site and off-site 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  6 

operations, and contaminants commonly present in urban fill material.  The samples were analyzed using 
the reference methods listed below: 

 VOCs – USEPA Method 8260 (soil and groundwater) and TO-15 (soil gas) 
 PAHs – USEPA Method 827 (soil and groundwater) 
 PCBs – USEPA Method 8082 (soil) 
 Mercury – USEPA Methods 7471 (soil) and 7470 (groundwater) 
 Hexavalent chromium – USEPA Method 7196A (soil and groundwater) 
 Other metals – USEPA Method 6020 (soil and groundwater) 
 PFAS – USEPA Method 537 modified (groundwater – existing monitoring wells only) 

The laboratory analysis reports, complete list of specific analytical reference methods, reporting limits, 
and chain of custody documentation are included in Appendix C. 

4.5 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND QUALITY CONTROL (QA/QC) 

We collected and analyzed three duplicate soil samples, two duplicate groundwater samples, one trip 
blank water sample, one field blank water sample, one equipment blank water sample, one duplicate soil 
gas sample, and one equipment blank soil gas sample to assist in evaluating the representativeness of 
our sampling.  The analytical laboratories supplied properly preserved, pre-cleaned, containers for 
sample collection.  After sample collections, the containerized samples were kept cool, i.e., kept on ice or 
refrigerated, (soil and groundwater samples) or were kept at ambient air temperature (soil gas samples) 
until delivery to the analytical laboratories.  Our field staff followed chain-of-custody procedures to 
document the sample handling sequence.  Field instrument calibration, sample handling and custody 
requirements, and QA procedures were in general accordance with our standard operating procedures. 

Our field team members wore a new pair of disposable nitrile sampling gloves during collection of each 
soil, groundwater, and soil gas sample to minimize cross-contamination.  Direct-push sampling equipment 
was decontaminated before each use with a high-pressure, hot water pressure washer.  We 
decontaminated other soil sampling equipment before each use with a laboratory-grade detergent/distilled 
water solution wash followed by a distilled water rinse.  We used pre-packed, new materials for temporary 
groundwater well construction and new polyethylene and silicone tubing for the groundwater purging and 
sampling.  We used new Vapor PinsTM; new 6-inch stainless steel implants; laboratory-provided, pre-
cleaned flow regulators and Bottle Vac™ samplers; and new tubing for collection of each soil gas sample.



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  7 

5. PHASE II ESA FINDINGS 

We compiled and evaluated the results from our Phase II ESA to evaluate surface and subsurface 
conditions and identify environmental impact at concentrations greater than Part 201 generic residential 
cleanup criteria (Part 201 criteria).  

5.1 SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS  

Descriptions of the soil conditions encountered at each of our sampling locations (SB1 through SB19 and 
SS1 through SS25) are documented on the soil boring logs (Appendix D).  In general, the surface 
material in the developed portion of the Property consisted of asphalt, concrete, gravel, or grass.  The 
surface material in the southern and eastern, undeveloped portions of the Property primarily consisted of 
topsoil with vegetation, topsoil without vegetation, foundry sand, or sand/silty sand.  Sand fill, which at 
various locations contained foundry sand, slag, coal, cinders, ash, and other debris (metal, brick, plastic, 
glass, etc.), was generally present throughout the site and ranged from about 3.5 to over 16 feet thick.  
Fill thicknesses were greatest in the soil borings (SB5 through SB8) in the former industrial landfill areas 
shown on the site diagrams.  Fine to coarse sand was generally present below the fill and extended to the 
maximum explored depths.  Staining was observed from 2 to 3.5 feet bgs at soil boring SB14.  No other 
odors, staining, or elevated (>1 part per million) PID measurements were noted when soil samples were 
field screened, and no elevated methane measurements were detected when the open boreholes were 
field screened for methane.   

Groundwater measurements are shown on Table 1, and was measured between approximately 5 and 16 
feet bgs in temporary and existing wells throughout the Property.  The known regional groundwater flow 
in the area of the Property is to the south toward the Thornapple River.  The on-site groundwater 
elevations suggest a general southerly groundwater flow direction; however, several of the measured 
elevations were anomalous and may be influenced by the historical on-site placement of fill in the landfills 
and other areas of the Property.  No odors or sheens were present in purged groundwater during 
groundwater sample collection. 

5.2 CHEMICAL ANALYSIS RESULTS 

Results from the chemical analyses performed on soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples collected 
during our assessment are summarized in the following paragraphs and tabulated in Tables 2 through 4.  
Laboratory analysis reports and chain of custody documentation are included in Appendix C.  

Although the Property was most recently occupied by nonresidential structures (prior to the October 2020 
fire; Warehouse #3 remains), the proposed redevelopment plan includes the construction of residential 
structures.  Therefore, as a conservative measure, we compared the results from chemical analyses of 
soil and groundwater samples to the Part 201 generic residential and nonresidential cleanup criteria (Part 
201 criteria).  Additionally, analytical results from chemical analyses of soil, groundwater, and soil gas 
samples were also compared to EGLE's May 14, 2020, Draft Residential Volatilization to Indoor Air 
Pathway (VIAP) Screening Levels to evaluate the potential for vapor intrusion into future residential 
structures.   

5.2.1 ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL 

Summaries of the CAS numbers, analytes, measured concentrations, soil sample locations, and Part 201 
criteria and EGLE VIAP screening levels exceeded are provided in Table 2.  Additional discussion is 
included in the Sections below. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  8 

5.2.1.1 SURFACE SOIL SAMPLES 

Surface soil samples were analyzed for PAHs, arsenic, lead, and/or PCBs to evaluate near surface soil 
conditions and potential human direct contact exposure concerns.  Arsenic and/or lead (total, as well as 
fine and/or coarse fractions) were measured at concentrations exceeding the Part 201 criteria in the 
surface soil samples collected from SS1 through SS3, SS5 through SS7, SS11, and SS18.  The 
concentrations of these metals reported exceeded the residential and nonresidential Part 201 direct 
contact criteria, residential and nonresidential drinking water protection criteria, and/or groundwater 
surface water interface protection (GSIP) criteria.  PAHs were measured at concentrations above the 
laboratory reporting limits (RLs), but below the Part 201 criteria and VI Screening Levels in several soil 
samples.  No PCBs were measured at concentrations above laboratory RLs in any surface soil samples. 
Arsenic and lead concentrations present in surface soil samples at concentrations greater than the Part 
201 residential direct contact criteria are depicted on Figure 4.   

5.2.1.2 SUBSURFACE SOIL SAMPLES 

Subsurface soil samples collected from borings were analyzed for VOCs, PAHs, PCBs, and/or various 
metals to evaluate soil conditions and potential human direct contact exposure concerns.  
Tetrachloroethene (PCE), benzo(a)pyrene, fluoranthene, phenanthrene, arsenic, chromium (total), 
copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and/or zinc were measured at concentrations exceeding the Part 201 
criteria in the subsurface soil samples collected from SB2, SB4, SB7, SB8, SB10, SB12, SB13, SB15, 
and/or SB16.  Additionally, naphthalene, PCE, xylenes, 2-methylnaphthalene, phenanthrene, and 
mercury were measured at concentrations exceeding EGLE’s residential VIAP screening levels in the 
subsurface soil samples collected from SB2, SB4, SB7, and/or SB11 through SB16.  No PCBs were 
measured at concentrations above the laboratory RLs in the subsurface soil samples analyzed.  The 
concentrations of benzo(a)pyrene, arsenic, and lead reported exceeded the Part 201 residential direct 
contact criteria and are shown on Figure 3.   

5.2.2 ANALYSIS RESULTS – GROUNDWATER 

Groundwater samples collected from temporary and existing wells were analyzed for VOCs, PAHs, and 
various metals to evaluate groundwater conditions.  Groundwater samples from existing wells were also 
analyzed for PFAS to evaluate potential migration of PFAS in groundwater from the north-adjoining 
Hastings Manufacturing Company facility site.  Summaries of the CAS numbers, analytes, measured 
concentrations, groundwater sample locations, and Part 201 criteria and VIAP screening levels exceeded 
are provided in Table 3.     

Trichloroethene (TCE), total arsenic, total copper, total lead, and/or zinc were measured in groundwater 
at concentrations above Part 201 criteria in SB6, SB8, SB15, MW10D, MW18, and MW19.  Additionally, 
TCE was measured at concentrations exceeding EGLE’s VIAP screening levels in the groundwater 
sample collected from MW18.  The metals found in groundwater may be a result of sediment within the 
samples because metals were not measured above the laboratory RLs where filtered samples were also 
analyzed.  No PAHs were measured above laboratory reporting limits in the groundwater samples 
analyzed as part of this assessment.  Target analytes present in groundwater at concentrations greater 
than the Part 201 drinking water criteria are depicted on Figure 5; exceedances of the GSI criteria for 
metals are not shown on the drawing because they may not be representative of groundwater conditions. 

Perfluorooctanesulfonamide (FOSA) was detected above laboratory RLs in the groundwater sample 
collected from monitoring well MW10D, and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) and perfluorobutanoic 
acid (PFBA) were both detected above laboratory RLs in the groundwater sample collected from pre-
existing monitoring well MW18.  No other PFAS compounds were measured above the laboratory 
reporting limits in the groundwater samples analyzed.  No exceedances of the Part 201 criteria for PFAS 
compounds were noted in the groundwater samples analyzed. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  9 

5.2.3 ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL GAS 

Summaries of the CAS numbers, analytes, measured concentrations, and soil gas sample locations are 
provided in Table 4.  Target analytes present in soil gas at concentrations greater than the EGLE VIAP 
residential soil gas screening levels are depicted on Figure 6.   

TCE was measured at concentrations exceeding the VIAP screening level in the soil gas samples 
collected from SG11 and SG12.  TCE was also measured at concentrations below the EGLE residential 
VIAP screening level in the soil gas samples collected from SG1 through SG10.  Several other VOCs 
were measured at concentrations above laboratory RLs (chloroform at SG11, dichlorodifluoromethane at 
SG6, PCE at SG14, and 1,1,1-trichloroethane at SG12), but below the VIAP screening levels.      

5.2.4 DATA VERIFICATION/VALIDATION AND USABILITY 

We evaluated the representativeness of the data collected during our subsurface assessment to 
determine if the data set was valid and of usable quality.  The laboratory QC results are detailed in the 
laboratory analytical reports and case narratives included in Appendix C.  In our opinion, the data set 
generated is of usable quality and meets the project-specific objective of determining the current 
environmental conditions of the Property and evaluating potential Due Care concerns for a future 
residential redevelopment of the Property.   



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  10 

6. SUMMARY 

SME conducted the Phase II ESA described herein to evaluate the current environmental conditions of 
the Property and to evaluate potential Due Care issues associated with a planned residential 
redevelopment of the Site.  The results of our Phase II ESA demonstrate the presence of multiple 
contaminants at concentrations exceeding the Part 201 generic residential cleanup criteria (Part 201 
criteria) and/or EGLE’s Volatilization to Indoor Air Pathway (VIAP) screening levels.  A summary of our 
significant findings is below: 

6.1 SOIL CONDITIONS  

 The site is underlain by 3.5 feet to over 16 feet of sand fill.  The sandy fill material was at least 15 
feet in thickness and contained significant amounts of debris (foundry sand, slag, coal, cinders, 
ash, metal, brick, concrete, plastic) in the borings advanced in the two former industrial landfill 
areas located west and east of Butler Creek.  Fill in other areas of the Property ranged in 
thickness from about 3.5 feet to around 10 feet of sandy fill material containing varying amounts 
of foundry sand, brick, coal, cinders, slag, and ash. 

 Two unidentified subsurface geophysical anomalies are located east and south of the former 
Royal Coach building and should be further evaluated.  

 Soil is impacted with PCE, PAHs, and various metals at concentrations exceeding the Part 201 
criteria.   

o The concentrations of naphthalene, PCE, xylenes, 2-methylnaphthalene, phenanthrene, 
and mercury exceeded the VIAP residential screening levels in soil at various locations 
on the Property.   

o The concentrations of arsenic, lead, and benzo(a)pyrene exceeded the Part 201 
residential direct contact criteria in several locations on the Property.  

6.2 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS 

 Groundwater is impacted with TCE and various metals; however, the reported metals 
concentrations may be indicative of suspended sediment in the groundwater.   

 The concentration of TCE in groundwater near MW18 exceeded the VIAP residential screening 
levels.   

 No PFAS or PAH compounds were measured above the Part 201 criteria in the groundwater 
samples analyzed.   

6.3 SOIL GAS CONDITIONS 

 TCE was measured at concentrations above the laboratory RL in 12 of the 14 soil gas sample 
locations and a concentrations exceeding the VAIP residential screening levels in soil gas SG11 
in the basement of the former Royal Coach building, and in SG12 in the proposed footprint of a 
new building.  Several other VOCs were measured above the reporting limits, but below the VIAP 
screening levels.  Mercury and PAHs were not analyzed in soil gas as part of this assessment, 
though exceedances of the VIAP screening levels for soil were noted for mercury and PAHs at 
several locations. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  11 

6.4 GENERAL OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 We understand the Warehouse #3 building and the remaining portion of the former Royal Coach 
building are planned for removal.  The vapor intrusion (VI) pathway for VOCs, PAHs, and mercury 
should be further evaluated prior to constructing new buildings on the Property or VI mitigation 
systems should be planned for new buildings in lieu of further evaluation. 

 Near surface soil with exceedances of the direct contact criteria for benzo(a)pyrene, arsenic, and 
lead is predominantly located along the exposed soil bank of the Thornapple River and Butler 
Creek.  Future redevelopment activities will need to consider placement of a hard (e.g., 
pavements) or soft (e.g., clean soil or landscape materials) cap on soils along the river and creek 
banks, and likely in other areas upon redevelopment. 

 The geophysical anomalies south and east of the former Royal Coach building should be further 
evaluated to better understand the nature of those anomalies. 

 Some of the Property is fenced; however, the site fencing should be completed around the 
Property during the period prior to, and during, redevelopment to mitigate potential direct contact 
exposures with soil or physical hazards (e.g., metal exposed at the surface, unsafe buildings) on 
the Property. 

 The October 2020 fire that destroyed the Royal Coach building may have affected the 
concentrations of contaminants in soil, groundwater, and soil gas in the area of the Property near, 
and hydraulically downgradient of, the former building.  The impact of the fire on subsurface 
conditions should be further evaluated prior to redevelopment.

6.5 EGLE-REQUIRED CONCEPTUAL REMEDIATION ESTIMATE 

For purposes of estimating possible remediation costs during redevelopment, as required by the EGLE 
Site Assessment Grant, SME utilized a redevelopment scenario provided by a potential developer in 
2020.  The buildings included in the development plan are shown on Figure 2 and include three new, 
residential apartment/townhome structures with 8,000 square foot footprints, and reuse of a portion of the 
former Royal Coach building for apartments.  Since the Royal Coach building was destroyed in a recent 
fire, we have assumed a residential apartment building of similar planned 15,000 square foot footprint to 
what the developed had planned to keep may be constructed in its place in the future. 

The remediation needed to reuse the Property for residential purposes includes measures to mitigate the 
direct contact pathway and the VI pathway.  The Property and new buildings will be connected to 
municipal water; therefore, exposure to groundwater is not a concern and no new wells or other uses of 
groundwater on the site will be allowed.  To mitigate potential direct contact exposures and the potential 
for VI in new residential buildings, pavements or planned buildings will be used as a hard cap in some 
areas, and unpaved areas or areas without buildings will be covered with a soft cap.  Vapor mitigation 
systems will also be assumed for all new buildings. 

The conceptual, anticipated remediation/mitigation costs related to redevelopment include: 

 Vapor mitigation systems for 40,000 square feet of building footprints at an average of $5 per 
square foot for design ($200,000). 

 Fencing the area east of Butler Creek to prevent unauthorized access.  1,700 linear feet of chain 
link fencing at an average cost of $10-$15 per linear foot ($17,000 - $25,500). 

 Installation of geotextile fabric, six inches of topsoil, and seed on about 2.5 acres of the Property 
west of Butler Creek, and along the west bank of Butler Creek and the north bank of the 
Thornapple River, where buildings and pavements will not be present.  Placement of 109,000 
square feet (2.5 acres) of demarcation barrier and six inches of topsoil (~2,000 cubic yards), and 
seed (109,000 square feet).   



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  12 

o ~$35,000 for demarcation barrier fabric and placement 
o ~$15/cubic yard for topsoil and placement ($30,000) 
o ~$15,000 for seeding 

The estimate noted above is provided for conceptual planning purposes.  Actual costs should be vetted 
prior to plan implementation in accordance with the redevelopment plans. 

7. GENERAL NOTES 

In the process of obtaining information for preparation of this Phase II ESA report, we followed 
procedures that represent current reasonable and accepted environmental practices and principles, in a 
manner consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of this profession.  The 
goal of this Phase II ESA was to evaluate the current environmental conditions of the Property with 
respect to Part 201.  We conducted the Phase II ESA activities upon which this report is based, and 
cannot guarantee all potential contaminants have been identified.  Undetected contamination resulting 
from historical activities, off-site sources, or the October 2020 fire on the Property may be present on the 
Property. 

The environmental professionals responsible for the conduct of this Phase II ESA are listed below.  Their 
resumes are included in Appendix E. 

Report prepared by:  

Mitchell D. Cline, LPG   Casey E. Smith, CPG 
Senior Staff Geologist  Senior Project Geologist 

Report reviewed by:  

Mark J. Quimby 
Senior Consultant   



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA  13 

8. REFERENCES 

1. Part 201, “Environmental Remediation”, of 1994 PA 451, as amended, the Natural 
Resources and Environmental Protection Act.

2. Part 201 Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria and Screening Levels Promulgated Cleanup 
Criteria, R 299.44, R 299.46, and R 299.49, December 30, 2013 (GSI Criteria Updated June 25, 
2018). 

3. EGLE’s Draft Volatilization to Indoor Air Pathway Screening Levels, May 14, 2020.  

4. PM Environmental, Inc., Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, 420 and 490 East Mill 
Street, Hastings, Michigan, September 13, 2019. 

5. SME, Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, Hastings Manufacturing Company Royal 
Coach Site – Portion of 325 North Hanover Street, Hastings, Michigan, June 26, 2018. 

6. SME, EGLE Grant Work Plan #1 Revision 1.0 Former HMC Royal Coach Site, dated March 
20, 2020. 



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA 

FIGURES 

FIGURE 1:  PROPERTY LOCATION MAP 

FIGURE 2:  PROPERTY FEATURES DIAGRAM 

FIGURE 3:  SOIL BORING LOCATIONS AND SOIL CONDITIONS SUMMARY 

FIGURE 4:  SUMMARY OF SURFACE SOIL CONDITIONS  

FIGURE 5:  SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS 

FIGURE 6:  SUMMARY OF SOIL GAS CONDITIONS 





N S

W
E

LE
G
EN

D

A
P
P
R
O
X
IM

A
T
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y

N
O
T
E
:

B
A
S
E
D
R
A
W
IN
G
IN
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N
T
A
K
E
N
F
R
O
M

G
O
O
G
L
E
E
A
R
T
H
P
R
O

W
IT
H
IM

A
G
E
D
A
T
E
9
-1
0
-2
0
1
7

A
N
D
A
D
R
A
W
IN
G
T
IT
L
E
D
"S
IT
E
L
A
Y
O
U
T
P
L
A
N
"

(S
H
E
E
T
C
-2
0
5
)
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D
B
Y
N
E
D
E
R
V
E
L
D
.

P
ro
je
ct

P
ro
je
ct
Lo
ca
ti
on

Sh
ee

tN
am

e

C
A
D
D

Sc
al
e

Pr
oj
ec
t

N
o
.

R
e
v
is
io
n
D
a
te

D
es
ig
ne

r

D
at
e

\\Sme-inc\pz\WIP\081604.00\CAD\DWGS\Env\081604.00.001\rev4\081604.00.001-PF.dwg

N
O
R
EP

R
O
D
U
C
TI
O
N
SH

A
LL

B
E
M
A
D
E
W
IT
H
O
U
T
TH

E
PR

IO
R

C
O
N
SE

N
T
O
F
SM

E
c

D
R
A
W
IN
G
N
O
TE

:S
C
A
LE

D
EP

IC
TE
D
IS

M
EA

N
T
FO

R
11
"
X
17
"

A
N
D
W
IL
L
SC

A
LE

IN
C
O
R
R
EC

TL
Y
IF
P
R
IN
TE

D
O
N
A
N
Y

O
TH

ER
SI
ZE

M
ED

IA

Fi
gu

re
N
o.

PLOTDATE:Oct13,2020-9:55am-julie.blake

w
w
w
.s
m
e-
us
a.
co
m

20
20

FO
R
M
ER

H
M
C

R
O
Y
A
L
C
O
A
C
H
SI
TE

SO
U
TH

ER
N
P
O
R
TI
O
N

O
F
32

5
N
O
R
TH

H
A
N
O
V
ER

ST
R
EE

T

H
A
ST

IN
G
S,

M
IC
H
IG
A
N

10
-1
2-
20

20

JA
B

C
ES

/M
D
C

A
S
N
O
TE

D

0
81
60

4.
0
0
.0
0
1

P
R
O
P
ER

TY
FE

A
TU

R
ES

D
IA
G
R
A
M

2



SS
15

SS
16

SS
11

SS
2

SS
3

SS
18

SS
22

SS
1

SB
12

SB
11

SB
13

SB
14SB
4

SB
3

SB
1

SB
2

SS
8

SS
7

SS
6

SS
10

SS
5

SB
17

SB
15

M
W
-1
0S

/

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

S-
6

SB
16

SB
18

SB
19

SB
-1
0

TB
-0
0
-0
4

SB
-0
8

SB
-0
9

N S

W
E

S
O
IL
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
8
9
)

LE
G
EN

D

A
P
P
R
O
X
IM

A
T
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
9
5
)

S
U
R
F
A
C
E
S
O
IL
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

N
O
T
E
S
:

1
.

1
.

B
A
S
E
D
R
A
W
IN
G
IN
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N
T
A
K
E
N
F
R
O
M

G
O
O
G
L
E
E
A
R
T
H
P
R
O

W
IT
H
IM

A
G
E
D
A
T
E

9
-1
0
-2
0
1
7
A
N
D
A
D
R
A
W
IN
G
T
IT
L
E
D
"S
IT
E

L
A
Y
O
U
T
P
L
A
N
"
(S
H
E
E
T
C
-2
0
5
)
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D
B
Y

N
E
D
E
R
V
E
L
D
.

2
.

2
.

C
O
N
C
E
N
T
R
A
T
IO
N
S
A
R
E
S
H
O
W
N
IN

M
IC
R
O
G
R
A
M
S
P
E
R
K
IL
O
G
R
A
M

(
g
/k
g
)
A
N
D

E
X
C
E
E
D
O
N
E
O
R
M
O
R
E
P
A
R
T
2
0
1
G
E
N
E
R
IC

R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
IA
L
D
IR
E
C
T
C
O
N
T
A
C
T
S
C
R
E
E
N
IN
G

L
E
V
E
L
S
.

3
.

3
.

S
A
M
P
L
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
S
IN

G
R
A
Y
T
E
X
T
A
R
E

H
IS
T
O
R
IC
A
L
A
N
D
N
O
L
O
N
G
E
R
ID
E
N
T
IF
IA
B
L
E

A
T
T
H
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
.

P
ro
je
ct

P
ro
je
ct
Lo
ca
ti
on

Sh
ee

tN
am

e

C
A
D
D

Sc
al
e

Pr
oj
ec
t

N
o
.

R
e
v
is
io
n
D
a
te

D
es
ig
ne

r

D
at
e

\\Sme-inc\pz\WIP\081604.00\CAD\DWGS\Env\081604.00.001\rev4\081604.00.001-AN-SB.dwg

N
O
R
EP

R
O
D
U
C
TI
O
N
SH

A
LL

B
E
M
A
D
E
W
IT
H
O
U
T
TH

E
PR

IO
R

C
O
N
SE

N
T
O
F
SM

E
c

D
R
A
W
IN
G
N
O
TE

:S
C
A
LE

D
EP

IC
TE
D
IS

M
EA

N
T
FO

R
11
"
X
17
"

A
N
D
W
IL
L
SC

A
LE

IN
C
O
R
R
EC

TL
Y
IF
P
R
IN
TE

D
O
N
A
N
Y

O
TH

ER
SI
ZE

M
ED

IA

Fi
gu

re
N
o.

PLOTDATE:Oct13,2020-9:54am-julie.blake

w
w
w
.s
m
e-
us
a.
co
m

20
20

FO
R
M
ER

H
M
C

R
O
Y
A
L
C
O
A
C
H
SI
TE

SO
U
TH

ER
N
P
O
R
TI
O
N

O
F
32

5
N
O
R
TH

H
A
N
O
V
ER

ST
R
EE

T

H
A
ST

IN
G
S,

M
IC
H
IG
A
N

10
-1
2-
20

20

JA
B

C
ES

/M
D
C

A
S
N
O
TE

D

0
81
60

4.
0
0
.0
0
1

3

S
O
IL
B
O
R
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
W
IT
H

T
E
M
P
O
R
A
R
Y
M
O
N
IT
O
R
IN
G
W
E
L
L

S
O
IL
B
O
R
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

SO
IL
B
O
R
IN
G

SA
M
P
LI
N
G

LO
C
A
TI
O
N
S
A
N
D

A
N
A
LY

TI
C
A
L
R
ES

U
LT
S

U
N
K
N
O
W
N
S
U
B
S
U
R
F
A
C
E
A
N
O
M
A
L
Y



SS
15

SS
16

SS
11

SS
2

SS
3

SS
18

SS
22

SS
1

M
W
17

SS
8

SS
7

SS
6

SS
5

M
W
-1
0S

/
TB

-0
0-
0
4

SB
-0
8

M
W
10
D

TM
W
-0
2

SS
17SS
19

SS
21

SS
25

SS
23

SS
24

SS
20

M
W
19

SB
-1
0

SS
4

SS
9

SS
13

SS
14

SS
12 M
W
18

SS
10

SB
-0
9

N S

W
E

S
O
IL
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
8
9
)

LE
G
EN

D

A
P
P
R
O
X
IM

A
T
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
9
5
)

S
U
R
F
A
C
E
S
O
IL
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

N
O
T
E
S
:

1
.

1
.

B
A
S
E
D
R
A
W
IN
G
IN
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N
T
A
K
E
N
F
R
O
M

G
O
O
G
L
E
E
A
R
T
H
P
R
O

W
IT
H
IM

A
G
E
D
A
T
E

9
-1
0
-2
0
1
7
A
N
D
A
D
R
A
W
IN
G
T
IT
L
E
D
"S
IT
E

L
A
Y
O
U
T
P
L
A
N
"
(S
H
E
E
T
C
-2
0
5
)
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D
B
Y

N
E
D
E
R
V
E
L
D
.

2
.

2
.

C
O
N
C
E
N
T
R
A
T
IO
N
S
A
R
E
S
H
O
W
N
IN

M
IC
R
O
G
R
A
M
S
P
E
R
K
IL
O
G
R
A
M

(
g
/k
g
)
A
N
D

E
X
C
E
E
D
O
N
E
O
R
M
O
R
E
P
A
R
T
2
0
1
G
E
N
E
R
IC

R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
IA
L
D
IR
E
C
T
C
O
N
T
A
C
T
S
C
R
E
E
N
IN
G

L
E
V
E
L
S
.

3
.

3
.

S
A
M
P
L
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
S
IN

G
R
A
Y
T
E
X
T
A
R
E

H
IS
T
O
R
IC
A
L
A
N
D
N
O
L
O
N
G
E
R
ID
E
N
T
IF
IA
B
L
E

A
T
T
H
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
.

P
ro
je
ct

P
ro
je
ct
Lo
ca
ti
on

Sh
ee

tN
am

e

C
A
D
D

Sc
al
e

Pr
oj
ec
t

N
o
.

R
e
v
is
io
n
D
a
te

D
es
ig
ne

r

D
at
e

\\Sme-inc\pz\WIP\081604.00\CAD\DWGS\Env\081604.00.001\rev4\081604.00.001-AN-SSample.dwg

N
O
R
EP

R
O
D
U
C
TI
O
N
SH

A
LL

B
E
M
A
D
E
W
IT
H
O
U
T
TH

E
PR

IO
R

C
O
N
SE

N
T
O
F
SM

E
c

D
R
A
W
IN
G
N
O
TE

:S
C
A
LE

D
EP

IC
TE
D
IS

M
EA

N
T
FO

R
11
"
X
17
"

A
N
D
W
IL
L
SC

A
LE

IN
C
O
R
R
EC

TL
Y
IF
P
R
IN
TE

D
O
N
A
N
Y

O
TH

ER
SI
ZE

M
ED

IA

Fi
gu

re
N
o.

PLOTDATE:Oct13,2020-9:51am-julie.blake

w
w
w
.s
m
e-
us
a.
co
m

20
20

FO
R
M
ER

H
M
C

R
O
Y
A
L
C
O
A
C
H
SI
TE

SO
U
TH

ER
N
P
O
R
TI
O
N

O
F
32

5
N
O
R
TH

H
A
N
O
V
ER

ST
R
EE

T

H
A
ST

IN
G
S,

M
IC
H
IG
A
N

10
-1
2-
20

20

JA
B

C
ES

/M
D
C

A
S
N
O
TE

D

0
81
60

4.
0
0
.0
0
1

4

SU
R
FA

C
E
SO

IL
SA

M
P
LE

LO
C
A
TI
O
N
S

A
N
D
A
N
A
LY

TI
C
A
L

R
ES

U
LT
S

U
N
K
N
O
W
N
S
U
B
S
U
R
F
A
C
E
A
N
O
M
A
L
Y

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(2
0
0
0
/2
0
1
3
)



M
W
17

SB
1

SB
2

M
W
10
D

SB
17

SB
15

N S

W
E

LE
G
EN

D

A
P
P
R
O
X
IM

A
T
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(2
0
0
0
/2
0
1
3
)

N
O
T
E
S
:

1
.

1
.

B
A
S
E
D
R
A
W
IN
G
IN
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N
T
A
K
E
N
F
R
O
M

G
O
O
G
L
E
E
A
R
T
H
P
R
O

W
IT
H
IM

A
G
E
D
A
T
E

9
-1
0
-2
0
1
7
A
N
D
A
D
R
A
W
IN
G
T
IT
L
E
D
"S
IT
E

L
A
Y
O
U
T
P
L
A
N
"
(S
H
E
E
T
C
-2
0
5
)
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D
B
Y

N
E
D
E
R
V
E
L
D
.

2
.

2
.

C
O
N
C
E
N
T
R
A
T
IO
N
S
A
R
E
S
H
O
W
N
IN

M
IC
R
O
G
R
A
M
S
P
E
R
L
IT
E
R
(
g
/L
)
A
N
D
E
X
C
E
E
D

P
A
R
T
2
0
1
G
E
N
E
R
IC

R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
IA
L
D
R
IN
K
IN
G

W
A
T
E
R
S
C
R
E
E
N
IN
G
L
E
V
E
L
S
.

3
.

3
.

S
A
M
P
L
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
S
IN

G
R
A
Y
T
E
X
T
A
R
E

H
IS
T
O
R
IC
A
L
A
N
D
N
O
L
O
N
G
E
R
ID
E
N
T
IF
IA
B
L
E

A
T
T
H
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
.

P
ro
je
ct

P
ro
je
ct
Lo
ca
ti
on

Sh
ee

tN
am

e

C
A
D
D

Sc
al
e

Pr
oj
ec
t

N
o
.

R
e
v
is
io
n
D
a
te

D
es
ig
ne

r

D
at
e

\\Sme-inc\pz\WIP\081604.00\CAD\DWGS\Env\081604.00.001\rev4\081604.00.001-AN-GW.dwg

N
O
R
EP

R
O
D
U
C
TI
O
N
SH

A
LL

B
E
M
A
D
E
W
IT
H
O
U
T
TH

E
PR

IO
R

C
O
N
SE

N
T
O
F
SM

E
c

D
R
A
W
IN
G
N
O
TE

:S
C
A
LE

D
EP

IC
TE
D
IS

M
EA

N
T
FO

R
11
"
X
17
"

A
N
D
W
IL
L
SC

A
LE

IN
C
O
R
R
EC

TL
Y
IF
P
R
IN
TE

D
O
N
A
N
Y

O
TH

ER
SI
ZE

M
ED

IA

Fi
gu

re
N
o.

PLOTDATE:Oct13,2020-10:01am-julie.blake

w
w
w
.s
m
e-
us
a.
co
m

20
20

FO
R
M
ER

H
M
C

R
O
Y
A
L
C
O
A
C
H
SI
TE

SO
U
TH

ER
N
P
O
R
TI
O
N

O
F
32

5
N
O
R
TH

H
A
N
O
V
ER

ST
R
EE

T

H
A
ST

IN
G
S,

M
IC
H
IG
A
N

10
-1
2-
20

20

JA
B

C
ES

/M
D
C

A
S
N
O
TE

D

0
81
60

4.
0
0
.0
0
1

5

S
O
IL
B
O
R
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
W
IT
H

T
E
M
P
O
R
A
R
Y
M
O
N
IT
O
R
IN
G
W
E
L
L

G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
TE

R
SA

M
P
LI
N
G

LO
C
A
TI
O
N
S,

P
O
TE

N
TI
O
M
ET

R
IC

SU
R
FA

C
E
A
N
D

A
N
A
LY

TI
C
A
L
R
ES

U
LT
S

E
X
IS
T
IN
G
W
E
L
L
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

U
N
K
N
O
W
N
S
U
B
S
U
R
F
A
C
E
A
N
O
M
A
L
Y



SG
1

SG
2

SG
3

SG
4

SG
5

SG
6

SG
7

SG
8

SG
9

SG
10

SG
11

TM
W
-0
2

SG
14

SG
13

SG
12

N S

W
E

S
O
IL
S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
8
9
)

LE
G
EN

D

A
P
P
R
O
X
IM

A
T
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(2
0
0
0
/2
0
1
3
)

S
O
IL
A
N
D
/O

R
G
R
O
U
N
D
W
A
T
E
R

S
A
M
P
L
E
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
(1
9
9
5
)

N
O
T
E
S
:

1
.

1
.

B
A
S
E
D
R
A
W
IN
G
IN
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N
T
A
K
E
N
F
R
O
M

G
O
O
G
L
E
E
A
R
T
H
P
R
O

W
IT
H
IM

A
G
E
D
A
T
E

9
-1
0
-2
0
1
7
A
N
D
A
D
R
A
W
IN
G
T
IT
L
E
D
"S
IT
E

L
A
Y
O
U
T
P
L
A
N
"
(S
H
E
E
T
C
-2
0
5
)
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D
B
Y

N
E
D
E
R
V
E
L
D
.

2
.

2
.

C
O
N
C
E
N
T
R
A
T
IO
N
S
A
R
E
S
H
O
W
N
IN

M
IC
R
O
G
R
A
M
S
P
E
R
C
U
B
IC

M
E
T
E
R
(
g
/m

³)
A
N
D

E
X
C
E
E
D
P
A
R
T
2
0
1
G
E
N
E
R
IC

R
E
S
ID
E
N
T
IA
L

V
O
L
A
T
IL
IZ
A
T
IO
N
T
O
IN
D
O
O
R
A
IR

P
A
T
H
W
A
Y

S
C
R
E
E
N
IN
G
L
E
V
E
L
S
.

3
.

3
.

S
A
M
P
L
IN
G
L
O
C
A
T
IO
N
S
IN

G
R
A
Y
T
E
X
T
A
R
E

H
IS
T
O
R
IC
A
L
A
N
D
N
O
L
O
N
G
E
R
ID
E
N
T
IF
IA
B
L
E

A
T
T
H
E
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
.

P
ro
je
ct

P
ro
je
ct
Lo
ca
ti
on

Sh
ee

tN
am

e

C
A
D
D

Sc
al
e

Pr
oj
ec
t

N
o
.

R
e
v
is
io
n
D
a
te

D
es
ig
ne

r

D
at
e

\\Sme-inc\pz\WIP\081604.00\CAD\DWGS\Env\081604.00.001\rev4\081604.00.001-AN-SGas.dwg

N
O
R
EP

R
O
D
U
C
TI
O
N
SH

A
LL

B
E
M
A
D
E
W
IT
H
O
U
T
TH

E
PR

IO
R

C
O
N
SE

N
T
O
F
SM

E
c

D
R
A
W
IN
G
N
O
TE

:S
C
A
LE

D
EP

IC
TE
D
IS

M
EA

N
T
FO

R
11
"
X
17
"

A
N
D
W
IL
L
SC

A
LE

IN
C
O
R
R
EC

TL
Y
IF
P
R
IN
TE

D
O
N
A
N
Y

O
TH

ER
SI
ZE

M
ED

IA

Fi
gu

re
N
o.

PLOTDATE:Oct13,2020-9:56am-julie.blake

w
w
w
.s
m
e-
us
a.
co
m

20
20

FO
R
M
ER

H
M
C

R
O
Y
A
L
C
O
A
C
H
SI
TE

SO
U
TH

ER
N
P
O
R
TI
O
N

O
F
32

5
N
O
R
TH

H
A
N
O
V
ER

ST
R
EE

T

H
A
ST

IN
G
S,

M
IC
H
IG
A
N

10
-1
2-
20

20

JA
B

C
ES

/M
D
C

A
S
N
O
TE

D

0
81
60

4.
0
0
.0
0
1

6

SO
IL
G
A
S
SA

M
P
LE

LO
C
A
TI
O
N
S
A
N
D

A
N
A
LY

TI
C
A
L
R
ES

U
LT
S

S
U
B
-S
L
A
B
S
O
IL
G
A
S
S
A
M
P
L
E

L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

D
E
E
P
(5
')
S
O
IL
G
A
S
S
A
M
P
L
E

L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

U
N
K
N
O
W
N
S
U
B
S
U
R
F
A
C
E
A
N
O
M
A
L
Y



© 2020 SME 081604.00+101320+PIIESA 

TABLES 

TABLE 1:  2020 GROUNDWATER ELEVATION SUMMARY 

TABLE 2:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL 

TABLE 3:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – GROUNDWATER 

TABLE 4:  SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS RESULTS – SOIL GAS  



T
A

B
L

E
 1

20
2

0 
G

R
O

U
N

D
W

A
T

E
R

 E
L

E
V

A
T

IO
N

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
F

O
R

M
E

R
 H

M
C

 R
O

Y
A

L
 C

O
A

C
H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

81
6

0
4.

00
.0

0
1

P
a

g
e 

1 
o

f 
1

W
el

l I
D

S
cr

e
en

ed
 I

n
te

rv
al

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
(f

t.
 b

el
o

w
 g

ro
u

n
d

)

G
ro

u
n

d
 S

u
rf

a
ce

 
E

le
va

ti
o

n
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

  
   

  
   

   
 

(e
le

v.
 f

t.
)

T
o

p
 o

f 
C

a
s

in
g

 
E

le
va

ti
o

n
   

   
  

  
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

  
  

(e
le

v.
 f

t.
)

D
ep

th
 t

o
 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 (
ft

.)
J

u
n

e 
2,

 2
0

20

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
E

le
va

ti
o

n
 (

ft
.)

J
u

n
e

 2
, 

20
20

   
  

   
  

   
   

  

M
W

10
D

2
8 

- 
33

7
87

.4
78

7
.2

2
11

.4
0

7
75

.8
2

M
W

17
9 

- 
14

7
81

.1
78

1
.5

8
13

.0
6

7
68

.5
2

M
W

18
1

2 
- 

17
7

88
.3

78
8

.3
0

5.
22

7
83

.0
8

M
W

19
 1

4 
- 

19
7

92
.6

79
2

.1
4

15
.9

0
7

76
.2

4

S
B

1
2.

5 
- 

7.
5

7
81

.8
78

4
.0

0
9.

72
7

74
.2

8

S
B

2
 8

 -
 1

3
7

88
.8

79
0

.8
8

14
.7

8
7

76
.1

0

S
B

6
 1

0 
- 

15
7

88
.1

78
8

.3
7

13
.1

1
7

75
.2

6

S
B

8
 1

1 
- 

16
7

91
.5

79
2

.5
5

16
.0

6
7

76
.4

9

S
B

1
5

 5
 -

 1
0

7
87

.7
78

8
.4

0
10

.0
0

7
78

.4
0

S
B

1
7

 6
 -

 1
1

7
87

.8
78

9
.3

1
15

.0
0

7
74

.3
1

N
ot

es
:

1.
 T

op
 o

f 
C

as
in

g 
el

ev
at

io
n 

w
er

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

us
in

g 
a 

Le
ic

a 
G

P
S

.

2.
 M

W
10

D
, 

M
W

17
 t

hr
ou

gh
 M

W
19

 w
er

e 
in

st
al

le
d 

by
 S

ta
nt

ec
 in

 2
01

3.

3.
 T

em
po

ra
ry

 w
el

ls
 S

B
1,

 S
B

2,
 S

B
6,

 S
B

8,
 S

B
15

 a
nd

 S
B

17
 w

er
e 

in
st

al
le

d 
by

 S
M

E
 in

 2
02

0.



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

8
1

6
0

4
.0

0
.0

0
1

P
A

G
E

 1
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
at

io
n

 
to

 In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

P
at

h
w

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
B

1
S

B
2

S
B

3
S

B
4

S
B

5
S

B
6

S
B

7

2'
-3

.5
'

2'
-3

.5
'

2'
-3

'
1'

 -
 2

'
1'

 -
 2

.5
'

1.
5'

 -
 3

'
4'

 -
 5

.5
'

5/
19

/2
02

0
5/

19
/2

02
0

5/
19

/2
02

0
05

/1
8/

20
05

/1
8/

20
05

/1
8/

20
5/

19
/2

02
0

V
O

C
s

N
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

91
-2

0-
3

N
A

35
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
73

0
16

,0
00

,0
00

52
,0

00
,0

00
67

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
T

et
ra

ch
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne
12

7-
18

-4
N

A
10

0
10

0
1,

20
0

20
0,

00
0

93
0,

00
0

6.
2

<
61

<
67

<
54

<
67

<
59

<
60

13
0

T
ol

ue
ne

10
8-

88
-3

N
A

16
,0

00
16

,0
00

5,
40

0
50

,0
00

,0
00

16
0,

00
0,

00
0

3,
70

0
<

61
<

67
<

54
<

67
<

59
<

60
<

61
X

yl
en

es
13

30
-2

0-
7

N
A

5,
60

0
5,

60
0

98
0

41
0,

00
0,

00
0

1,
00

0,
00

0,
00

0
28

0
<

15
0

55
0

<
15

0
<

15
0

<
15

0
<

15
0

<
15

0
O

th
er

 A
an

ly
ze

d 
V

O
C

s
C

S
N

A
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
<

R
L

<R
L

<R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

S
V

O
C

s,
 P

A
H

s
A

ce
na

ph
th

en
e

83
-3

2-
9

N
A

30
0,

00
0

88
0,

00
0

8,
70

0
41

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

25
0,

00
0

<
33

0
64

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

A
ce

na
ph

th
yl

en
e

20
8-

96
-8

N
A

5,
90

0
17

,0
00

ID
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
ID

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
A

nt
hr

ac
en

e
12

0-
12

-7
N

A
41

,0
00

41
,0

00
ID

23
0,

00
0,

00
0

73
0,

00
0,

00
0

13
,0

00
,0

00
<

33
0

1,
80

0
<

33
0

64
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(a
)a

nt
hr

ac
en

e
56

-5
5-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
16

0,
00

0
34

0
2,

90
0

<
33

0
2,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(a
)p

yr
en

e
50

-3
2-

8
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

00
0

8,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

2,
70

0
<

33
0

1,
50

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

B
en

zo
(b

)f
lu

or
an

th
en

e
20

5-
99

-2
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
N

A
50

0
3,

60
0

<
33

0
2,

80
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(g
,h

,i)
pe

ry
le

ne
19

1-
24

-2
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

50
0,

00
0

7,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

1,
70

0
<

33
0

45
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(k
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
7-

08
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
0,

00
0

80
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
1,

50
0

<
33

0
92

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

C
hr

ys
en

e
21

8-
01

-9
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

00
0,

00
0

8,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

3,
10

0
<

33
0

2,
40

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

D
ib

en
zo

(a
,h

)a
nt

hr
ac

en
e

53
-7

0-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
00

0
8,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
36

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

F
lu

or
an

th
en

e
20

6-
44

-0
N

A
73

0,
00

0
73

0,
00

0
5,

50
0

46
,0

00
,0

00
13

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
54

0
7,

40
0

<
33

0
5,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
F

lu
or

en
e

86
-7

3-
7

N
A

39
0,

00
0

89
0,

00
0

5,
30

0
27

,0
00

,0
00

87
,0

00
,0

00
47

0,
00

0
<

33
0

66
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
In

de
no

(1
,2

,3
-c

d)
py

re
ne

19
3-

39
-5

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
,0

00
80

,0
00

N
A

<
33

0
1,

60
0

<
33

0
67

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

2-
M

et
hy

ln
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

91
-5

7-
6

N
A

57
,0

00
17

0,
00

0
4,

20
0

8,
10

0,
00

0
26

,0
00

,0
00

1,
70

0
<

33
0

41
0

<
33

0
38

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

P
he

na
nt

hr
en

e
85

-0
1-

8
N

A
56

,0
00

16
0,

00
0

2,
10

0
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
1,

70
0

37
0

6,
80

0
<

33
0

3,
70

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

P
yr

en
e

12
9-

00
-0

N
A

48
0,

00
0

48
0,

00
0

ID
29

,0
00

,0
00

84
,0

00
,0

00
25

,0
00

,0
00

47
0

6,
90

0
<

33
0

4,
10

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

P
C

B
s

P
C

B
, A

ro
cl

or
 1

25
4

11
09

7-
69

-1
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
ID

N
E

N
E

N
E

<
11

0
<

10
0

66
0

<
36

0
T

ot
al

 P
C

B
s

13
36

-3
6-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
4,

00
0

16
,0

00
ID

N
E

N
E

N
E

<
11

0
<

10
0

66
0

<
36

0
M

et
al

s
A

rs
en

ic
74

40
-3

8-
2

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

7,
60

0
37

,0
00

N
A

1,
70

0
4,

40
0

1,
40

0
4,

50
0

94
0

77
0

3,
00

0
B

ar
iu

m
 

74
40

-3
9-

3
75

,0
00

1,
30

0,
00

0
1,

30
0,

00
0

44
0,

00
0 

*
37

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

81
,0

00
94

,0
00

5,
30

0
65

,0
00

50
,0

00
17

,0
00

15
,0

00
C

ad
m

iu
m

 
74

40
-4

3-
9

1,
20

0
6,

00
0

6,
00

0
3,

60
0 

*
55

0,
00

0
2,

10
0,

00
0

N
A

19
0

1,
10

0
<

50
48

0
<

50
<

50
59

C
hr

om
iu

m
, T

ot
al

**
74

40
-4

7-
3

18
,0

00
 (

to
ta

l)
30

,0
00

30
,0

00
18

0,
00

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
3,

90
0

17
,0

00
5,

30
0

21
,0

00
26

,0
00

7,
40

0
13

,0
00

C
hr

om
iu

m
 V

I
18

54
0-

29
-9

N
A

30
,0

00
30

,0
00

3,
30

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
<

2,
30

0
<

44
0

<
43

0
<

44
0

C
op

pe
r 

74
40

-5
0-

8
32

,0
00

5,
80

0,
00

0
5,

80
0,

00
0

75
,0

00
 *

20
,0

00
,0

00
73

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

57
,0

00
83

,0
00

4,
00

0
39

,0
00

6,
30

0
4,

40
0

8,
50

0
Le

ad
, T

ot
al

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

16
,0

00
35

0,
00

0
1,

70
0

86
,0

00
2,

50
0

7,
20

0
21

,0
00

Le
ad

, C
oa

rs
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0,
00

0
5,

10
0,

00
0 

*
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
14

8,
00

0
N

E
90

,0
00

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

, F
in

e 
F

ra
ct

io
n

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

47
1,

00
0

N
E

34
6,

00
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

, T
ot

al
 (

C
al

cu
la

te
d)

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

15
5,

00
0

N
E

10
2,

00
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

M
er

cu
ry

74
39

-9
7-

6
13

0
1,

70
0

1,
70

0
13

0
16

0,
00

0
58

0,
00

0
22

<
50

57
<

50
13

0
<

50
<

50
<

50
N

ic
ke

l 
74

40
-0

2-
0

20
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
10

0,
00

0
76

,0
00

 *
40

,0
00

,0
00

15
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

3,
60

0
9,

30
0

4,
80

0
7,

60
0

5,
00

0
2,

20
0

4,
70

0
S

el
en

iu
m

 
77

82
-4

9-
2

41
0

4,
00

0
4,

00
0

41
0

2,
60

0,
00

0
9,

60
0,

00
0

N
A

<
20

0
30

0
<

20
0

50
0

<
20

0
<

20
0

<
20

0
S

ilv
er

 
74

40
-2

2-
4

1,
00

0
4,

50
0

13
,0

00
1,

00
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
10

0
<

10
0

<
10

0
<

10
0

<
10

0
<

10
0

<
10

0
Z

in
c 

74
40

-6
6-

6
47

,0
00

2,
40

0,
00

0
5,

00
0,

00
0

17
0,

00
0

17
0,

00
0,

00
0

63
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

77
,0

00
22

0,
00

0
8,

40
0

10
0,

00
0

10
,0

00
8,

20
0

18
,0

00
N

ot
es

:
1.

  C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 r

ep
or

te
d 

in
 m

ic
ro

gr
am

s 
pe

r 
ki

lo
gr

am
 (

µg
/k

g)
.

2.
  A

na
ly

tic
al

 r
es

ul
ts

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 th
e 

D
ec

em
be

r 
30

, 2
01

3 
P

ro
m

ul
ga

te
d 

C
le

an
up

 C
rit

er
ia

, R
es

id
en

tia
l a

nd
/o

r 
N

on
re

si
de

nt
ia

l P
ar

t 2
01

 G
en

er
ic

 C
le

an
up

 C
rit

er
ia

 a
nd

 S
cr

ee
ni

ng
 L

ev
el

s 
(G

S
I P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
C

rit
er

ia
 U

pd
at

ed
 J

un
e 

25
, 2

01
8)

; a
nd

 E
G

LE
's

 M
ay

 1
4,

 2
02

0,
 D

ra
ft 

R
es

id
en

tia
l V

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n 

to
 In

do
or

 A
ir 

P
at

hw
ay

 (
V

IA
P

) 
S

cr
ee

ni
ng

 L
ev

el
s.

3.
  R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
ee

di
ng

 o
ne

 o
r 

m
or

e 
P

ar
t 2

01
 c

rit
er

ia
 a

re
 s

ha
de

d 
or

an
ge

, a
s 

ar
e 

th
e 

cr
ite

ria
 e

xc
ee

de
d.

 R
es

ul
ts

 e
xc

ee
di

ng
 o

nl
y 

E
G

LE
 V

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n 

to
 In

do
or

 A
ir 

P
at

hw
ay

 c
rit

er
ia

 a
re

 s
ha

de
d 

ye
llo

w
, a

s 
ar

e 
th

e 
cr

ite
ria

.
4.

  R
ef

er
 to

 th
e 

an
al

yt
ic

al
 r

ep
or

t f
or

 th
e 

fu
ll 

lis
t o

f a
na

ly
te

s.
5.

  C
S

 -
 C

rit
er

io
n 

is
 s

pe
ci

fic
 to

 in
di

vi
du

al
 c

on
st

itu
en

t.
6.

  <
R

L 
- 

A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

es
ul

t w
as

 b
el

ow
 la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
lim

it.
 

7.
  I

D
 -

 In
su

ffi
ci

en
t d

at
a 

to
 d

ev
el

op
 c

rit
er

ia
.

8.
  N

A
 -

 N
ot

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
.

9.
  N

E
 -

 N
ot

 e
va

lu
at

ed
.

10
.  

N
LV

 -
 N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 to
 v

ol
at

ili
ze

.
11

.  
N

LL
 -

 N
ot

 li
ke

ly
 to

 le
ac

h.
12

.  
* 

=
 G

S
I P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
w

as
 c

al
cu

la
te

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
in

di
ca

te
d 

m
et

al
s 

us
in

g 
th

e 
E

G
LE

 s
pr

ea
ds

he
et

 fo
r 

ca
lc

ul
at

in
g 

G
S

I. 
 A

 d
ef

au
lt 

w
at

er
 h

ar
dn

es
s 

va
lu

e 
of

 1
50

 m
g/

kg
 a

s 
C

aC
O

3 
w

as
 u

se
d 

to
 

   
   

ca
lc

ul
at

e 
G

S
I. 

   
R

es
ul

ts
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 fo
r 

su
rf

ac
e 

w
at

er
 r

ec
ei

vi
ng

 b
od

ie
s 

no
t p

ro
te

ct
ed

 a
s 

a 
dr

in
ki

ng
 w

at
er

 s
ou

rc
e.

13
.  

Ita
lic

iz
ed

 -
 th

e 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

cr
ite

rio
n 

w
as

 b
el

ow
 th

e 
S

ta
te

w
id

e 
D

ef
au

lt 
B

ac
kg

ro
un

d 
Le

ve
l (

S
D

B
L)

 a
nd

 th
er

ef
or

e 
th

e 
va

lu
e 

de
fa

ul
te

d 
to

 th
e 

S
D

B
L 

va
lu

e.
14

.  
**

 -
 T

ot
al

 c
hr

om
iu

m
 r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 tr

iv
al

en
t c

hr
om

iu
m

 c
rit

er
ia

 b
ec

au
se

 h
ex

av
al

en
t c

hr
om

iu
m

 w
as

 a
na

ly
ze

d 
an

d 
no

t m
ea

su
re

d 
ab

ov
e 

th
e 

la
bo

ra
to

ry
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

lim
it 

in
 th

e 
so

il 
sa

m
pl

e 
th

at
 h

ad
 th

e 
hi

gh
es

t c
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

n.
15

.  
C

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
ns

 w
er

e 
al

so
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
, a

nd
 fo

un
d 

to
 b

e 
be

lo
w

, t
he

 a
m

bi
en

t a
nd

 in
do

or
 a

ir 
cr

ite
ria

 a
nd

 th
e 

so
il 

sa
tu

ra
tio

n 
co

nc
en

tr
at

io
n 

sc
re

en
in

g 
le

ve
ls

. 

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 

D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 W
at

er
 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 C
ri

te
ri

a
R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

o
il

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 D

ir
ec

t 
C

o
n

ta
ct

 C
ri

te
ri

a

P
ar

t 
20

1 
G

en
er

ic
 C

le
an

u
p

 C
ri

te
ri

a

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

S
am

p
le

 Id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

D
ep

th
 (

fe
et

)
D

at
e 

C
o

lle
ct

ed

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 
W

at
er

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 
S

u
rf

ac
e 

W
at

er
 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

8
1

6
0

4
.0

0
.0

0
1

P
A

G
E

 2
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
at

io
n

 
to

 In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

P
at

h
w

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
B

8
D

u
p

lic
at

e 
S

o
il

S
B

9
S

B
10

S
B

11
S

B
12

S
B

13

1'
 -

 3
'

S
B

8 
(1

'-3
')

1'
 -

 2
'

1'
 -

 2
'

1'
 -

 2
'

5'
 -

 6
'

1'
 -

 2
.5

'

5/
19

/2
02

0
5/

19
/2

02
0

5/
19

/2
02

0
05

/1
8/

20
05

/1
8/

20
05

/1
8/

20
05

/1
8/

20

V
O

C
s

N
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

91
-2

0-
3

N
A

35
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
73

0
16

,0
00

,0
00

52
,0

00
,0

00
67

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
T

et
ra

ch
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne
12

7-
18

-4
N

A
10

0
10

0
1,

20
0

20
0,

00
0

93
0,

00
0

6.
2

<
60

<
63

<
67

<
71

<
60

<
79

<
68

T
ol

ue
ne

10
8-

88
-3

N
A

16
,0

00
16

,0
00

5,
40

0
50

,0
00

,0
00

16
0,

00
0,

00
0

3,
70

0
<

60
<

63
<

67
<

71
<

60
19

0
<

68
X

yl
en

es
13

30
-2

0-
7

N
A

5,
60

0
5,

60
0

98
0

41
0,

00
0,

00
0

1,
00

0,
00

0,
00

0
28

0
<

15
0

<
15

0
<

15
0

<
15

0
<

15
0

29
0

<
15

0
O

th
er

 A
an

ly
ze

d 
V

O
C

s
C

S
N

A
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

S
V

O
C

s,
 P

A
H

s
A

ce
na

ph
th

en
e

83
-3

2-
9

N
A

30
0,

00
0

88
0,

00
0

8,
70

0
41

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

25
0,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

1,
30

0
A

ce
na

ph
th

yl
en

e
20

8-
96

-8
N

A
5,

90
0

17
,0

00
ID

1,
60

0,
00

0
5,

20
0,

00
0

ID
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
1,

10
0

A
nt

hr
ac

en
e

12
0-

12
-7

N
A

41
,0

00
41

,0
00

ID
23

0,
00

0,
00

0
73

0,
00

0,
00

0
13

,0
00

,0
00

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

3,
70

0
B

en
zo

(a
)a

nt
hr

ac
en

e
56

-5
5-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
16

0,
00

0
69

0
67

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
7,

20
0

B
en

zo
(a

)p
yr

en
e

50
-3

2-
8

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
00

0
8,

00
0

N
A

1,
10

0
1,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

7,
00

0
B

en
zo

(b
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
5-

99
-2

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
,0

00
80

,0
00

N
A

1,
80

0
1,

70
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

33
0

<
33

0
10

,0
00

B
en

zo
(g

,h
,i)

pe
ry

le
ne

19
1-

24
-2

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
50

0,
00

0
7,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

1,
40

0
1,

30
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

2,
70

0
B

en
zo

(k
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
7-

08
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
0,

00
0

80
0,

00
0

N
A

53
0

58
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

3,
00

0
C

hr
ys

en
e

21
8-

01
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
00

0,
00

0
8,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

71
0

65
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

7,
10

0
D

ib
en

zo
(a

,h
)a

nt
hr

ac
en

e
53

-7
0-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

00
0

8,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
68

0
F

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
6-

44
-0

N
A

73
0,

00
0

73
0,

00
0

5,
50

0
46

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

65
0

62
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

18
,0

00
F

lu
or

en
e

86
-7

3-
7

N
A

39
0,

00
0

89
0,

00
0

5,
30

0
27

,0
00

,0
00

87
,0

00
,0

00
47

0,
00

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
1,

90
0

In
de

no
(1

,2
,3

-c
d)

py
re

ne
19

3-
39

-5
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
N

A
1,

20
0

1,
20

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
3,

30
0

2-
M

et
hy

ln
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

91
-5

7-
6

N
A

57
,0

00
17

0,
00

0
4,

20
0

8,
10

0,
00

0
26

,0
00

,0
00

1,
70

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

1,
80

0
1,

00
0

P
he

na
nt

hr
en

e
85

-0
1-

8
N

A
56

,0
00

16
0,

00
0

2,
10

0
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
1,

70
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
43

0
17

,0
00

P
yr

en
e

12
9-

00
-0

N
A

48
0,

00
0

48
0,

00
0

ID
29

,0
00

,0
00

84
,0

00
,0

00
25

,0
00

,0
00

69
0

62
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

17
,0

00
P

C
B

s
P

C
B

, A
ro

cl
or

 1
25

4
11

09
7-

69
-1

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

ID
<

10
0

<
10

0
<

10
0

<
10

0
N

E
N

E
<

10
0

T
ot

al
 P

C
B

s
13

36
-3

6-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

4,
00

0
16

,0
00

ID
<

10
0

<
10

0
<

10
0

<
10

0
N

E
N

E
<

10
0

M
et

al
s

A
rs

en
ic

74
40

-3
8-

2
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
7,

60
0

37
,0

00
N

A
5,

00
0

4,
50

0
N

E
5,

60
0

3,
70

0
16

,0
00

25
,0

00
B

ar
iu

m
 

74
40

-3
9-

3
75

,0
00

1,
30

0,
00

0
1,

30
0,

00
0

44
0,

00
0 

*
37

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

28
,0

00
26

,0
00

N
E

56
,0

00
38

,0
00

18
0,

00
0

46
,0

00
C

ad
m

iu
m

 
74

40
-4

3-
9

1,
20

0
6,

00
0

6,
00

0
3,

60
0 

*
55

0,
00

0
2,

10
0,

00
0

N
A

95
0

1,
10

0
N

E
1,

50
0

1,
20

0
61

0
70

0
C

hr
om

iu
m

, T
ot

al
**

74
40

-4
7-

3
18

,0
00

 (
to

ta
l)

30
,0

00
30

,0
00

18
0,

00
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

20
0,

00
0

N
A

9,
50

0
7,

70
0

N
E

37
,0

00
8,

90
0

11
,0

00
20

,0
00

C
hr

om
iu

m
 V

I
18

54
0-

29
-9

N
A

30
,0

00
30

,0
00

3,
30

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
<

45
0

<
44

0
N

E
<

2,
30

0
N

E
N

E
<

2,
40

0
C

op
pe

r 
74

40
-5

0-
8

32
,0

00
5,

80
0,

00
0

5,
80

0,
00

0
75

,0
00

 *
20

,0
00

,0
00

73
,0

00
,0

00
N

A
1,

60
0,

00
0

1,
90

0,
00

0
N

E
44

,0
00

15
,0

00
75

,0
00

16
,0

00
Le

ad
, T

ot
al

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

21
0,

00
0

26
0,

00
0

16
,0

00
25

0,
00

0
18

,0
00

13
0,

00
0

23
0,

00
0

Le
ad

, C
oa

rs
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0,
00

0
5,

10
0,

00
0 

*
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
82

3,
00

0
69

,3
00

N
E

13
3,

00
0

N
E

51
5,

00
0

84
0,

00
0

Le
ad

, F
in

e 
F

ra
ct

io
n

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

65
5,

00
0

56
,0

00
N

E
24

7,
00

0
N

E
85

3,
00

0
35

6,
00

0
Le

ad
, T

ot
al

 (
C

al
cu

la
te

d)
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0,
00

0
5,

10
0,

00
0 

*
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
80

8,
00

0
69

,0
00

N
E

13
4,

00
0

N
E

53
1,

00
0

81
9,

00
0

M
er

cu
ry

74
39

-9
7-

6
13

0
1,

70
0

1,
70

0
13

0
16

0,
00

0
58

0,
00

0
22

<
50

<
50

N
E

<
50

56
<

50
19

0
N

ic
ke

l 
74

40
-0

2-
0

20
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
10

0,
00

0
76

,0
00

 *
40

,0
00

,0
00

15
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

21
,0

00
22

,0
00

N
E

10
,0

00
7,

00
0

27
,0

00
7,

50
0

S
el

en
iu

m
 

77
82

-4
9-

2
41

0
4,

00
0

4,
00

0
41

0
2,

60
0,

00
0

9,
60

0,
00

0
N

A
25

0
22

0
N

E
33

0
<

20
0

1,
90

0
31

0
S

ilv
er

 
74

40
-2

2-
4

1,
00

0
4,

50
0

13
,0

00
1,

00
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

47
0

51
0

N
E

<
10

0
<

10
0

12
0

<
10

0
Z

in
c 

74
40

-6
6-

6
47

,0
00

2,
40

0,
00

0
5,

00
0,

00
0

17
0,

00
0

17
0,

00
0,

00
0

63
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

62
0,

00
0

76
0,

00
0

N
E

29
0,

00
0

14
0,

00
0

19
0,

00
0

21
0,

00
0

N
ot

es
:

1.
  C

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
ns

 r
ep

or
te

d 
in

 m
ic

ro
gr

am
s 

pe
r 

ki
lo

gr
am

 (
µ

g/
kg

).
2.

  A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 th

e 
D

ec
em

be
r 

30
, 2

01
3 

P
ro

m
ul

ga
te

d 
C

le
an

up
 C

rit
er

ia
, R

es
id

en
tia

l a
nd

/o
r 

N
on

re
si

de
nt

ia
l P

ar
t 2

01
 G

en
er

ic
 C

le
an

up
 C

rit
er

ia
 a

nd
 S

cr
ee

ni
ng

 L
ev

el
s 

(G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

C
rit

er
ia

 U
pd

at
ed

 J
un

e 
25

, 2
01

8)
; a

nd
 E

G
LE

's
 M

ay
 1

4,
 2

02
0,

 D
ra

ft 
R

es
id

en
tia

l V
ol

at
ili

za
tio

n 
to

 In
do

or
 A

ir 
P

at
hw

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

ee
ni

ng
 L

ev
el

s.
3.

  R
es

ul
ts

 e
xc

ee
di

ng
 o

ne
 o

r 
m

or
e 

P
ar

t 2
01

 c
rit

er
ia

 a
re

 s
ha

de
d 

or
an

ge
, a

s 
ar

e 
th

e 
cr

ite
ria

 e
xc

ee
de

d.
 R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
ee

di
ng

 o
nl

y 
E

G
LE

 V
ol

at
ili

za
tio

n 
to

 In
do

or
 A

ir 
P

at
hw

ay
 c

rit
er

ia
 a

re
 s

ha
de

d 
ye

llo
w

, a
s 

ar
e 

th
e 

cr
ite

ria
.

4.
  R

ef
er

 to
 th

e 
an

al
yt

ic
al

 r
ep

or
t f

or
 th

e 
fu

ll 
lis

t o
f a

na
ly

te
s.

5.
  C

S
 -

 C
rit

er
io

n 
is

 s
pe

ci
fic

 to
 in

di
vi

du
al

 c
on

st
itu

en
t.

6.
  <

R
L 

- 
A

na
ly

tic
al

 r
es

ul
t w

as
 b

el
ow

 la
bo

ra
to

ry
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

lim
it.

 
7.

  I
D

 -
 In

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
at

a 
to

 d
ev

el
op

 c
rit

er
ia

.
8.

  N
A

 -
 N

ot
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

.
9.

  N
E

 -
 N

ot
 e

va
lu

at
ed

.
10

.  
N

LV
 -

 N
ot

 li
ke

ly
 to

 v
ol

at
ili

ze
.

11
.  

N
LL

 -
 N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 to
 le

ac
h.

12
.  

* 
=

 G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

w
as

 c
al

cu
la

te
d 

fo
r 

th
e 

in
di

ca
te

d 
m

et
al

s 
us

in
g 

th
e 

E
G

LE
 s

pr
ea

ds
he

et
 fo

r 
ca

lc
ul

at
in

g 
G

S
I. 

 A
 d

ef
au

lt 
w

at
er

 h
ar

dn
es

s 
va

lu
e 

of
 1

50
 m

g/
kg

 a
s 

C
aC

O
3 

w
as

 u
se

d 
to

 
   

   
ca

lc
ul

at
e 

G
S

I. 
   

R
es

ul
ts

 a
re

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 fo

r 
su

rf
ac

e 
w

at
er

 r
ec

ei
vi

ng
 b

od
ie

s 
no

t p
ro

te
ct

ed
 a

s 
a 

dr
in

ki
ng

 w
at

er
 s

ou
rc

e.
13

.  
Ita

lic
iz

ed
 -

 th
e 

re
sp

ec
tiv

e 
cr

ite
rio

n 
w

as
 b

el
ow

 th
e 

S
ta

te
w

id
e 

D
ef

au
lt 

B
ac

kg
ro

un
d 

Le
ve

l (
S

D
B

L)
 a

nd
 th

er
ef

or
e 

th
e 

va
lu

e 
de

fa
ul

te
d 

to
 th

e 
S

D
B

L 
va

lu
e.

14
.  

**
 -

 T
ot

al
 c

hr
om

iu
m

 r
es

ul
ts

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 tr
iv

al
en

t c
hr

om
iu

m
 c

rit
er

ia
 b

ec
au

se
 h

ex
av

al
en

t c
hr

om
iu

m
 w

as
 a

na
ly

ze
d 

an
d 

no
t m

ea
su

re
d 

ab
ov

e 
th

e 
la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
lim

it 
in

 th
e 

so
il 

sa
m

pl
e 

th
at

 h
ad

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t c

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
n.

15
.  

C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

al
so

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

, a
nd

 fo
un

d 
to

 b
e 

be
lo

w
, t

he
 a

m
bi

en
t a

nd
 in

do
or

 a
ir 

cr
ite

ria
 a

nd
 th

e 
so

il 
sa

tu
ra

tio
n 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n 
sc

re
en

in
g 

le
ve

ls
. 

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 

D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 W
at

er
 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 C
ri

te
ri

a
R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

o
il

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 D

ir
ec

t 
C

o
n

ta
ct

 C
ri

te
ri

a

P
ar

t 
20

1 
G

en
er

ic
 C

le
an

u
p

 C
ri

te
ri

a

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

S
am

p
le

 Id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

D
ep

th
 (

fe
et

)
D

at
e 

C
o

lle
ct

ed

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 
W

at
er

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 
S

u
rf

ac
e 

W
at

er
 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

8
1

6
0

4
.0

0
.0

0
1

P
A

G
E

 3
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 In

d
o

o
r 

A
ir

 
P

at
h

w
a

y 
(V

IA
P

) 

S
B

1
4

S
B

15
S

B
16

S
B

18
S

B
1

9
S

S
1

S
S

2

2
' -

 3
.5

'
2.

5'
 -

 4
'

2'
-3

.5
'

0.
5'

-1
.5

'
1.

5
'-

2.
5'

0
' -

 0
.5

'
0

' -
 0

.5
'

05
/1

8/
2

0
05

/1
8/

20
5/

19
/2

02
0

05
/2

0/
20

0
5/

20
/2

0
06

/0
2

/2
0

06
/0

2/
20

V
O

C
s

N
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

9
1-

2
0-

3
N

A
3

5,
00

0
1

00
,0

00
73

0
16

,0
00

,0
00

52
,0

00
,0

00
67

49
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

N
E

N
E

T
e

tr
ac

hl
o

ro
et

hy
le

n
e

12
7-

1
8-

4
N

A
10

0
10

0
1,

20
0

20
0,

00
0

93
0,

00
0

6.
2

<6
0

<
75

<
62

<
5

2
<

53
N

E
N

E
T

o
lu

e
ne

10
8-

8
8-

3
N

A
1

6,
00

0
1

6,
00

0
5,

40
0

50
,0

00
,0

00
1

60
,0

00
,0

00
3

,7
00

64
<

75
8

3
<

5
2

<
53

N
E

N
E

X
yl

e
ne

s
13

30
-2

0
-7

N
A

5,
60

0
5,

6
00

98
0

4
10

,0
00

,0
00

1
,0

00
,0

00
,0

00
2

80
21

0
<

15
0

<
15

0
<

1
50

<
15

0
N

E
N

E
O

th
er

 A
an

ly
ze

d 
V

O
C

s
C

S
N

A
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

N
E

N
E

S
V

O
C

s
, P

A
H

s
A

ce
n

ap
h

th
en

e
8

3-
3

2-
9

N
A

3
00

,0
00

8
80

,0
00

8,
70

0
41

,0
00

,0
00

1
30

,0
00

,0
00

25
0,

00
0

<
33

0
46

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

A
ce

n
ap

h
th

yl
en

e
20

8-
9

6-
8

N
A

5,
90

0
1

7,
00

0
ID

1,
60

0,
00

0
5,

20
0,

00
0

ID
<

33
0

<
33

0
85

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
A

n
th

ra
ce

ne
12

0-
1

2-
7

N
A

4
1,

00
0

4
1,

00
0

ID
2

30
,0

00
,0

00
7

30
,0

00
,0

00
13

,0
00

,0
00

<
33

0
1,

6
00

1,
2

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
B

e
nz

o(
a)

a
nt

hr
ac

en
e

5
6-

5
5-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
80

,0
00

16
0,

00
0

<
33

0
3,

7
00

6,
3

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
75

0
69

0
B

e
nz

o(
a)

p
yr

en
e

5
0-

3
2-

8
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2
,0

00
8

,0
00

N
A

<
33

0
3,

4
00

5,
5

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
50

0
83

0
B

e
nz

o(
b)

flu
o

ra
n

th
e

ne
20

5-
9

9-
2

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
N

A
<

33
0

5,
1

00
7,

9
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

1,
00

0
1

,3
00

B
e

nz
o(

g,
h,

i)
pe

ry
le

ne
19

1-
2

4-
2

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2,

50
0,

00
0

7,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

1,
8

00
5,

3
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

34
0

62
0

B
e

nz
o(

k)
flu

or
a

nt
he

ne
20

7-
0

8-
9

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
20

0,
00

0
80

0,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

2,
0

00
2,

8
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
36

0
C

hr
ys

en
e

21
8-

0
1-

9
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2,
00

0,
00

0
8,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
3,

8
00

5,
5

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
60

0
53

0
D

ib
e

nz
o(

a,
h)

an
th

ra
ce

n
e

5
3-

7
0-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2
,0

00
8

,0
00

N
A

<
33

0
48

0
1,

2
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

F
lu

or
an

th
en

e
20

6-
4

4-
0

N
A

7
30

,0
00

7
30

,0
00

5,
50

0
46

,0
00

,0
00

1
30

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

<
33

0
1

0,
00

0
1

1,
00

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
1,

50
0

1
,1

00
F

lu
or

en
e

8
6-

7
3-

7
N

A
3

90
,0

00
8

90
,0

00
5,

30
0

27
,0

00
,0

00
87

,0
00

,0
00

47
0,

00
0

<
33

0
54

0
50

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
In

de
no

(1
,2

,3
-c

d
)p

yr
en

e
19

3-
3

9-
5

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
N

A
<

33
0

2,
1

00
4,

8
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

37
0

60
0

2
-M

e
th

yl
na

ph
th

al
en

e
9

1-
5

7-
6

N
A

5
7,

00
0

1
70

,0
00

4,
20

0
8,

10
0,

00
0

26
,0

00
,0

00
1

,7
00

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
P

h
en

a
nt

hr
en

e
8

5-
0

1-
8

N
A

5
6,

00
0

1
60

,0
00

2,
10

0
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
1

,7
00

<
33

0
7,

0
00

4,
5

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
74

0
34

0
P

yr
en

e
12

9-
0

0-
0

N
A

4
80

,0
00

4
80

,0
00

ID
29

,0
00

,0
00

84
,0

00
,0

00
25

,0
00

,0
00

<
33

0
7,

8
00

9,
6

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
1,

10
0

97
0

P
C

B
s

P
C

B
, A

ro
cl

or
 1

25
4

1
10

97
-6

9-
1

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

ID
<

10
0

N
E

<
10

0
N

E
<

10
0

N
E

N
E

T
o

ta
l P

C
B

s
13

36
-3

6
-3

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
4

,0
00

16
,0

00
ID

<
10

0
N

E
<

10
0

N
E

<
10

0
N

E
N

E
M

e
ta

ls
A

rs
e

ni
c

74
40

-3
8

-2
5,

8
00

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
7

,6
00

37
,0

00
N

A
3,

30
0

7,
2

00
N

E
3

,9
00

N
E

8,
40

0
12

,0
00

B
a

riu
m

 
74

40
-3

9
-3

75
,0

00
1,

3
00

,0
00

1,
3

00
,0

00
44

0,
00

0 
*

37
,0

00
,0

00
1

30
,0

00
,0

00
N

A
17

,0
00

4
6,

00
0

N
E

31
,0

0
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
ad

m
iu

m
 

74
40

-4
3

-9
1,

2
00

6,
00

0
6,

0
00

3
,6

00
 *

55
0,

00
0

2,
10

0,
00

0
N

A
56

64
0

N
E

76
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
om

iu
m

, T
ot

al
**

74
40

-4
7

-3
1

8,
00

0 
(t

ot
a

l)
3

0,
00

0
3

0,
00

0
18

0,
00

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
8,

50
0

1
2,

00
0

N
E

6
,4

00
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
om

iu
m

 V
I

1
85

40
-2

9-
9

N
A

3
0,

00
0

3
0,

00
0

3,
30

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

op
pe

r 
74

40
-5

0
-8

32
,0

00
5,

8
00

,0
00

5,
8

00
,0

00
75

,0
00

 *
20

,0
00

,0
00

73
,0

00
,0

00
N

A
8,

50
0

4
8,

00
0

N
E

29
,0

0
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

L
ea

d
, T

ot
al

74
39

-9
2

-1
21

,0
00

7
00

,0
00

7
00

,0
00

5
,1

00
,0

00
 *

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

4,
20

0
12

0
,0

00
N

E
15

,0
0

0
N

E
59

,0
00

39
,0

00
L

ea
d

, C
oa

rs
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2
-1

21
,0

00
7

00
,0

00
7

00
,0

00
5

,1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
1

0,
10

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
L

ea
d

, F
in

e
 F

ra
ct

io
n

74
39

-9
2

-1
21

,0
00

7
00

,0
00

7
00

,0
00

5
,1

00
,0

00
 *

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

15
1

,0
00

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

L
ea

d
, T

ot
al

 (
C

a
lc

u
la

te
d

)
74

39
-9

2
-1

21
,0

00
7

00
,0

00
7

00
,0

00
5

,1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
1

1,
40

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
M

e
rc

ur
y

74
39

-9
7

-6
1

30
1,

70
0

1,
7

00
13

0
16

0,
00

0
58

0,
00

0
22

<5
0

<
50

N
E

<
5

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ic
ke

l 
74

40
-0

2
-0

20
,0

00
1

00
,0

00
1

00
,0

00
76

,0
00

 *
40

,0
00

,0
00

1
50

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

6,
70

0
1

2,
00

0
N

E
12

,0
0

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
S

e
le

ni
um

 
77

82
-4

9
-2

4
10

4,
00

0
4,

0
00

41
0

2,
60

0,
00

0
9,

60
0,

00
0

N
A

<
20

0
31

0
N

E
<

2
00

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
ilv

er
 

74
40

-2
2

-4
1,

0
00

4,
50

0
1

3,
00

0
1,

00
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
10

0
<

10
0

N
E

<
1

00
N

E
N

E
N

E
Z

in
c 

74
40

-6
6

-6
47

,0
00

2,
4

00
,0

00
5,

0
00

,0
00

1
70

,0
00

1
70

,0
00

,0
00

6
30

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

17
,0

00
12

0
,0

00
N

E
17

,0
0

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ot
es

:
1

.  
C

on
ce

n
tr

at
io

ns
 r

ep
or

te
d 

in
 m

ic
ro

gr
a

m
s 

pe
r 

ki
lo

g
ra

m
 (

µ
g/

kg
).

2
.  

A
n

al
yt

ic
a

l r
es

ul
ts

 c
o

m
pa

re
d

 to
 th

e 
D

ec
em

b
er

 3
0,

 2
0

13
 P

ro
m

u
lg

a
te

d 
C

le
an

up
 C

rit
e

ria
, R

es
id

en
tia

l a
n

d/
or

 N
o

nr
e

si
d

en
tia

l P
ar

t 2
01

 G
en

e
ric

 C
le

a
nu

p 
C

ri
te

ria
 a

nd
 S

cr
ee

n
in

g
 L

ev
e

ls
 (

G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 C
rit

e
ria

 U
pd

at
ed

 J
un

e 
25

, 2
01

8)
; a

n
d 

E
G

LE
's

 M
ay

 1
4

, 2
02

0
, D

ra
ft 

R
es

id
en

tia
l V

ol
a

til
iz

at
io

n
 to

 In
d

oo
r 

A
ir 

P
a

th
w

a
y 

(V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

ee
n

in
g

 L
ev

e
ls

.
3

.  
R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
e

ed
in

g 
on

e 
or

 m
or

e 
P

ar
t 2

01
 c

rit
e

ria
 a

re
 s

ha
de

d
 o

ra
ng

e,
 a

s 
a

re
 th

e 
cr

ite
ri

a 
ex

ce
ed

ed
. R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
e

ed
in

g 
on

ly
 E

G
L

E
 V

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n 

to
 In

do
or

 A
ir

 P
at

hw
ay

 c
rit

er
ia

 a
re

 s
h

ad
ed

 y
el

lo
w

, a
s 

ar
e 

th
e

 c
rit

e
ria

.
4

.  
R

ef
er

 to
 th

e 
an

al
yt

ic
a

l r
e

po
rt

 f
or

 th
e 

fu
ll 

lis
t o

f a
n

al
yt

es
.

5
.  

C
S

 -
 C

rit
er

io
n 

is
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

to
 in

di
vi

du
a

l c
o

ns
tit

u
en

t.
6

.  
<

R
L 

- 
A

n
al

yt
ic

a
l r

e
su

lt 
w

as
 b

el
o

w
 la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
lim

it.
 

7
.  

ID
 -

 In
su

ff
ic

ie
nt

 d
a

ta
 to

 d
e

ve
lo

p 
cr

ite
ria

.
8

.  
N

A
 -

 N
ot

 a
pp

lic
a

bl
e

.
9

.  
N

E
 -

 N
ot

 e
va

lu
at

e
d.

1
0.

  N
L

V
 -

 N
o

t l
ik

el
y 

to
 v

ol
at

ili
ze

.
1

1.
  N

L
L 

- 
N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 to
 le

ac
h.

1
2.

  *
 =

 G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 w
as

 c
a

lc
u

la
te

d
 fo

r 
th

e 
in

di
ca

te
d 

m
et

al
s 

us
in

g 
th

e 
E

G
L

E
 s

p
re

a
ds

he
e

t f
or

 c
a

lc
ul

a
tin

g
 G

S
I. 

 A
 d

ef
au

lt 
w

a
te

r 
ha

rd
ne

ss
 v

a
lu

e 
o

f 1
50

 m
g

/k
g

 a
s 

C
aC

O
3

 w
as

 u
se

d 
to

 
   

   
ca

lc
ul

a
te

 G
S

I. 
   

R
es

ul
ts

 a
re

 p
re

se
n

te
d 

fo
r 

su
rf

ac
e 

w
at

er
 r

ec
ei

vi
n

g 
bo

di
e

s 
no

t p
ro

te
ct

e
d 

as
 a

 d
ri

nk
in

g 
w

at
e

r 
so

ur
ce

.
1

3.
  I

ta
lic

iz
ed

 -
 th

e 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

cr
ite

ri
on

 w
as

 b
el

o
w

 th
e

 S
ta

te
w

id
e

 D
e

fa
u

lt 
B

ac
kg

ro
u

nd
 L

ev
e

l (
S

D
B

L
) 

a
nd

 th
e

re
fo

re
 th

e
 v

al
ue

 d
ef

au
lte

d 
to

 th
e 

S
D

B
L 

va
lu

e.
1

4.
  *

* 
- 

T
o

ta
l c

h
ro

m
iu

m
 r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
p

ar
ed

 to
 tr

iv
al

e
nt

 c
h

ro
m

iu
m

 c
rit

er
ia

 b
e

ca
us

e 
he

xa
va

le
nt

 c
hr

o
m

iu
m

 w
as

 a
na

ly
ze

d
 a

nd
 n

ot
 m

e
as

u
re

d 
ab

ov
e

 th
e 

la
b

or
a

to
ry

 r
ep

o
rt

in
g

 li
m

it 
in

 th
e

 s
oi

l s
am

pl
e 

th
a

t h
ad

 th
e 

h
ig

he
st

 c
on

ce
n

tr
at

io
n

.
1

5.
  C

o
nc

e
nt

ra
tio

n
s 

w
e

re
 a

ls
o

 c
o

m
pa

re
d

 to
, a

nd
 fo

un
d

 to
 b

e 
b

el
ow

, t
he

 a
m

bi
e

nt
 a

n
d 

in
d

oo
r 

ai
r 

cr
ite

ri
a 

a
nd

 th
e

 s
o

il 
sa

tu
ra

tio
n 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n
 s

cr
ee

ni
n

g 
le

ve
ls

. 

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 

D
ri

n
k

in
g

 W
at

er
 

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

N
o

n
re

s
id

en
ti

al
 D

ir
e

ct
 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a

R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l S
o

il

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

S
a

m
p

le
 Id

e
n

ti
fi

c
at

io
n

D
ep

th
 (

fe
et

)
D

a
te

 C
o

lle
c

te
d

P
ar

t 
20

1 
G

e
n

er
ic

 C
le

a
n

u
p

 C
ri

te
ri

a

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 
W

a
te

r 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

ac
e 

W
at

er
 

In
te

rf
a

ce
 P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
al

 D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

8
1

6
0

4
.0

0
.0

0
1

P
A

G
E

 4
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
at

io
n

 
to

 In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

P
at

h
w

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
S

3
S

S
4

S
S

5
S

S
6

S
S

7
S

S
8

S
S

9
S

S
10

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

06
/0

2/
20

05
/2

0/
20

06
/0

2/
20

06
/0

2/
20

06
/0

2/
20

06
/0

2/
20

05
/2

0/
20

05
/2

0/
20

V
O

C
s

N
ap

ht
ha

le
ne

91
-2

0-
3

N
A

35
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
73

0
16

,0
00

,0
00

52
,0

00
,0

00
67

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

T
et

ra
ch

lo
ro

et
hy

le
ne

12
7-

18
-4

N
A

10
0

10
0

1,
20

0
20

0,
00

0
93

0,
00

0
6.

2
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
T

ol
ue

ne
10

8-
88

-3
N

A
16

,0
00

16
,0

00
5,

40
0

50
,0

00
,0

00
16

0,
00

0,
00

0
3,

70
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

X
yl

en
es

13
30

-2
0-

7
N

A
5,

60
0

5,
60

0
98

0
41

0,
00

0,
00

0
1,

00
0,

00
0,

00
0

28
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

O
th

er
 A

an
ly

ze
d 

V
O

C
s

C
S

N
A

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
V

O
C

s,
 P

A
H

s
A

ce
na

ph
th

en
e

83
-3

2-
9

N
A

30
0,

00
0

88
0,

00
0

8,
70

0
41

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

25
0,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

A
ce

na
ph

th
yl

en
e

20
8-

96
-8

N
A

5,
90

0
17

,0
00

ID
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
ID

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

A
nt

hr
ac

en
e

12
0-

12
-7

N
A

41
,0

00
41

,0
00

ID
23

0,
00

0,
00

0
73

0,
00

0,
00

0
13

,0
00

,0
00

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

B
en

zo
(a

)a
nt

hr
ac

en
e

56
-5

5-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
,0

00
80

,0
00

16
0,

00
0

<
35

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
57

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

1,
20

0
B

en
zo

(a
)p

yr
en

e
50

-3
2-

8
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

00
0

8,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

50
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
84

0
B

en
zo

(b
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
5-

99
-2

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
,0

00
80

,0
00

N
A

46
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

95
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
1,

50
0

B
en

zo
(g

,h
,i)

pe
ry

le
ne

19
1-

24
-2

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
50

0,
00

0
7,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
59

0
B

en
zo

(k
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
7-

08
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

20
0,

00
0

80
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
50

0
C

hr
ys

en
e

21
8-

01
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

2,
00

0,
00

0
8,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
58

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

1,
10

0
D

ib
en

zo
(a

,h
)a

nt
hr

ac
en

e
53

-7
0-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
2,

00
0

8,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
F

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
6-

44
-0

N
A

73
0,

00
0

73
0,

00
0

5,
50

0
46

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
1,

20
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
2,

60
0

F
lu

or
en

e
86

-7
3-

7
N

A
39

0,
00

0
89

0,
00

0
5,

30
0

27
,0

00
,0

00
87

,0
00

,0
00

47
0,

00
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

In
de

no
(1

,2
,3

-c
d)

py
re

ne
19

3-
39

-5
N

A
N

LL
N

LL
N

LL
20

,0
00

80
,0

00
N

A
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
64

0
2-

M
et

hy
ln

ap
ht

ha
le

ne
91

-5
7-

6
N

A
57

,0
00

17
0,

00
0

4,
20

0
8,

10
0,

00
0

26
,0

00
,0

00
1,

70
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

P
he

na
nt

hr
en

e
85

-0
1-

8
N

A
56

,0
00

16
0,

00
0

2,
10

0
1,

60
0,

00
0

5,
20

0,
00

0
1,

70
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
47

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

1,
30

0
P

yr
en

e
12

9-
00

-0
N

A
48

0,
00

0
48

0,
00

0
ID

29
,0

00
,0

00
84

,0
00

,0
00

25
,0

00
,0

00
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

90
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
2,

10
0

P
C

B
s

P
C

B
, A

ro
cl

or
 1

25
4

11
09

7-
69

-1
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
ID

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

11
0

16
0

T
ot

al
 P

C
B

s
13

36
-3

6-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
LL

N
LL

4,
00

0
16

,0
00

ID
<

10
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

11
0

16
0

M
et

al
s

A
rs

en
ic

74
40

-3
8-

2
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
7,

60
0

37
,0

00
N

A
6,

90
0

86
0

16
,0

00
11

,0
00

9,
90

0
4,

10
0

2,
10

0
1,

70
0

B
ar

iu
m

 
74

40
-3

9-
3

75
,0

00
1,

30
0,

00
0

1,
30

0,
00

0
44

0,
00

0 
*

37
,0

00
,0

00
13

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

ad
m

iu
m

 
74

40
-4

3-
9

1,
20

0
6,

00
0

6,
00

0
3,

60
0 

*
55

0,
00

0
2,

10
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
hr

om
iu

m
, T

ot
al

**
74

40
-4

7-
3

18
,0

00
 (

to
ta

l)
30

,0
00

30
,0

00
18

0,
00

0
2,

50
0,

00
0

9,
20

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
om

iu
m

 V
I

18
54

0-
29

-9
N

A
30

,0
00

30
,0

00
3,

30
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

20
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
op

pe
r 

74
40

-5
0-

8
32

,0
00

5,
80

0,
00

0
5,

80
0,

00
0

75
,0

00
 *

20
,0

00
,0

00
73

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

, T
ot

al
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0,
00

0
5,

10
0,

00
0 

*
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
46

,0
00

4,
30

0
3,

70
0,

00
0

11
,0

00
9,

90
0

4,
10

0
24

,0
00

25
,0

00
Le

ad
, C

oa
rs

e 
F

ra
ct

io
n

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

4,
51

0,
00

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
Le

ad
, F

in
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0,
00

0
5,

10
0,

00
0 

*
40

0,
00

0
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
1,

59
0,

00
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

, T
ot

al
 (

C
al

cu
la

te
d)

74
39

-9
2-

1
21

,0
00

70
0,

00
0

70
0,

00
0

5,
10

0,
00

0 
*

40
0,

00
0

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

4,
49

0,
00

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
M

er
cu

ry
74

39
-9

7-
6

13
0

1,
70

0
1,

70
0

13
0

16
0,

00
0

58
0,

00
0

22
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ic
ke

l 
74

40
-0

2-
0

20
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
10

0,
00

0
76

,0
00

 *
40

,0
00

,0
00

15
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
el

en
iu

m
 

77
82

-4
9-

2
41

0
4,

00
0

4,
00

0
41

0
2,

60
0,

00
0

9,
60

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
S

ilv
er

 
74

40
-2

2-
4

1,
00

0
4,

50
0

13
,0

00
1,

00
0

2,
50

0,
00

0
9,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

Z
in

c 
74

40
-6

6-
6

47
,0

00
2,

40
0,

00
0

5,
00

0,
00

0
17

0,
00

0
17

0,
00

0,
00

0
63

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ot
es

:
1.

  C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 r

ep
or

te
d 

in
 m

ic
ro

gr
am

s 
pe

r 
ki

lo
gr

am
 (

µ
g/

kg
).

2.
  A

na
ly

tic
al

 r
es

ul
ts

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 th
e 

D
ec

em
be

r 
30

, 2
01

3 
P

ro
m

ul
ga

te
d 

C
le

an
up

 C
rit

er
ia

, R
es

id
en

tia
l a

nd
/o

r 
N

on
re

si
de

nt
ia

l P
ar

t 2
01

 G
en

er
ic

 C
le

an
up

 C
rit

er
ia

 a
nd

 S
cr

ee
ni

ng
 L

ev
el

s 
(G

S
I P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
C

rit
er

ia
 U

pd
at

ed
 J

un
e 

25
, 2

01
8)

; a
nd

 E
G

LE
's

 M
ay

 1
4,

 2
02

0,
 D

ra
ft 

R
es

id
en

tia
l V

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n 

to
 In

do
or

 A
ir 

P
at

hw
ay

 (
V

IA
P

) 
S

cr
ee

ni
ng

 L
ev

el
s.

3.
  R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
ee

di
ng

 o
ne

 o
r 

m
or

e 
cr

ite
ria

 a
re

 s
ha

de
d,

 a
s 

ar
e 

th
e 

cr
ite

ria
 e

xc
ee

de
d.

4.
  R

ef
er

 to
 th

e 
an

al
yt

ic
al

 r
ep

or
t f

or
 th

e 
fu

ll 
lis

t o
f a

na
ly

te
s.

5.
  C

S
 -

 C
rit

er
io

n 
is

 s
pe

ci
fic

 to
 in

di
vi

du
al

 c
on

st
itu

en
t.

6.
  <

R
L 

- 
A

na
ly

tic
al

 r
es

ul
t w

as
 b

el
ow

 la
bo

ra
to

ry
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

lim
it.

 
7.

  I
D

 -
 In

su
ffi

ci
en

t d
at

a 
to

 d
ev

el
op

 c
rit

er
ia

.
8.

  N
A

 -
 N

ot
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

.
9.

  N
E

 -
 N

ot
 e

va
lu

at
ed

.
10

.  
N

LV
 -

 N
ot

 li
ke

ly
 to

 v
ol

at
ili

ze
.

11
.  

N
LL

 -
 N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 to
 le

ac
h.

12
.  

* 
=

 G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

w
as

 c
al

cu
la

te
d 

fo
r 

th
e 

in
di

ca
te

d 
m

et
al

s 
us

in
g 

th
e 

E
G

LE
 s

pr
ea

ds
he

et
 fo

r 
ca

lc
ul

at
in

g 
G

S
I. 

 A
 d

ef
au

lt 
w

at
er

 h
ar

dn
es

s 
va

lu
e 

of
 1

50
 m

g/
kg

 a
s 

C
aC

O
3 

w
as

 u
se

d 
to

 
   

   
ca

lc
ul

at
e 

G
S

I. 
   

R
es

ul
ts

 a
re

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 fo

r 
su

rf
ac

e 
w

at
er

 r
ec

ei
vi

ng
 b

od
ie

s 
no

t p
ro

te
ct

ed
 a

s 
a 

dr
in

ki
ng

 w
at

er
 s

ou
rc

e.
13

.  
Ita

lic
iz

ed
 -

 th
e 

re
sp

ec
tiv

e 
cr

ite
rio

n 
w

as
 b

el
ow

 th
e 

S
ta

te
w

id
e 

D
ef

au
lt 

B
ac

kg
ro

un
d 

Le
ve

l (
S

D
B

L)
 a

nd
 th

er
ef

or
e 

th
e 

va
lu

e 
de

fa
ul

te
d 

to
 th

e 
S

D
B

L 
va

lu
e.

14
.  

**
 -

 T
ot

al
 c

hr
om

iu
m

 r
es

ul
ts

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 tr
iv

al
en

t c
hr

om
iu

m
 c

rit
er

ia
 b

ec
au

se
 h

ex
av

al
en

t c
hr

om
iu

m
 w

as
 a

na
ly

ze
d 

an
d 

no
t m

ea
su

re
d 

ab
ov

e 
th

e 
la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
lim

it 
in

 th
e 

so
il 

sa
m

pl
e 

th
at

 h
ad

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t c

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
n.

15
.  

C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

al
so

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

, a
nd

 fo
un

d 
to

 b
e 

be
lo

w
, t

he
 a

m
bi

en
t a

nd
 in

do
or

 a
ir 

cr
ite

ria
 a

nd
 th

e 
so

il 
sa

tu
ra

tio
n 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n 
sc

re
en

in
g 

le
ve

ls
. 

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 

D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 W
at

er
 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 C
ri

te
ri

a

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

al
 

D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

o
il

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

S
am

p
le

 Id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

D
ep

th
 (

fe
et

)
D

at
e 

C
o

lle
ct

ed

P
ar

t 
20

1 
G

en
er

ic
 C

le
an

u
p

 C
ri

te
ri

a

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 
W

at
er

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 
S

u
rf

ac
e 

W
at

er
 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

c
t 

N
o

. 
0

8
1

6
0

4
.0

0
.0

0
1

P
A

G
E

 5
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
at

io
n

 
to

 In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

P
at

h
w

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
S

11
S

S
1

2
S

S
13

S
S

14
S

S
1

5
S

S
16

S
S

1
7

S
S

18

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0
' -

 0
.5

'
0

' -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0

' -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0
6/

02
/2

0
05

/2
0/

20
05

/2
0

/2
0

05
/2

0/
20

0
6/

02
/2

0
06

/0
2/

2
0

05
/2

0/
20

0
6/

02
/2

0

V
O

C
s

N
ap

h
th

al
e

ne
9

1-
2

0-
3

N
A

35
,0

00
10

0
,0

00
7

30
16

,0
00

,0
00

5
2,

00
0,

00
0

6
7

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

T
e

tr
ac

hl
o

ro
e

th
yl

en
e

12
7

-1
8-

4
N

A
10

0
10

0
1,

20
0

20
0,

00
0

93
0

,0
00

6
.2

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

T
o

lu
en

e
10

8
-8

8-
3

N
A

16
,0

00
1

6,
0

00
5,

40
0

50
,0

00
,0

00
16

0,
00

0,
00

0
3,

70
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

X
yl

en
es

13
30

-2
0-

7
N

A
5

,6
00

5,
6

00
9

80
41

0,
0

00
,0

00
1,

0
00

,0
00

,0
00

28
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

O
th

er
 A

a
nl

yz
ed

 V
O

C
s

C
S

N
A

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
V

O
C

s
, P

A
H

s
A

ce
na

ph
th

en
e

8
3-

3
2-

9
N

A
30

0,
00

0
88

0
,0

00
8,

70
0

41
,0

00
,0

00
13

0,
00

0,
00

0
2

50
,0

00
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
A

ce
na

ph
th

yl
en

e
20

8
-9

6-
8

N
A

5
,9

00
1

7,
0

00
ID

1
,6

0
0,

00
0

5
,2

00
,0

00
ID

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

A
nt

h
ra

ce
n

e
12

0
-1

2-
7

N
A

41
,0

00
4

1,
0

00
ID

23
0,

0
00

,0
00

73
0,

00
0,

00
0

1
3,

00
0,

00
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

B
en

zo
(a

)a
nt

hr
ac

en
e

5
6-

5
5-

3
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
8

0,
00

0
1

60
,0

00
<

3
30

77
0

36
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(a
)p

yr
en

e
5

0-
3

2-
8

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

,0
00

8,
0

00
N

A
<

3
30

74
0

40
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(b
)f

lu
or

an
th

en
e

20
5

-9
9-

2
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
8

0,
00

0
N

A
<

3
30

1,
3

00
66

0
<

3
30

5
30

<
33

0
<

3
30

5
60

B
en

zo
(g

,h
,i)

p
er

yl
e

ne
19

1
-2

4-
2

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

,5
0

0,
00

0
7

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

<
3

30
47

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
B

en
zo

(k
)f

lu
o

ra
n

th
en

e
20

7
-0

8-
9

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
20

0,
00

0
80

0
,0

00
N

A
<

3
30

36
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

C
hr

ys
en

e
21

8
-0

1-
9

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

,0
0

0,
00

0
8

,0
00

,0
00

N
A

<
3

30
70

0
39

0
<

3
30

3
40

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
D

ib
en

zo
(a

,h
)a

nt
hr

ac
en

e
5

3-
7

0-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

,0
00

8,
0

00
N

A
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
F

lu
or

a
nt

he
ne

20
6

-4
4-

0
N

A
73

0,
00

0
73

0
,0

00
5,

50
0

46
,0

00
,0

00
13

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
<

3
30

1,
8

00
80

0
<

3
30

8
10

<
33

0
<

3
30

6
20

F
lu

or
e

ne
8

6-
7

3-
7

N
A

39
0,

00
0

89
0

,0
00

5,
30

0
27

,0
00

,0
00

8
7,

00
0,

00
0

4
70

,0
00

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

In
de

n
o(

1,
2,

3-
cd

)p
yr

en
e

19
3

-3
9-

5
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
8

0,
00

0
N

A
<

3
30

52
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

2-
M

et
h

yl
na

p
ht

ha
le

n
e

9
1-

5
7-

6
N

A
57

,0
00

17
0

,0
00

4,
20

0
8

,1
0

0,
00

0
2

6,
00

0,
00

0
1,

70
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

P
he

na
nt

hr
en

e
8

5-
0

1-
8

N
A

56
,0

00
16

0
,0

00
2,

10
0

1
,6

0
0,

00
0

5
,2

00
,0

00
1,

70
0

<
3

30
77

0
38

0
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

33
0

P
yr

e
ne

12
9

-0
0-

0
N

A
48

0,
00

0
48

0
,0

00
ID

29
,0

00
,0

00
8

4,
00

0,
00

0
2

5,
00

0,
00

0
<

3
30

1,
4

00
62

0
<

3
30

6
40

<
33

0
<

3
30

4
80

P
C

B
s

P
C

B
, A

ro
cl

or
 1

25
4

1
10

9
7-

69
-1

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

ID
<

1
20

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

<
1

00
<

10
0

T
o

ta
l P

C
B

s
13

36
-3

6-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
4

,0
00

1
6,

00
0

ID
<

1
20

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

<
1

00
<

10
0

M
e

ta
ls

A
rs

en
ic

74
40

-3
8-

2
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
7

,6
00

3
7,

00
0

N
A

8,
0

00
4,

6
00

4,
20

0
3

,1
00

4,
3

00
5,

10
0

4
,3

00
40

,0
00

B
ar

iu
m

 
74

40
-3

9-
3

75
,0

00
1

,3
00

,0
0

0
1

,3
00

,0
00

44
0,

00
0 

*
37

,0
00

,0
00

13
0,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
ad

m
iu

m
 

74
40

-4
3-

9
1,

20
0

6
,0

00
6,

0
00

3
,6

00
 *

55
0,

00
0

2
,1

00
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
o

m
iu

m
, T

ot
al

**
74

40
-4

7-
3

18
,0

00
 (

to
ta

l)
30

,0
00

3
0,

0
00

18
0,

00
0

2
,5

0
0,

00
0

9
,2

00
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
o

m
iu

m
 V

I
1

85
4

0-
29

-9
N

A
30

,0
00

3,
3

00
2,

50
0,

00
0

30
,0

00
9

,2
00

,0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
op

p
er

 
74

40
-5

0-
8

32
,0

00
5

,8
00

,0
0

0
5

,8
00

,0
00

7
5,

00
0 

*
20

,0
00

,0
00

7
3,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

, T
ot

al
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0
,0

00
5,

1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0
,0

00
N

A
3

9,
00

0
7,

5
00

62
,0

00
1

4,
0

00
33

,0
00

24
,0

00
7

,2
00

27
0

,0
00

Le
ad

, C
oa

rs
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0
,0

00
5,

1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
27

2
,0

00
Le

ad
, F

in
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0
,0

00
5,

1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
26

3
,0

00
Le

ad
, T

ot
al

 (
C

al
cu

la
te

d)
74

39
-9

2-
1

21
,0

00
70

0,
00

0
70

0
,0

00
5,

1
00

,0
00

 *
40

0,
00

0
90

0
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
44

1
,0

00
M

e
rc

ur
y

74
39

-9
7-

6
1

30
1

,7
00

1,
7

00
13

0
16

0,
00

0
58

0
,0

00
2

2
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ic
ke

l 
74

40
-0

2-
0

20
,0

00
10

0,
00

0
10

0
,0

00
7

6,
00

0 
*

40
,0

00
,0

00
15

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
S

el
e

ni
u

m
 

77
82

-4
9-

2
4

10
4

,0
00

4,
0

00
41

0
2

,6
0

0,
00

0
9

,6
00

,0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
ilv

e
r 

74
40

-2
2-

4
1,

00
0

4
,5

00
1

3,
0

00
1,

00
0

2
,5

0
0,

00
0

9
,0

00
,0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
Z

in
c 

74
40

-6
6-

6
47

,0
00

2
,4

00
,0

0
0

5
,0

00
,0

00
1

70
,0

00
17

0,
0

00
,0

00
63

0,
00

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

ot
es

:
1.

  C
on

ce
n

tr
at

io
ns

 r
ep

o
rt

ed
 in

 m
ic

ro
gr

a
m

s 
p

er
 k

ilo
g

ra
m

 (
µ

g/
kg

).
2.

  A
na

ly
tic

a
l r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
pa

re
d

 to
 th

e 
D

ec
em

b
er

 3
0,

 2
01

3 
P

ro
m

u
lg

at
e

d 
C

le
an

up
 C

rit
er

ia
, R

es
id

en
tia

l a
n

d/
or

 N
on

re
si

de
nt

ia
l P

a
rt

 2
0

1 
G

e
ne

ric
 C

le
a

nu
p

 C
ri

te
ria

 a
nd

 S
cr

e
en

in
g 

L
ev

e
ls

 (
G

S
I P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
C

rit
er

ia
 U

pd
a

te
d 

Ju
n

e 
25

, 2
01

8
);

 a
n

d 
E

G
L

E
's

 M
a

y 
14

, 2
0

20
, D

ra
ft 

R
e

si
d

en
tia

l V
ol

a
til

iz
a

tio
n

 to
 In

d
oo

r 
A

ir 
P

at
h

w
a

y 
(V

IA
P

) 
S

cr
e

en
in

g 
L

ev
e

ls
.

3.
  R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
ee

di
n

g 
on

e 
or

 m
or

e
 c

ri
te

ria
 a

re
 s

ha
de

d,
 a

s 
a

re
 th

e 
cr

ite
ri

a 
ex

ce
ed

ed
.

4.
  R

ef
er

 to
 th

e
 a

na
ly

tic
a

l r
ep

or
t f

or
 th

e 
fu

ll 
lis

t o
f 

an
a

ly
te

s.
5.

  C
S

 -
 C

ri
te

rio
n 

is
 s

pe
ci

fic
 to

 in
di

vi
d

ua
l c

on
st

itu
e

nt
.

6.
  <

R
L 

- 
A

n
al

yt
ic

a
l r

es
ul

t w
as

 b
el

o
w

 la
b

or
a

to
ry

 r
ep

o
rt

in
g

 li
m

it.
 

7.
  I

D
 -

 In
su

ffi
ci

en
t d

at
a

 to
 d

ev
el

op
 c

ri
te

ria
.

8.
  N

A
 -

 N
o

t a
pp

lic
a

bl
e.

9.
  N

E
 -

 N
o

t e
va

lu
at

ed
.

10
.  

N
LV

 -
 N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 to
 v

o
la

til
iz

e.
11

.  
N

LL
 -

 N
o

t l
ik

el
y 

to
 le

ac
h.

12
.  

* 
=

 G
S

I P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

w
as

 c
al

cu
la

te
d 

fo
r 

th
e 

in
d

ic
a

te
d 

m
e

ta
ls

 u
si

n
g 

th
e

 E
G

LE
 s

pr
ea

d
sh

ee
t f

or
 c

al
cu

la
tin

g 
G

S
I. 

 A
 d

ef
au

lt 
w

at
e

r 
ha

rd
n

es
s 

va
lu

e 
o

f 1
5

0 
m

g
/k

g 
a

s 
C

aC
O

3 
w

as
 u

se
d 

to
 

   
   

ca
lc

ul
a

te
 G

S
I. 

   
R

e
su

lts
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
e

d 
fo

r 
su

rf
ac

e 
w

at
er

 r
ec

ei
vi

n
g 

bo
di

es
 n

o
t p

ro
te

ct
ed

 a
s 

a 
dr

in
ki

ng
 w

at
er

 s
ou

rc
e.

13
.  

Ita
lic

iz
ed

 -
 th

e 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

cr
ite

rio
n 

w
as

 b
el

o
w

 th
e

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

D
ef

au
lt 

B
a

ck
gr

ou
n

d 
Le

ve
l (

S
D

B
L

) 
an

d 
th

e
re

fo
re

 th
e 

va
lu

e
 d

ef
au

lte
d 

to
 th

e
 S

D
B

L 
va

lu
e.

14
.  

**
 -

 T
o

ta
l c

h
ro

m
iu

m
 r

es
u

lts
 c

om
p

ar
e

d 
to

 tr
iv

al
en

t c
hr

om
iu

m
 c

rit
er

ia
 b

e
ca

u
se

 h
ex

a
va

le
nt

 c
h

ro
m

iu
m

 w
as

 a
na

ly
ze

d 
a

nd
 n

ot
 m

ea
su

re
d

 a
bo

ve
 th

e
 la

b
or

a
to

ry
 r

e
po

rt
in

g
 li

m
it 

in
 th

e 
so

il 
sa

m
p

le
 th

a
t h

ad
 th

e 
hi

g
he

st
 c

o
nc

en
tr

at
io

n
.

15
.  

C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 w

e
re

 a
ls

o
 c

om
pa

re
d

 to
, a

nd
 fo

u
nd

 to
 b

e 
b

el
ow

, t
h

e 
a

m
bi

e
nt

 a
nd

 in
do

or
 a

ir 
cr

ite
ri

a 
an

d 
th

e
 s

oi
l s

at
ur

at
io

n
 c

o
nc

en
tr

at
io

n
 s

cr
ee

ni
ng

 le
ve

ls
. 

N
o

n
re

si
d

e
n

ti
al

 
D

ri
n

k
in

g
 W

at
er

 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

N
o

n
re

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

o
il

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

S
am

p
le

 Id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

D
ep

th
 (

fe
e

t)
D

at
e

 C
o

lle
ct

e
d

P
ar

t 
20

1 
G

e
n

er
ic

 C
le

a
n

u
p

 C
ri

te
ri

a

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

R
es

id
e

n
ti

a
l D

ri
n

k
in

g
 

W
at

er
 P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 
S

u
rf

ac
e

 W
at

er
 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a

R
e

si
d

en
ti

al
 D

ir
ec

t 
C

o
n

ta
ct

 C
ri

te
ri

a



T
A

B
L

E
 2

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

ro
je

ct
 N

o
. 

0
8

1
6

0
4

.0
0

.0
0

1

P
A

G
E

 6
 O

F
 6

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

liz
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

P
at

h
w

a
y 

(V
IA

P
) 

S
S

1
9

S
S

20
S

S
21

S
S

2
2

S
S

2
3

S
S

24
D

u
p

lic
at

e
S

S
2

5
D

u
p

lic
at

e
 S

S

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0'

 -
 0

.5
'

0'
 -

 0
.5

'
0

' -
 0

.5
'

0
' -

 0
.5

'
0

' -
 0

.5
'

S
S

24
 (

0
'-

0.
5'

)
0

' -
 0

.5
'

(0
' -

 0
.5

')

0
5

/2
0

/2
0

0
6/

02
/2

0
0

5/
2

0/
20

06
/0

2/
20

05
/2

0/
2

0
0

5/
20

/2
0

05
/2

0/
2

0
05

/2
0

/2
0

05
/2

0/
20

V
O

C
s

N
a

ph
th

a
le

ne
9

1
-2

0
-3

N
A

3
5,

00
0

10
0,

0
00

7
30

1
6,

0
00

,0
00

5
2,

00
0,

00
0

67
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
T

et
ra

ch
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne
1

27
-1

8
-4

N
A

1
00

10
0

1,
2

00
2

0
0,

0
00

93
0,

00
0

6.
2

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

T
ol

ue
ne

1
08

-8
8

-3
N

A
1

6,
00

0
16

,0
00

5,
4

00
5

0,
0

00
,0

00
1

60
,0

00
,0

0
0

3
,7

0
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

X
yl

e
ne

s
13

3
0-

2
0-

7
N

A
5,

6
00

5
,6

0
0

9
80

41
0,

00
0,

0
0

0
1,

0
00

,0
00

,0
00

2
80

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

O
th

e
r 

A
a

nl
yz

ed
 V

O
C

s
C

S
N

A
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
S

V
O

C
s,

 P
A

H
s

A
ce

na
ph

th
en

e
8

3
-3

2
-9

N
A

3
00

,0
0

0
88

0,
0

00
8,

7
00

4
1,

0
00

,0
00

1
30

,0
00

,0
0

0
25

0,
0

0
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
A

ce
na

ph
th

yl
e

ne
2

08
-9

6
-8

N
A

5,
9

00
17

,0
00

ID
1

,6
00

,0
0

0
5,

2
0

0,
0

00
ID

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
A

nt
hr

ac
en

e
1

20
-1

2
-7

N
A

4
1,

00
0

41
,0

00
ID

23
0,

00
0,

0
0

0
7

30
,0

00
,0

0
0

13
,0

00
,0

0
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
B

e
nz

o(
a)

a
nt

hr
ac

e
ne

5
6

-5
5

-3
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
8

0,
00

0
16

0,
0

0
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
49

0
6

40
<

33
0

6
40

B
e

nz
o(

a)
p

yr
e

ne
5

0
-3

2
-8

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

,0
0

0
8

,0
00

N
A

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
52

0
5

70
<

33
0

5
70

B
e

nz
o(

b)
flu

o
ra

nt
he

ne
2

05
-9

9
-2

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
20

,0
00

8
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
34

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

82
0

9
00

<
33

0
9

00
B

e
nz

o(
g,

h,
i)

pe
ry

le
ne

1
91

-2
4

-2
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2
,5

00
,0

0
0

7,
0

0
0,

0
00

N
A

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
35

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

B
e

nz
o(

k)
flu

o
ra

nt
he

ne
2

07
-0

8
-9

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
2

0
0,

0
00

80
0,

00
0

N
A

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
C

hr
ys

en
e

2
18

-0
1

-9
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2
,0

00
,0

0
0

8,
0

0
0,

0
00

N
A

<
33

0
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
41

0
5

10
<

33
0

5
10

D
ib

en
zo

(a
,h

)a
nt

hr
a

ce
ne

5
3

-7
0

-3
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

2
,0

0
0

8
,0

00
N

A
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

F
lu

o
ra

nt
he

ne
2

06
-4

4
-0

N
A

7
30

,0
0

0
73

0,
0

00
5,

5
00

4
6,

0
00

,0
00

1
30

,0
00

,0
0

0
N

A
<

33
0

40
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
88

0
1

,1
00

<
33

0
1,

1
00

F
lu

o
re

ne
8

6
-7

3
-7

N
A

3
90

,0
0

0
89

0,
0

00
5,

3
00

2
7,

0
00

,0
00

8
7,

00
0,

00
0

47
0,

0
0

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

In
d

en
o

(1
,2

,3
-c

d)
py

re
ne

1
93

-3
9

-5
N

A
N

LL
N

L
L

N
LL

20
,0

00
8

0,
00

0
N

A
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

35
0

3
50

<
33

0
3

50
2

-M
et

hy
ln

ap
ht

ha
le

ne
9

1
-5

7
-6

N
A

5
7,

00
0

17
0,

0
00

4,
2

00
8

,1
00

,0
0

0
2

6,
00

0,
00

0
1

,7
0

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

33
0

<
33

0
<

3
30

P
he

na
nt

hr
e

ne
8

5
-0

1
-8

N
A

5
6,

00
0

16
0,

0
00

2,
1

00
1

,6
00

,0
0

0
5,

2
0

0,
0

00
1

,7
0

0
<

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
3

30
<

33
0

<
33

0
5

20
<

33
0

5
20

P
yr

e
ne

1
29

-0
0

-0
N

A
4

80
,0

0
0

48
0,

0
00

ID
2

9,
0

00
,0

00
8

4,
00

0,
00

0
25

,0
00

,0
0

0
<

33
0

33
0

<
3

30
<

3
30

<
33

0
75

0
9

60
<

33
0

9
60

P
C

B
s

P
C

B
, A

ro
cl

or
 1

2
54

11
09

7-
6

9-
1

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

ID
N

E
<

1
00

<
1

00
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
T

ot
a

l P
C

B
s

13
3

6-
3

6-
3

N
A

N
LL

N
L

L
N

LL
4

,0
0

0
1

6,
00

0
ID

N
E

<
1

00
<

1
00

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

M
et

al
s

A
rs

e
ni

c
74

4
0-

3
8-

2
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
5,

80
0

5,
80

0
7

,6
0

0
3

7,
00

0
N

A
4,

9
00

3
,8

00
3

,6
0

0
3,

00
0

3,
80

0
3,

4
00

3
,6

00
3,

9
0

0
3,

6
00

B
a

ri
um

 
74

4
0-

3
9-

3
75

,0
00

1,
30

0,
00

0
1

,3
00

,0
00

44
0,

00
0 

*
3

7,
0

00
,0

00
1

30
,0

00
,0

0
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
a

dm
iu

m
 

74
4

0-
4

3-
9

1,
20

0
6,

0
00

6
,0

0
0

3
,6

00
 *

5
5

0,
0

00
2,

1
0

0,
0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
o

m
iu

m
, 

T
o

ta
l*

*
74

4
0-

4
7-

3
1

8,
0

0
0 

(t
ot

a
l)

3
0,

00
0

30
,0

00
18

0,
00

0
2

,5
00

,0
0

0
9,

2
0

0,
0

00
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

hr
o

m
iu

m
 V

I
18

54
0-

2
9-

9
N

A
3

0,
00

0
3

,3
0

0
2,

50
0,

0
0

0
30

,0
00

9,
2

0
0,

0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
o

pp
er

 
74

4
0-

5
0-

8
32

,0
00

5,
80

0,
00

0
5

,8
00

,0
00

7
5,

0
0

0 
*

2
0,

0
00

,0
00

7
3,

00
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

L
ea

d,
 T

o
ta

l
74

3
9-

9
2-

1
21

,0
00

7
00

,0
0

0
70

0,
0

00
5,

1
0

0,
0

00
 *

4
0

0,
0

00
90

0,
00

0
N

A
6,

9
00

2
6,

0
00

6
,3

0
0

15
,0

00
6,

30
0

5
0,

00
0

8
8,

0
0

0
5

9,
00

0
8

8,
00

0
L

ea
d,

 C
oa

rs
e 

F
ra

ct
io

n
74

3
9-

9
2-

1
21

,0
00

7
00

,0
0

0
70

0,
0

00
5,

1
0

0,
0

00
 *

4
0

0,
0

00
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
L

ea
d,

 F
in

e
 F

ra
ct

io
n

74
3

9-
9

2-
1

21
,0

00
7

00
,0

0
0

70
0,

0
00

5,
1

0
0,

0
00

 *
4

0
0,

0
00

90
0,

00
0

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

L
ea

d,
 T

o
ta

l (
C

a
lc

ul
a

te
d

)
74

3
9-

9
2-

1
21

,0
00

7
00

,0
0

0
70

0,
0

00
5,

1
0

0,
0

00
 *

4
0

0,
0

00
90

0,
00

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
M

er
cu

ry
74

3
9-

9
7-

6
13

0
1,

7
00

1
,7

0
0

13
0

1
6

0,
0

00
58

0,
00

0
22

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
ic

ke
l 

74
4

0-
0

2-
0

20
,0

00
1

00
,0

0
0

10
0,

0
00

7
6,

0
0

0 
*

4
0,

0
00

,0
00

1
50

,0
00

,0
0

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
S

e
le

ni
um

 
77

8
2-

4
9-

2
41

0
4,

0
00

4
,0

0
0

41
0

2
,6

00
,0

0
0

9,
6

0
0,

0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
ilv

e
r 

74
4

0-
2

2-
4

1,
00

0
4,

5
00

13
,0

00
1,

00
0

2
,5

00
,0

0
0

9,
0

0
0,

0
00

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

Z
in

c 
74

4
0-

6
6-

6
47

,0
00

2,
40

0,
00

0
5

,0
00

,0
00

1
70

,0
0

0
17

0,
00

0,
0

0
0

6
30

,0
00

,0
0

0
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

o
te

s:
1

.  
C

o
nc

en
tr

a
tio

ns
 r

ep
or

te
d

 in
 m

ic
ro

g
ra

m
s 

p
er

 k
ilo

g
ra

m
 (

µ
g/

kg
).

2
.  

A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
p

ar
e

d 
to

 t
he

 D
ec

e
m

b
er

 3
0

, 2
01

3 
P

ro
m

ul
g

at
ed

 C
le

an
up

 C
ri

te
ri

a
, R

e
si

d
en

tia
l a

nd
/o

r 
N

on
re

si
de

nt
ia

l P
ar

t 
2

01
 G

en
e

ri
c 

C
le

an
up

 C
ri

te
ri

a 
an

d
 S

cr
e

en
in

g 
Le

ve
ls

 (
G

S
I 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 U

p
da

te
d 

Ju
ne

 2
5

, 2
01

8)
; a

nd
 E

G
L

E
's

 M
a

y 
14

, 2
02

0,
 D

ra
ft

 R
e

si
de

nt
ia

l V
ol

a
til

iz
a

tio
n 

to
 In

d
oo

r 
A

ir
 P

at
hw

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

ee
ni

ng
 L

ev
e

ls
.

3
.  

R
e

su
lts

 e
xc

e
ed

in
g 

o
ne

 o
r 

m
o

re
 c

ri
te

ri
a 

a
re

 s
ha

d
ed

, a
s 

ar
e

 th
e

 c
ri

te
ri

a 
ex

ce
e

de
d.

4
.  

R
e

fe
r 

to
 t

he
 a

na
ly

tic
al

 r
ep

or
t f

o
r 

th
e

 fu
ll 

lis
t 

o
f a

na
ly

te
s.

5
.  

C
S

 -
 C

ri
te

ri
on

 is
 s

pe
ci

fic
 to

 in
d

iv
id

ua
l c

o
ns

tit
ue

nt
.

6
.  

<
R

L
 -

 A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

es
ul

t w
as

 b
el

o
w

 la
bo

ra
to

ry
 r

e
po

rt
in

g
 li

m
it.

 
7

.  
ID

 -
 I

ns
uf

fic
ie

nt
 d

a
ta

 t
o 

de
ve

lo
p

 c
ri

te
ri

a
.

8
.  

N
A

 -
 N

o
t 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
.

9
.  

N
E

 -
 N

o
t 

ev
al

ua
te

d.
1

0.
  

N
L

V
 -

 N
ot

 li
ke

ly
 to

 v
ol

a
til

iz
e

.
1

1.
  

N
L

L 
- 

N
ot

 li
ke

ly
 to

 le
ac

h.
1

2.
  

* 
=

 G
S

I 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
w

a
s 

ca
lc

ul
at

e
d 

fo
r 

th
e

 in
di

ca
te

d
 m

e
ta

ls
 u

si
ng

 t
he

 E
G

LE
 s

pr
e

ad
sh

e
et

 fo
r 

ca
lc

ul
a

tin
g 

G
S

I. 
 A

 d
ef

au
lt 

w
at

e
r 

ha
rd

ne
ss

 v
a

lu
e 

of
 1

5
0 

m
g

/k
g 

as
 C

a
C

O
3 

w
as

 u
se

d
 to

 
  

   
 c

a
lc

ul
at

e
 G

S
I.

   
 R

e
su

lts
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
e

d 
fo

r 
su

rf
ac

e
 w

a
te

r 
re

ce
iv

in
g

 b
od

ie
s 

no
t p

ro
te

ct
e

d 
a

s 
a 

dr
in

ki
ng

 w
at

er
 s

o
ur

ce
.

1
3.

  
Ita

lic
iz

ed
 -

 t
he

 r
e

sp
e

ct
iv

e
 c

ri
te

ri
o

n 
w

as
 b

el
o

w
 th

e
 S

ta
te

w
id

e 
D

ef
a

ul
t B

ac
kg

ro
un

d
 L

ev
e

l (
S

D
B

L)
 a

nd
 t

he
re

fo
re

 t
he

 v
a

lu
e 

de
fa

ul
te

d
 to

 th
e

 S
D

B
L 

va
lu

e.
1

4.
  

**
 -

 T
ot

al
 c

hr
o

m
iu

m
 r

es
ul

ts
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 t

ri
va

le
nt

 c
hr

om
iu

m
 c

ri
te

ri
a 

be
ca

us
e 

he
xa

va
le

nt
 c

hr
o

m
iu

m
 w

as
 a

na
ly

ze
d

 a
nd

 n
o

t m
e

as
ur

e
d 

a
bo

ve
 t

he
 la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
lim

it 
in

 th
e

 s
oi

l s
a

m
p

le
 th

a
t h

ad
 t

he
 h

ig
he

st
 c

o
nc

e
nt

ra
tio

n.
1

5.
  

C
o

nc
e

nt
ra

tio
ns

 w
e

re
 a

ls
o 

co
m

pa
re

d
 to

, 
an

d
 fo

un
d 

to
 b

e 
be

lo
w

, 
th

e
 a

m
b

ie
nt

 a
nd

 in
do

or
 a

ir
 c

ri
te

ri
a

 a
nd

 t
he

 s
o

il 
sa

tu
ra

tio
n 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n 
sc

re
e

ni
ng

 le
ve

ls
. 

R
es

id
e

n
ti

al
 D

ir
e

ct
 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

a
l 

D
ir

ec
t 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
R

e
si

d
en

ti
a

l S
o

il

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
S

am
p

le
 Id

en
ti

fi
c

at
io

n
D

ep
th

 (
fe

et
)

D
at

e
 C

o
lle

ct
e

d

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
W

ID
E

 
D

E
F

A
U

L
T

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

L
E

V
E

L
S

P
a

rt
 2

01
 G

e
n

e
ri

c 
C

le
a

n
u

p
 C

ri
te

ri
a

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 D
ri

n
ki

n
g

 
W

a
te

r 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a

N
o

n
re

s
id

e
n

ti
al

 
D

ri
n

k
in

g
 W

at
e

r 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

ac
e 

W
a

te
r 

In
te

rf
a

ce
 P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

 
C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 3

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H
 S

IT
E

 

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
 N

O
. 

0
8

1
6

0
4

.0
0

.0
0

1

P
A

G
E

 1
 O

F
 2

S
B

1
D

u
p

li
ca

te
S

B
2

S
B

6
S

B
8

S
B

1
5

S
B

1
7

M
W

1
0

D

2
.5

' -
 7

.5
'

S
B

1 
(2

.5
'-

7
.5

')
8'

 -
 1

3'
1

0
' -

 1
5'

1
1

' -
 1

6'
5'

 -
 1

0'
6

' -
 1

1
'

2
8'

 -
 3

3
'

0
5/

1
9

/2
0

0
5/

1
9/

20
0

5/
1

9/
20

0
5/

1
8/

20
0

5/
1

9/
20

0
5/

1
8/

20
0

5
/1

9/
2

0
0

5
/2

0
/2

0

V
O

C
s

ci
s-

1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e

th
yl

e
n

e
15

6
-5

9
-2

7
0

7
0

6
20

9
5

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
2

.6
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1
.0

<
1

.0

T
ol

u
en

e
10

8
-8

8
-3

79
0

7
90

2
70

41
,0

00
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
1.

4
<

1
.0

1
,1

,1
-T

ric
h

lo
ro

et
h

a
ne

7
1

-5
5

-6
20

0
2

00
8

9
14

,0
00

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1

.0
<

1
.0

T
ric

h
lo

ro
et

h
yl

en
e

7
9

-0
1

-6
5

5
2

00
1

0
1

.2
1

.2
<

1.
0

5.
7

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1

.0
<

1
.0

V
in

yl
 c

h
lo

ri
de

7
5

-0
1

-4
2

2
1

3
2

.1
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1
.0

<
1

.0
O

th
e

r 
A

na
ly

ze
d

 V
O

C
s

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

C
S

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

P
A

H
s

A
ll 

A
n

a
ly

ze
d 

P
A

H
s

12
9

-0
0

-0
14

0
1

40
ID

N
A

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

P
e

r-
 a

n
d

 P
o

ly
fl

u
o

ro
a

lk
yl

 S
u

b
s

ta
n

c
es

 (
P

F
A

S
)

P
e

rf
lu

o
ro

o
ct

an
e

su
lfo

n
ic

 a
ci

d 
(P

F
O

S
)

17
6

3-
2

3-
1

0
.0

7
0

.0
7

0
.0

1
2

N
A

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
E

<
0.

0
0

17
P

e
rf

lu
o

ro
b

u
ta

n
o

ic
 a

ci
d

 (
P

F
B

A
)

37
5

-2
2

-4
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
<

0.
0

0
17

P
e

rf
lu

o
ro

o
ct

an
e

su
lfo

n
a

m
id

e 
(F

O
S

A
)

75
4

-9
1

-6
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
0

.0
02

7

O
th

e
r 

A
na

ly
ze

d
 P

F
A

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
N

A
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
N

E
<

R
L

M
e

ta
ls

A
rs

en
ic

74
4

0-
3

8-
2

1
0.

0
1

0
.0

1
0

N
A

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
17

 /
 <

5
.0

<
5

.0
<

5
.0

B
a

riu
m

74
4

0-
3

9-
3

2,
0

0
0

2
,0

0
0

 6
7

0
 *

N
A

1
30

1
30

<
1

00
<

1
00

<
1

00
2

40
<

10
0

<
10

0

C
a

dm
iu

m
 

74
4

0-
4

3-
9

5
5

3
.0

 *
N

A
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
<

1
.0

<
1

.0
C

h
ro

m
iu

m
, 

T
ot

a
l

74
4

0-
4

7-
3

10
0

1
00

1
00

N
A

<
1

0
<

1
0

<
1

0
<

1
0

<
1

0
1

9 
/ 

<
10

<
10

<
10

C
h

ro
m

iu
m

 V
I

1
85

4
0-

2
9-

9
10

0
1

00
1

1
N

A
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5
.0

<
5

.0
C

o
pp

er
 

74
4

0-
5

0-
8

1,
0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

13
 *

N
A

<
4.

0
4

.2
<

4.
0

<
4.

0
67

 /
 5

.0
30

 /
 <

4
.0

<
4

.0
5.

9

L
ea

d
 

74
3

9-
9

2-
1

4
.0

4.
0

29
 *

N
A

<
3.

0
<

3.
0

<
3.

0
<

3.
0

11
 /

 <
3

.0
25

 /
 <

3
.0

<
3

.0
4.

7

M
e

rc
u

ry
74

3
9-

9
7-

6
2

.0
2.

0
0

2
.5

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0

.2
0

<
0

.2
0

N
ic

ke
l 

74
4

0-
0

2-
0

10
0

1
00

73
 *

N
A

<
2

0
<

2
0

<
2

0
<

2
0

<
2

0
<

2
0

<
20

<
20

S
e

le
n

iu
m

 
77

8
2-

4
9-

2
5

0
5

0
5

N
A

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

<
5

.0
<

5
.0

S
ilv

er
 

74
4

0-
2

2-
4

3
4

9
8

0.
2

N
A

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

<
0

.2
0

<
0

.2
0

Z
in

c 
74

4
0-

6
6-

6
2,

4
0

0
5

,0
0

0
1

70
 *

N
A

<
5

0
<

5
0

<
5

0
<

5
0

5
1

6
9

<
50

62
0

N
o

te
s:

1
. 

 C
o

nc
e

nt
ra

tio
n

s 
re

p
o

rt
ed

 in
 m

ic
ro

gr
a

m
s 

pe
r 

lit
e

r 
(µ

g/
L

).
2

. 
 A

n
al

yt
ic

al
 r

e
su

lts
 c

o
m

pa
re

d 
to

 t
h

e 
D

e
ce

m
be

r 
3

0,
 2

0
13

 P
ro

m
u

lg
a

te
d 

C
le

a
n

up
 C

rit
e

ri
a,

 R
e

si
d

e
nt

ia
l a

n
d/

o
r 

N
on

re
si

d
en

tia
l P

a
rt

 2
0

1
 G

e
ne

ric
 C

le
a

n
up

 C
ri

te
ria

 a
nd

 S
cr

ee
n

in
g 

Le
ve

ls
 (

G
S

I 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 C

rit
e

ri
a 

U
p

da
te

d 
Ju

ne
 2

5,
 2

0
18

);
 a

nd
 E

G
L

E
's

 M
a

y 
14

, 
2

0
20

, 
D

ra
ft

 R
es

id
en

tia
l V

o
la

til
iz

at
io

n 
  

  
V

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n

 t
o

 I
nd

o
or

 A
ir

 P
a

th
w

a
y 

(V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

e
en

in
g

 L
e

ve
ls

.
3

. 
 R

e
su

lts
 e

xc
e

ed
in

g
 o

ne
 o

r 
m

o
re

 P
a

rt
 2

01
 c

rit
e

ri
a 

a
re

 s
ha

de
d

 o
ra

n
ge

, 
a

s 
ar

e
 t

h
e 

cr
ite

ri
a

 e
xc

e
ed

e
d.

 R
e

su
lts

 e
xc

e
e

di
n

g 
o

n
ly

 E
G

LE
 V

o
la

til
iz

at
io

n 
to

 I
n

do
o

r 
A

ir 
P

a
th

w
a

y 
cr

ite
ri

a 
a

re
 s

ha
de

d
 y

e
llo

w
, 

a
s 

ar
e

 t
h

e 
cr

ite
ria

.
4

. 
 R

e
fe

r 
to

 t
h

e
 a

n
a

ly
tic

al
 r

e
po

rt
 f

o
r 

th
e

 f
u

ll 
lis

t 
of

 a
n

al
yt

e
s.

5
. 

 C
S

 -
 C

ri
te

ri
on

 is
 s

pe
ci

fic
 t

o 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l c

o
ns

tit
u

en
t.

6
. 

 <
R

L 
- 

A
na

ly
tic

a
l r

e
su

lt 
w

a
s 

b
e

lo
w

 la
b

o
ra

to
ry

 r
e

po
rt

in
g

 li
m

it.
 

7
. 

 N
E

 -
 N

o
t 

ev
al

u
at

e
d

.
8

. 
 N

A
 -

  
N

o
t 

a
va

ila
b

le
.

9
. 

 I
D

 -
 I

n
su

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
d

at
a

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 c

rit
e

ri
on

.
1

0.
  

N
LV

 -
 N

o
t 

lik
e

ly
 t

o 
vo

la
til

iz
e

 u
n

de
r 

m
os

t 
 s

o
il 

co
nd

iti
o

n
s.

1
1.

  
* 

=
 G

S
I 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 w
a

s 
ca

lc
u

la
te

d
 f

or
 t

he
 in

d
ic

a
te

d 
m

e
ta

ls
 u

si
n

g 
th

e
 M

D
E

Q
 s

p
re

ad
sh

e
et

 f
or

 c
a

lc
u

la
tin

g
 G

S
I.

  
A

 d
ef

a
u

lt 
w

a
te

r 
h

a
rd

n
es

s 
va

lu
e

 o
f 

1
5

0 
m

g
/k

g 
a

s 
C

aC
O

3
 w

a
s 

us
e

d 
to

 

  
  

  
ca

lc
ul

a
te

 G
S

I.
  

  
R

e
su

lts
 a

re
 p

re
se

n
te

d 
fo

r 
su

rf
ac

e
 w

a
te

r 
re

ce
iv

in
g

 b
o

d
ie

s 
no

t 
p

ro
te

ct
e

d 
a

s 
a 

dr
in

ki
ng

 w
at

e
r 

so
u

rc
e.

1
2.

  
**

T
o

ta
l c

h
ro

m
iu

m
 c

on
ce

n
tr

a
tio

ns
 w

er
e

 c
o

m
p

ar
e

d
 t

o
 t

he
 t

ri
va

le
n

t 
ch

ro
m

iu
m

 c
ri

te
ria

 b
ec

a
us

e
 h

ex
a

va
le

n
t 

ch
ro

m
iu

m
 w

a
s 

an
a

ly
ze

d 
in

 o
n

e
 o

r 
m

o
re

 s
am

p
le

s,
 a

nd
 w

as
 f

o
un

d
 t

o 
be

 b
e

lo
w

 la
b

o
ra

to
ry

 r
e

po
rt

in
g

 li
m

it.
1

3.
  

C
on

ce
n

tr
at

io
n

s 
w

e
re

 a
ls

o
 c

o
m

pa
re

d 
to

, 
a

nd
 f

o
u

nd
 t

o
 b

e
 b

el
o

w
, 

th
e

 g
ro

u
nd

w
a

te
r 

vo
la

til
iz

at
io

n 
to

 in
do

or
 a

ir
 in

h
al

a
tio

n
 c

ri
te

ria
 a

nd
 t

h
e 

fla
m

m
a

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d 

ex
p

lo
si

vi
ty

 s
cr

e
e

ni
n

g 
le

ve
ls

.
1

4.
  

F
o

r 
m

et
a

ls
 r

ep
or

te
d

 w
ith

 t
w

o
 v

a
lu

e
s 

"X
/X

",
 t

h
e 

fir
st

 v
a

lu
e

 is
 t

he
 u

nf
ilt

er
e

d
 (

to
ta

l)
 s

am
p

le
 r

e
su

lt 
an

d
 t

he
 s

e
co

n
d 

va
lu

e 
is

 t
h

e 
fil

te
re

d
 (

di
ss

o
lv

e
d)

 s
a

m
p

le
 r

e
su

lt.

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

T
IC

A
L

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
S

a
m

p
le

 I
d

e
n

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

S
cr

ee
n

e
d

 I
n

te
rv

al
 (

d
e

p
th

 i
n

 f
e

e
t)

D
a

te
 C

o
ll

e
ct

e
d

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

N
o

n
re

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l 
D

ri
n

ki
n

g
 W

a
te

r 
C

ri
te

ri
a

R
es

id
e

n
ti

al
 

D
ri

n
k

in
g

 W
at

e
r 

C
ri

te
ri

a

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
e

r 
S

u
rf

a
ce

 W
at

e
r 

In
te

rf
ac

e
 C

ri
te

ri
a

P
ar

t 
20

1
 G

e
n

e
ri

c
 C

le
a

n
u

p
 C

ri
te

ri
a

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

li
za

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 P

a
th

w
a

y 
(V

IA
P

) 
S

c
re

en
in

g
 L

e
ve

ls
 

R
es

id
e

n
ti

a
l 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

at
e

r 
N

o
t 

in
 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

ri
te

ri
a 

(G
W

N
IC

)



T
A

B
L

E
 3

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H
 S

IT
E

 

H
A

S
T

IN
G

S
, 

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

S
M

E
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
 N

O
. 

0
8

1
6

0
4

.0
0

.0
0

1

P
A

G
E

 2
 O

F
 2

M
W

17
D

u
p

li
c

at
e

M
W

18
M

W
19

F
ie

ld
 B

la
n

k
E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
B

la
n

k
T

ri
p

 B
la

n
k

9
' -

 1
6'

M
W

1
7 

(9
'-

1
6

')
12

' -
 1

7'
14

' -
 1

9'
Q

u
al

it
y 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

Q
u

al
it

y 
C

o
n

tr
o

l
Q

u
a

li
ty

 C
o

n
tr

o
l

0
5/

2
0

/2
0

0
5/

2
0

/2
0

0
5/

20
/2

0
0

5/
20

/2
0

0
5/

20
/2

0
0

5/
2

0/
2

0
--

-

V
O

C
s

ci
s-

1,
2-

D
ic

h
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne
1

56
-5

9-
2

7
0

7
0

62
0

9
5

<
1.

0
N

E
7

.7
<

1.
0

N
E

N
E

<
1

.0

T
o

lu
e

ne
1

08
-8

8-
3

7
90

7
90

27
0

4
1,

0
0

0
<

1.
0

N
E

<
1.

0
<

1.
0

N
E

N
E

<
1

.0
1,

1
,1

-T
ri

ch
lo

ro
e

th
a

n
e

71
-5

5
-6

2
00

2
00

8
9

1
4,

0
0

0
<

1.
0

N
E

1
.8

<
1.

0
N

E
N

E
<

1
.0

T
ri

ch
lo

ro
e

th
yl

e
ne

79
-0

1
-6

5
5

20
0

1
0

<
1.

0
N

E
33

<
1.

0
N

E
N

E
<

1
.0

V
in

yl
 c

h
lo

ri
d

e
75

-0
1

-4
2

2
1

3
2.

1
<

1.
0

N
E

1
.6

<
1.

0
N

E
N

E
<

1
.0

O
th

er
 A

n
a

ly
ze

d
 V

O
C

s
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
<

R
L

N
E

<
R

L
<

R
L

N
E

N
E

<
R

L
P

A
H

s

A
ll 

A
na

ly
ze

d
 P

A
H

s
1

29
-0

0-
0

1
40

1
40

ID
N

A
<

R
L

N
E

<
R

L
<

R
L

N
E

N
E

N
E

P
er

- 
an

d
 P

o
ly

fl
u

o
ro

al
ky

l 
S

u
b

s
ta

n
ce

s 
(P

F
A

S
)

P
er

flu
or

o
oc

ta
ne

su
lfo

ni
c 

a
ci

d 
(P

F
O

S
)

1
76

3
-2

3
-1

0
.0

7
0

.0
7

0.
01

2
N

A
<

0
.0

01
9

<
0

.0
0

1
8

0
.0

0
3

7
<

0
.0

18
<

0
.0

02
<

0
.0

0
19

N
E

P
er

flu
or

o
bu

ta
no

ic
 a

ci
d

 (
P

F
B

A
)

3
75

-2
2-

4
N

A
N

A
N

A
N

A
<

0
.0

01
9

<
0

.0
0

1
8

0
.0

0
2

6
<

0
.0

18
<

0
.0

02
<

0
.0

0
19

N
E

P
er

flu
or

o
oc

ta
ne

su
lfo

na
m

id
e 

(F
O

S
A

)
7

54
-9

1-
6

N
A

N
A

N
A

N
A

<
0

.0
01

9
<

0
.0

0
1

8
<

0
.0

0
2

1
<

0
.0

18
<

0
.0

02
<

0
.0

0
19

N
E

O
th

er
 A

n
a

ly
ze

d
 P

F
A

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
N

A
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
N

E

M
e

ta
ls

A
rs

e
ni

c
7

44
0

-3
8

-2
1

0
1

0
1

0
N

A
<

5.
0

N
E

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

B
ar

iu
m

7
44

0
-3

9
-3

2
,0

0
0

2,
00

0
 6

7
0 

*
N

A
<

1
0

0
N

E
1

70
1

80
N

E
N

E
N

E

C
a

d
m

iu
m

 
7

44
0

-4
3

-9
5

5
3.

0 
*

N
A

<
1.

0
N

E
<

1.
0

<
1.

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

h
ro

m
iu

m
, 

T
o

ta
l

7
44

0
-4

7
-3

1
00

1
00

10
0

N
A

<
1

0
N

E
<

1
0

<
1

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
C

h
ro

m
iu

m
 V

I
18

54
0

-2
9

-9
1

00
1

00
1

1
N

A
<

5.
0

N
E

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

C
o

p
pe

r 
7

44
0

-5
0

-8
1

,0
0

0
1,

00
0

1
3

 *
N

A
<

4.
0

N
E

<
4.

0
14

N
E

N
E

N
E

Le
ad

 
7

43
9

-9
2

-1
4.

0
4

.0
2

9
 *

N
A

<
3.

0
N

E
<

3.
0

<
3.

0
N

E
N

E
N

E
M

e
rc

ur
y

7
43

9
-9

7
-6

2.
0

2
.0

0.
0

0
13

2.
5

<
0.

2
0

N
E

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

N
ic

ke
l 

7
44

0
-0

2
-0

1
00

1
00

7
3

 *
N

A
<

2
0

N
E

<
2

0
<

2
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
el

en
iu

m
 

7
78

2
-4

9
-2

5
0

5
0

5
N

A
<

5.
0

N
E

<
5.

0
<

5.
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

S
ilv

e
r 

7
44

0
-2

2
-4

3
4

9
8

0
.2

N
A

<
0.

2
0

N
E

<
0.

2
0

<
0.

2
0

N
E

N
E

N
E

Z
in

c 
7

44
0

-6
6

-6
2

,4
0

0
5,

00
0

1
70

 *
N

A
<

5
0

N
E

<
5

0
1

20
N

E
N

E
N

E

N
o

te
s:

1.
  

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

ns
 r

e
po

rt
e

d
 in

 m
ic

ro
g

ra
m

s 
p

er
 li

te
r 

(µ
g

/L
).

2.
  

A
na

ly
tic

a
l r

e
su

lts
 c

om
p

a
re

d 
to

 t
h

e
 D

e
ce

m
b

er
 3

0
, 

2
01

3 
P

ro
m

ul
g

at
e

d
 C

le
an

u
p 

C
ri

te
ri

a
, 

R
es

id
e

n
tia

l a
n

d
/o

r 
N

o
nr

e
si

d
e

nt
ia

l P
a

rt
 2

01
 G

e
n

e
ric

 C
le

a
n

up
 C

rit
e

ri
a 

a
n

d 
S

cr
e

en
in

g
 L

ev
el

s 
(G

S
I 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 U

p
d

at
e

d
 J

un
e 

25
, 

2
01

8)
; 

an
d

 E
G

LE
's

 M
a

y 
1

4,
 2

0
20

, 
D

ra
ft

 R
es

id
e

nt
ia

l
  

  
 V

o
la

til
iz

at
io

n 
to

 I
n

d
o

or
 A

ir
 P

a
th

w
a

y 
(V

IA
P

) 
S

cr
ee

ni
n

g 
L

e
ve

ls
.

3.
  

R
e

su
lts

 e
xc

ee
di

n
g 

o
n

e
 o

r 
m

o
re

 P
ar

t 
2

0
1 

cr
ite

ria
 a

re
 s

h
ad

ed
 o

ra
n

g
e,

 a
s 

a
re

 t
h

e
 c

ri
te

ria
 e

xc
ee

de
d

. 
R

es
u

lts
 e

xc
ee

d
in

g
 o

n
ly

 E
G

L
E

 V
ol

a
til

iz
a

tio
n 

to
 I

n
d

oo
r 

A
ir

 P
at

h
w

ay
 c

ri
te

ria
 a

re
 s

h
ad

ed
 y

e
llo

w
, 

as
 a

re
 t

he
 c

rit
e

ri
a.

4.
  

R
e

fe
r 

to
 t

he
 a

na
ly

tic
a

l r
e

po
rt

 f
o

r 
th

e 
fu

ll 
lis

t 
o

f 
an

a
ly

te
s.

5.
  

C
S

 -
 C

ri
te

rio
n

 is
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

to
 in

d
iv

id
ua

l c
on

st
itu

e
nt

.
6.

  
<

R
L

 -
 A

n
al

yt
ic

al
 r

e
su

lt 
w

a
s 

b
e

lo
w

 la
bo

ra
to

ry
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

lim
it.

 
7.

  
N

E
 -

 N
o

t 
e

va
lu

a
te

d
.

8.
  

N
A

 -
  

N
o

t 
a

va
ila

bl
e

.
9.

  
ID

 -
 I

ns
u

ff
ic

ie
nt

 d
a

ta
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p 

cr
ite

ri
o

n.
10

. 
 N

L
V

 -
 N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 t
o

 v
o

la
til

iz
e

 u
nd

e
r 

m
o

st
  

so
il 

co
n

di
tio

n
s.

11
. 

 *
 =

 G
S

I 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
w

a
s 

ca
lc

ul
a

te
d

 f
o

r 
th

e 
in

di
ca

te
d

 m
e

ta
ls

 u
si

n
g

 t
he

 M
D

E
Q

 s
pr

e
a

ds
h

ee
t 

fo
r 

ca
lc

ul
a

tin
g 

G
S

I.
  

A
 d

e
fa

u
lt 

w
a

te
r 

ha
rd

ne
ss

 v
a

lu
e

 o
f 

1
50

 m
g/

kg
 a

s 
C

a
C

O
3 

w
as

 u
se

d
 t

o
 

  
  

  
ca

lc
u

la
te

 G
S

I.
  

  
R

es
u

lts
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
e

d
 f

or
 s

u
rf

a
ce

 w
at

e
r 

re
ce

iv
in

g
 b

od
ie

s 
n

ot
 p

ro
te

ct
e

d
 a

s 
a

 d
rin

ki
n

g 
w

a
te

r 
so

u
rc

e
.

12
. 

 *
*T

ot
a

l c
h

ro
m

iu
m

 c
o

n
ce

n
tr

a
tio

n
s 

w
e

re
 c

o
m

pa
re

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

tr
iv

al
en

t 
ch

ro
m

iu
m

 c
rit

er
ia

 b
e

ca
u

se
 h

e
xa

va
le

nt
 c

h
ro

m
iu

m
 w

as
 a

na
ly

ze
d

 in
 o

ne
 o

r 
m

o
re

 s
a

m
pl

es
, 

a
n

d 
w

a
s 

fo
u

nd
 t

o
 b

e 
b

e
lo

w
 la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
e

p
or

tin
g 

lim
it.

13
. 

 C
o

nc
e

nt
ra

tio
n

s 
w

e
re

 a
ls

o
 c

om
p

ar
e

d
 t

o,
 a

n
d 

fo
u

n
d 

to
 b

e 
b

e
lo

w
, 

th
e

 g
ro

u
n

dw
at

er
 v

ol
at

ili
za

tio
n

 t
o

 in
d

oo
r 

a
ir 

in
h

a
la

tio
n

 c
rit

er
ia

 a
n

d 
th

e
 f

la
m

m
a

b
ili

ty
 a

nd
 e

xp
lo

si
vi

ty
 s

cr
ee

n
in

g
 le

ve
ls

.
14

. 
 F

or
 m

e
ta

ls
 r

e
po

rt
e

d 
w

ith
 t

w
o 

va
lu

es
 "

X
/X

",
 t

h
e

 f
irs

t 
va

lu
e 

is
 t

h
e 

u
n

fil
te

re
d

 (
to

ta
l) 

sa
m

p
le

 r
e

su
lt 

a
nd

 t
h

e 
se

co
n

d
 v

a
lu

e
 is

 t
h

e
 f

ilt
e

re
d

 (
d

is
so

lv
e

d)
 s

a
m

pl
e 

re
su

lt.

E
G

L
E

 V
o

la
ti

li
za

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 P

at
h

w
a

y 
(V

IA
P

) 
S

c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e

ve
ls

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

T
IC

A
L

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
S

a
m

p
le

 I
d

e
n

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

S
cr

ee
n

e
d

 I
n

te
rv

al
 (

d
e

p
th

 i
n

 f
e

e
t)

D
a

te
 C

o
ll

e
ct

e
d

C
O

N
S

T
IT

U
E

N
T

C
H

E
M

IC
A

L
 

A
B

S
T

R
A

C
T

 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

N
U

M
B

E
R

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 
D

ri
n

ki
n

g
 W

a
te

r 
C

ri
te

ri
a

N
o

n
re

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l 
D

ri
n

ki
n

g
 W

a
te

r 
C

ri
te

ri
a

R
e

s
id

en
ti

a
l 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
N

o
t 

in
 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 

(G
W

N
IC

)

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

ac
e

 W
a

te
r 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
C

ri
te

ri
a

P
ar

t 
20

1
 G

e
n

e
ri

c
 C

le
a

n
u

p
 C

ri
te

ri
a



T
A

B
L

E
 4

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
IS

 R
E

S
U

L
T

S
 -

 S
O

IL
 G

A
S

F
O

R
M

E
R

 H
M

C
 R

O
Y

A
L

 C
O

A
C

H
H

A
S

T
IN

G
S

, 
M

IC
H

IG
A

N
S

M
E

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o

. 0
81

60
4.

00
.0

01
P

A
G

E
 1

 O
F

 1

S
G

1
S

G
2

S
G

3
S

G
4

S
G

5
S

G
6

S
G

7
S

G
8

S
G

9
S

G
10

S
G

11
S

G
1

2
S

G
1

3
S

G
1

4
D

U
P

L
IC

A
T

E
E

Q
U

IP
M

E
N

T
 

B
L

A
N

K

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
S

u
b

-
S

la
b

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
S

u
b

-
S

la
b

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
S

u
b

-
S

la
b

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
S

u
b

-
S

la
b

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
S

u
b

-
S

la
b

S
u

b
-

S
la

b
5-

5
.5

5
-5

.5
5

-5
.5

S
G

4
--

-

6/
1

/2
02

0
6/

1
/2

0
20

6/
1

/2
0

20
6

/1
/2

02
0

6
/1

/2
02

0
6

/1
/2

02
0

6/
1

/2
02

0
6/

1
/2

0
20

6/
1/

20
20

6
/1

/2
02

0
6

/1
/2

02
0

6
/1

/2
02

0
6/

1/
2

02
0

6/
1

/2
0

20
6/

1/
20

2
0

6
/1

/2
02

0

V
O

C
s 

(T
O

-1
5

)
µ

g
/m

3
µ

g
/m

3

B
e

nz
en

e
7

1-
43

-2
11

0
26

0
<

19
<

19
<

19
<

1
9

<
1

9
<

1
9

<
19

<
19

<
19

<
1

9
<

1
9

<
1

9
<

19
<

19
<

19
20

C
hl

or
o

fo
rm

6
7-

66
-3

37
87

<
5

.9
<

5
.9

<
5

.9
<

5.
9

<
5.

9
<

5.
9

<
5.

9
<

5
.9

<
5

.9
<

5.
9

7.
0

<
5.

9
<

5.
9

<
5.

9
<

5.
9

<
5.

9

D
ic

hl
or

od
ifl

uo
ro

m
et

ha
n

e
7

5-
71

-8
11

,0
0

0
17

,0
00

<
4

.1
<

4
.1

<
4

.1
<

4.
1

<
4.

1
7

1
<

4.
1

<
4

.1
<

4
.1

<
4.

1
<

4.
1

<
4.

1
<

4.
1

<
4.

1
<

4.
1

<
4.

1

T
et

ra
ch

lo
ro

e
th

en
e

1
27

-1
8-

4
1,

40
0

1,
4

00
<

41
<

41
<

41
<

4
1

<
4

1
<

4
1

<
41

<
41

<
41

<
4

1
<

4
1

<
4

1
<

41
72

<
41

<
4

1

1
,1

,1
-T

ric
hl

o
ro

et
ha

n
e

7
1-

55
-6

17
0

,0
0

0
23

0
,0

00
<

33
<

33
<

33
<

3
3

<
3

3
<

3
3

<
33

<
33

<
33

<
3

3
<

3
3

14
0

<
33

<
33

<
33

<
3

3

T
ric

h
lo

ro
et

h
en

e
7

9-
01

-6
67

67
33

15
13

22
1

2
3

0
23

1
3

48
25

13
0

47
0

<
1.

6
<

1.
6

22
<

1.
6

O
th

e
r 

A
na

ly
ze

d 
V

O
C

s
C

S
C

S
C

S
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L
<

R
L

<
R

L

N
ot

es
:

1
.  

C
on

ce
n

tr
at

io
n

s 
re

po
rt

e
d

 in
 m

ic
ro

gr
am

s 
pe

r 
cu

b
ic

 m
et

er
 (

µ
g

/m
3 ).

2
.  

A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

es
u

lts
 w

er
e 

co
m

pa
re

d 
E

G
LE

's
 M

ay
 1

4
, 2

0
20

, 
D

ra
ft 

R
e

si
d

en
tia

l V
ol

at
ili

za
tio

n 
to

 In
do

o
r 

A
ir 

P
a

th
w

ay
 (

V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

ee
ni

n
g 

L
ev

e
ls

.
3

.  
R

es
ul

ts
 e

xc
ee

d
in

g
 o

n
e 

o
r 

m
or

e
 c

ri
te

ri
a 

a
re

 s
ha

d
ed

, 
as

 a
re

 t
he

 c
rit

e
ria

 e
xc

ee
d

ed
.

4
.  

R
ef

er
 to

 t
he

 a
na

ly
tic

al
 r

e
po

rt
 fo

r 
th

e
 fu

ll 
lis

t 
of

 a
na

ly
te

s.

5
.  

C
S

 -
 C

ri
te

rio
n 

is
 s

pe
ci

fic
 t

o 
in

di
vi

d
ua

l c
o

ns
tit

u
en

t.

6
.  

<
R

L
 -

 A
na

ly
tic

al
 r

e
su

lt 
w

as
 b

e
lo

w
 la

bo
ra

to
ry

 r
e

po
rt

in
g

 li
m

it.
 

C
h

e
m

ic
a

l A
n

al
y

ti
ca

l R
es

u
lt

s 
  

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

  
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

  
  

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

  
   

  
   

  
  

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

  
   

  
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

  
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

S
am

p
le

 Id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

D
e

p
th

 (
fe

et
)

D
a

te
 C

o
lle

ct
e

d

N
o

n
re

si
d

en
ti

a
l

C
o

n
st

it
u

en
t

C
h

em
ic

a
l 

A
b

s
tr

ac
t 

S
er

vi
c

e 
N

u
m

b
er

R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
al

V
o

la
ti

li
zt

io
n

 t
o

 In
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 P

a
th

w
a

y
 

(V
IA

P
) 

S
cr

ee
n

in
g

 L
ev

e
ls



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-17- 

Exhibit D 

Potential Rent Loss 

 

 

Site Preparation to Support Housing Development Activities - $640,000 

Infrastructure Improvements to Support Housing Activities and Property - $607,500 

Total Housing Subsidy - $9,357,400 (limited to 25yrs of reimbursement) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

{12940-001-00013037.1}  
-18- 

Exhibit E 

TIF Table 



Tax Increment Revenue Capture Estimates
420 E. Mill Street

Hastings, Michigan
August 6, 2024

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 2.00% Commercial Rehabilitation Act Abatement
Plan Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

Calendar Year 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

Base Taxable Value 134,200$        134,200$         134,200$               134,200$                 134,200$             134,200$              134,200$              134,200$               134,200$               134,200$         134,200$          134,200$           134,200$               134,200$              134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               

Estimated New TV 134,200$        134,200$         8,477,050$           8,646,591$              8,819,523$         8,995,913$           9,175,832$           9,359,348$           9,546,535$           9,737,466$     9,932,215$      10,130,859$     10,333,477$         10,540,146$        10,750,949$         10,965,968$         11,185,287$         11,408,993$         11,637,173$         

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV) -$                 -$                  8,342,850$           8,512,391$              8,685,323$         8,861,713$           9,041,632$           9,225,148$           9,412,335$           9,603,266$     9,798,015$      9,996,659$        10,199,277$         10,405,946$        10,616,749$         10,831,768$         11,051,087$         11,274,793$         11,502,973$         

School Capture Millage Rate
State Education Tax 6.0000 -$                 -$                  40,046$                 40,859$                    41,690$               42,536$                 43,400$                 44,281$                 45,179$                 46,096$           47,030$            47,984$              48,957$                 49,949$                50,960$                 51,992$                 53,045$                 54,119$                 55,214$                 
School Operating 17.7953  -$                 -$                  118,771$               121,184$                 123,646$             126,157$              128,719$              131,331$               133,996$               136,714$         139,487$          142,315$           145,199$               148,142$              151,143$               154,204$               157,326$               160,511$               163,759$               

School Total 23.7953 -$                 -$                  158,816$               162,044$                 165,336$             168,694$              172,119$              175,612$               179,175$               182,810$         186,517$          190,299$           194,156$               198,090$              202,103$               206,196$               210,371$               214,630$               218,973$               
-$                 -$                  39,704$                 40,511$                    41,334$               42,173$                 43,030$                 43,903$                 44,794$                 45,703$           46,629$            47,575$              48,539$                 49,523$                50,526$                 51,549$                 52,593$                 53,657$                 54,743$                 

Local Capture Millage Rate
City Operating 15.7745 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    128,711$               131,319$              133,979$               136,693$               139,460$               142,283$               145,163$               
BC Operating 5.2091 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    42,503$                 43,364$                44,243$                 45,139$                 46,053$                 46,985$                 47,936$                 
City Cemetery 0.9848  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    8,035$                    8,198$                  8,364$                    8,534$                    8,706$                    8,883$                    9,063$                    
BC Charlton Pk 0.2164  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    1,766$                    1,801$                  1,838$                    1,875$                    1,913$                    1,952$                    1,991$                    
BC COA 0.4705 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    3,839$                    3,917$                  3,996$                    4,077$                    4,160$                    4,244$                    4,330$                    
BC 911 0.9416  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    7,683$                    7,839$                  7,997$                    8,159$                    8,325$                    8,493$                    8,665$                    
BC Transit 0.2377  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    1,939$                    1,979$                  2,019$                    2,060$                    2,101$                    2,144$                    2,187$                    
BISD Oper 0.1138  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    929$                       947$                      967$                       986$                       1,006$                    1,026$                    1,047$                    
BISD Spec Ed 2.1063 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    17,186$                 17,534$                17,890$                 18,252$                 18,622$                 18,998$                 19,383$                 
HSD Sinking 2015 0.9531  -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    7,777$                    7,934$                  8,095$                    8,259$                    8,426$                    8,597$                    8,771$                    

Local Total 27.0078 -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    220,368$               224,833$              229,388$               234,034$               238,772$               243,606$               248,536$               
-$                 -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    55,092$                 56,208$                57,347$                 58,508$                 59,693$                 60,901$                 62,134$                 

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

BC Med FAC Debt 0.6052 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    4,938$                    5,038$                  5,140$                    5,244$                    5,350$                    5,459$                    5,569$                    

HSD Debt 2010 1.5500 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    12,647$                 12,903$                13,165$                 13,431$                 13,703$                 13,981$                 14,264$                 

HSD Debt 2015 3.7000 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    30,190$                 30,802$                31,426$                 32,062$                 32,711$                 33,373$                 34,049$                 

HSD Debt 2023 0.6000 -$                      -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    4,896$                    4,995$                  5,096$                    5,199$                    5,305$                    5,412$                    5,521$                    

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 6.4552  -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                          -$                      -$                       -$                       -$                        -$                        -$                  -$                   -$                    52,671$                 53,738$                54,827$                 55,937$                 57,070$                 58,225$                 59,403$                 

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture -$                      -$                       158,816$               162,044$                 165,336$             168,694$              172,119$              175,612$               179,175$               182,810$         186,517$          190,299$           414,524$               422,923$              431,491$               440,230$               449,144$               458,236$               467,509$               

Footnotes:
Projected TV and 2% inflation thereafter
Assumes millage rates remain the same
Assumes 10yr Commercial Rehab Act abatement
Capture assuming 80/20 split with 20% being passed through
Captured figures above reflect 80% with the 20% passed through in red below.

20% Passthrough to Taxing Units

20% Passthrough to Taxing Units

April 2017



Tax Increment Revenue Capture Estimates
420 E. Mill Street

Hastings, Michigan
August 6, 2024

Estimated Taxable Value (TV) Increase Rate: 

Plan Year
Calendar Year

Base Taxable Value 

Estimated New TV

Incremental Difference (New TV - Base TV)

School Capture Millage Rate
State Education Tax 6.0000

School Operating 17.7953  

School Total 23.7953

Local Capture Millage Rate
City Operating 15.7745

BC Operating 5.2091

City Cemetery 0.9848  

BC Charlton Pk 0.2164  

BC COA 0.4705

BC 911 0.9416  

BC Transit 0.2377  

BISD Oper 0.1138  

BISD Spec Ed 2.1063

HSD Sinking 2015 0.9531  

Local Total 27.0078

Non-Capturable Millages Millage Rate

BC Med FAC Debt 0.6052

HSD Debt 2010 1.5500

HSD Debt 2015 3.7000

HSD Debt 2023 0.6000

Total Non-Capturable Taxes 6.4552  

 

Total Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) Available for Capture

Footnotes:
Projected TV and 2% inflation thereafter
Assumes millage rates remain the same
Assumes 10yr Commercial Rehab Act abatement
Capture assuming 80/20 split with 20% being passed through
Captured figures above reflect 80% with the 20% passed through in red below.

20% Passthrough to Taxing Units

20% Passthrough to Taxing Units

 
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 TOTAL

2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050 2051 2052 2053 2054

134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$               134,200$              

11,869,917$         12,107,315$         12,349,461$         12,596,450$         12,848,379$         13,105,347$         13,367,454$         13,634,803$         13,907,499$         14,185,649$         14,469,362$         14,758,749$         14,758,749$        

11,735,717$         11,973,115$         12,215,261$         12,462,250$         12,714,179$         12,971,147$         13,233,254$         13,500,603$         13,773,299$         14,051,449$         14,335,162$         14,624,549$         14,624,549$        

56,331$                 57,471$                 58,633$                 59,819$                 61,028$                 62,262$                 63,520$                 64,803$                 66,112$                 67,447$                 68,809$                 70,198$                 1,559,769$           

167,072$               170,452$               173,899$               177,416$               181,002$               184,660$               188,392$               192,198$               196,080$               200,040$               204,079$               208,199$               4,626,093$           

223,404$               227,923$               232,533$               237,234$               242,030$               246,922$               251,911$               257,001$               262,192$               267,487$               272,888$               278,396$               6,185,863$           
55,851$                 56,981$                 58,133$                 59,309$                 60,508$                 61,730$                 62,978$                 64,250$                 65,548$                 66,872$                 68,222$                 69,599$                 1,546,466$           

148,100$               151,096$               154,152$               157,269$               160,448$               163,691$               166,998$               170,372$               173,814$               177,324$               180,904$               184,556$               2,946,331$           

48,906$                 49,895$                 50,904$                 51,934$                 52,984$                 54,054$                 55,147$                 56,261$                 57,397$                 58,556$                 59,739$                 60,945$                 972,946$              

9,246$                    9,433$                    9,624$                    9,818$                    10,017$                 10,219$                 10,426$                 10,636$                 10,851$                 11,070$                 11,294$                 11,522$                 183,939$              

2,032$                    2,073$                    2,115$                    2,157$                    2,201$                    2,246$                    2,291$                    2,337$                    2,384$                    2,433$                    2,482$                    2,532$                    40,419$                 

4,417$                    4,507$                    4,598$                    4,691$                    4,786$                    4,882$                    4,981$                    5,082$                    5,184$                    5,289$                    5,396$                    5,505$                    87,879$                 

8,840$                    9,019$                    9,202$                    9,388$                    9,577$                    9,771$                    9,968$                    10,170$                 10,375$                 10,585$                 10,798$                 11,016$                 175,870$              

2,232$                    2,277$                    2,323$                    2,370$                    2,418$                    2,467$                    2,516$                    2,567$                    2,619$                    2,672$                    2,726$                    2,781$                    44,397$                 

1,068$                    1,090$                    1,112$                    1,135$                    1,157$                    1,181$                    1,205$                    1,229$                    1,254$                    1,279$                    1,305$                    1,331$                    21,255$                 

19,775$                 20,175$                 20,583$                 20,999$                 21,424$                 21,857$                 22,299$                 22,749$                 23,209$                 23,677$                 24,155$                 24,643$                 393,411$              

8,948$                    9,129$                    9,314$                    9,502$                    9,694$                    9,890$                    10,090$                 10,294$                 10,502$                 10,714$                 10,930$                 11,151$                 178,018$              

253,565$               258,694$               263,926$               269,262$               274,706$               280,258$               285,921$               291,697$               297,589$               303,599$               309,729$               315,982$               5,044,465$           
63,391$                 64,673$                 65,981$                 67,316$                 68,676$                 70,064$                 71,480$                 72,924$                 74,397$                 75,900$                 77,432$                 78,995$                 1,261,116$           

5,682$                    5,797$                    5,914$                    6,034$                    6,156$                    6,280$                    6,407$                    6,536$                    6,668$                    6,803$                    6,941$                    7,081$                    113,038$              

14,552$                 14,847$                 15,147$                 15,453$                 15,766$                 16,084$                 16,409$                 16,741$                 17,079$                 17,424$                 17,776$                 18,134$                 289,506$              

34,738$                 35,440$                 36,157$                 36,888$                 37,634$                 38,395$                 39,170$                 39,962$                 40,769$                 41,592$                 42,432$                 43,289$                 691,079$              

5,633$                    5,747$                    5,863$                    5,982$                    6,103$                    6,226$                    6,352$                    6,480$                    6,611$                    6,745$                    6,881$                    7,020$                    112,067$              

60,605$                 61,831$                 63,082$                 64,357$                 65,658$                 66,985$                 68,339$                 69,719$                 71,128$                 72,564$                 74,029$                 75,524$                 1,205,690$           

476,969$               486,617$               496,459$               506,497$               516,736$               527,180$               537,832$               548,698$               559,781$               571,086$               582,617$               594,378$               11,230,327$        

April 2017



Tax Increment Financing Reimbursement Table
420 E. Mill

Hastings, Michigan
August 6, 2024

Developer 
Maximum 

Reimbursement Proportionality
School & Local 

Taxes
Local-Only 

Taxes Total Estimated Capture10,951,931$  
State 56.4% 4,424,423$       4,424,423$  Administrative Fees 460,525$       
Local 43.6% 3,415,127$       -$              3,415,127$  31 SBRF 744,786$       

TOTAL 7,839,550$  LBRF 1,709,176$    
EGLE 34,500$             -$              34,500$        

MSHDA 7,805,050$       -$              7,805,050$  
Commercial Rehab Abatement Period

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040
Total State Incremental Revenue -$                    -$                   158,816$          162,044$      165,336$      168,694$      172,119$      175,612$      179,175$      182,810$      186,517$        190,299$       194,156$        198,090$      202,103$      206,196$      210,371$      
State Brownfield Revolving Fund (50% of SET) -$                    -$                   (20,023)$           (20,430)$       (20,845)$       (21,268)$       (21,700)$       (22,140)$       (22,590)$       (23,048)$       (23,515)$         (23,992)$        (24,478)$         (24,974)$       (25,480)$       (25,996)$       (26,523)$       
State TIR Available for Reimbursement -$                   -$                   138,794$          141,614$     144,491$     147,426$     150,419$     153,472$     156,586$     159,762$     163,002$        166,307$       169,678$        173,116$     176,623$     180,200$     183,849$     

Total Local Incremental Revenue -$                    -$                   -$                       -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                     -$                    220,368$        224,833$      229,388$      234,034$      238,772$      
BRA Administrative Fee - 5% -$                    -$                   -$                       -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                     -$                    (20,726)$         (21,146)$       (21,575)$       (22,011)$       (22,457)$       
Local TIR Available for Reimbursement -$                   -$                   -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                     -$                    199,642$        203,687$     207,813$     212,022$     216,315$     

Total State & Local TIR Available -$                   -$                   138,794$          141,614$     144,491$     147,426$     150,419$     153,472$     156,586$     159,762$     163,002$        166,307$       369,319$        376,803$     384,436$     392,222$     400,164$     

DEVELOPER Reimbursement Balance 7,839,550$            7,839,550$  7,839,550$  7,700,756$      7,559,142$ 7,414,651$ 7,267,225$ 7,116,807$ 6,963,335$ 6,806,749$ 6,646,987$ 6,483,985$    6,317,678$   5,948,358$    5,571,555$ 5,187,119$ 4,794,897$ 4,394,733$ 

MSHDA Housing Activity Costs 7,805,050$            7,805,050$  7,805,050$  7,805,050$      7,666,867$  7,525,876$  7,382,021$  7,235,244$  7,085,487$  6,932,691$  6,776,794$  6,617,735$    6,455,450$   6,289,875$    5,922,181$  5,547,036$  5,164,292$  4,773,796$  
      State Tax Reimbursement -$               -$              138,183$          140,991$      143,855$      146,777$      149,757$      152,796$      155,897$      159,059$      162,285$        165,575$       168,931$        172,354$      175,846$      179,407$      183,039$      
      Local Tax Reimbursement -$               -$              -$                   -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$                 -$                198,763$        202,791$      206,899$      211,089$      215,363$      
      Total MSHDA Reimbursement Balance 1 7,805,050$  7,805,050$  7,666,867$      7,525,876$  7,382,021$  7,235,244$  7,085,487$  6,932,691$  6,776,794$  6,617,735$  6,455,450$    6,289,875$   5,922,181$    5,547,036$  5,164,292$  4,773,796$  4,375,393$  

EGLE Environmental Costs 34,500$                  34,500$        34,500$       34,500$            33,889$       33,266$       32,630$       31,981$       31,319$       30,644$       29,955$       29,252$         28,534$         27,803$         26,177$       24,519$       22,827$       21,101$       
      State Tax Reimbursement 0.02$                       -$               -$              611$                  623$             636$             649$             662$             675$             689$             703$             717$                732$               747$                762$             777$             793$             809$             
      Local Tax Reimbursement -$               -$              -$                   -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$                 -$                879$                896$             915$             933$             952$             
      Total EGLE Reimbursement Balance 0 34,500$        34,500$       33,889$            33,266$       32,630$       31,981$       31,319$       30,644$       29,955$       29,252$       28,534$         27,803$         26,177$         24,519$       22,827$       21,101$       19,340$       

Local Only Costs -$                             -$                   -$                  -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                   -$                    -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
      Local Tax Reimbursement -$               -$              -$                   -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$                 -$                -$                -$              -$              -$              -$              
      Total Local Only Reimbursement Balance -$                   -$                  -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                   -$                    -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Total Annual Developer Reimbursement -$                   -$                  138,794$          141,614$     144,491$     147,426$     150,419$     153,472$     156,586$     159,762$     163,002$       166,307$      369,319$       376,803$     384,436$     392,222$     400,164$     

LBRF Deposits *
      State Tax Capture                                                 -$                             -$                   -$                  -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                   -$                    -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
      Local Tax Capture -$                             -$                   -$                  -$                       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                   -$                    -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
      Total LBRF Capture -$              -$              -$                  -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$                -$               -$                -$             -$             -$             -$             

* Up to five years of capture for LBRF Deposits after eligible activities are reimbursed. May be taken from EGLE & Local TIR only.  
Footnotes:

(4) Capture assuming 80/20 split with 20% being passed through.
Reimbursements above reflect the 80% capture.

(3) 10yr Commercial Rehab Act Abatement.
(2) Assumes Millage Rates remain constant.

Estimated Total 
Years of Plan:

DEVELOPER
Beginning 
Balance

LOCAL BROWNFIELD REVOLVING FUND

(1) Assumes taxable value increases based on proposed build out, plus 2% annual increases for inflation 
thereafter.

April 2017



Tax Increment Financing Reimbursement Table
420 E. Mill

Hastings, Michigan
August 6, 2024

Total State Incremental Revenue
State Brownfield Revolving Fund (50% of SET)
State TIR Available for Reimbursement

Total Local Incremental Revenue
BRA Administrative Fee - 5%
Local TIR Available for Reimbursement

Total State & Local TIR Available

DEVELOPER Reimbursement Balance

MSHDA Housing Activity Costs
      State Tax Reimbursement
      Local Tax Reimbursement
      Total MSHDA Reimbursement Balance

EGLE Environmental Costs
      State Tax Reimbursement
      Local Tax Reimbursement
      Total EGLE Reimbursement Balance

Local Only Costs
      Local Tax Reimbursement
      Total Local Only Reimbursement Balance

Total Annual Developer Reimbursement

LBRF Deposits *
      State Tax Capture                                                 
      Local Tax Capture
      Total LBRF Capture

* Up to five years of capture for LBRF Deposits after eligible activities are reimbursed. May be taken from EGLE & Local TIR only.  
Footnotes:

(4) Capture assuming 80/20 split with 20% being passed through.
Reimbursements above reflect the 80% capture.

(3) 10yr Commercial Rehab Act Abatement.
(2) Assumes Millage Rates remain constant.

DEVELOPER

LOCAL BROWNFIELD REVOLVING FUND

(1) Assumes taxable value increases based on proposed build out, plus 2% annual increases for inflation 
thereafter.

2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050 2051 2052 2053 2054 TOTAL
214,630$      218,973$      223,404$      227,923$      232,533$      237,234$      242,030$      246,922$      251,911$      257,001$      262,192$      267,487$        272,888$        -$                     5,907,466$  
(27,060)$       (27,607)$       (28,166)$       (28,735)$       (29,317)$       (29,909)$       (30,514)$       (31,131)$       (31,760)$       (32,401)$       (33,056)$       (33,723)$         (34,404)$         -$                     (744,786)$    

187,570$     191,366$     195,238$     199,188$     203,216$     207,325$     211,516$     215,791$     220,152$     224,599$     229,136$     233,763$        238,483$        -$                     5,162,680$  

243,606$      248,536$      253,565$      258,694$      263,926$      269,262$      274,706$      280,258$      285,921$      291,697$      297,589$      303,599$        309,729$        315,982$        5,044,465$  
(22,912)$       (23,375)$       (23,848)$       (24,331)$       (24,823)$       (25,325)$       (25,837)$       (26,359)$       (26,892)$       (27,435)$       (27,989)$       (28,554)$         (29,131)$         (15,799)$         (460,525)$    

220,694$     225,161$     229,716$     234,363$     239,103$     243,938$     248,869$     253,899$     259,029$     264,262$     269,600$     275,045$        280,598$        300,182$        4,583,939$  

408,264$     416,527$     424,954$     433,551$     442,319$     451,263$     460,385$     469,690$     479,181$     488,862$     498,736$     508,808$        519,081$        300,182$        9,746,620$  

3,986,469$ 3,569,942$ 3,144,988$ 2,711,437$ 2,269,118$ 1,817,855$ 1,357,470$ 887,781$     408,600$     -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                  

4,375,393$  3,968,925$  3,554,232$  3,131,147$  2,699,505$  2,259,132$  1,809,855$  1,351,497$  883,874$     406,802$     -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    
186,745$      190,524$      194,379$      198,311$      202,322$      206,413$      210,585$      214,841$      219,183$      186,898$      -$              -$                 -$                 -$                 4,404,952$  
219,723$      224,170$      228,705$      233,332$      238,051$      242,864$      247,774$      252,781$      257,889$      219,903$      -$              -$                 -$                 -$                 3,400,098$  

3,968,925$  3,554,232$  3,131,147$  2,699,505$  2,259,132$  1,809,855$  1,351,497$  883,874$     406,802$     -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    

19,340$       17,544$       15,710$       13,840$       11,932$       9,986$         8,000$         5,974$         3,907$         1,798$         -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    
825$             842$             859$             877$             894$             912$             931$             950$             969$             826$             -$              -$                 -$                 -$                 19,471$        
971$             991$             1,011$          1,031$          1,052$          1,074$          1,095$          1,117$          1,140$          972$             -$              -$                 -$                 -$                 15,029$        

17,544$       15,710$       13,840$       11,932$       9,986$         8,000$         5,974$         3,907$         1,798$         -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
-$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$                 -$                 -$                 -$              

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

408,264$     416,527$     424,954$     433,551$     442,319$     451,263$     460,385$     469,690$     479,181$     408,600$     -$                  -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  36,875$       229,136$     233,763$       40,590$         -$                    540,364$     
-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  43,387$       269,600$     275,045$       280,598$       300,182$       1,168,812$  

-$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             80,262$       498,736$     508,808$       321,188$       300,182$       1,709,176$ 

April 2017



Regular Council
Agenda Item Memorandum

To: Mayor Tossava and City Council

From: Dan King

Subject: Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate Application

Meeting Date: October 14, 2024

Recommended Action:

Motion to adopt Resolution 2024 28 approving the Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption

Certificate Application from 420 E. Mills LLC for properties located at 328 E. Mill Street and 420

E. Mill Street.

Background Information:

City Council adopted Resolution 2024 24 on August 26, 2024 establishing a Commercial

Rehabilitation District for properties located at 328 E. Mill Street and 420 E. Mill Street.

Subsequently, 420 E. Mills, LLC submitted a Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate

application to the City of Hastings. The Commercial Rehabilitation Act, PA 210 of 2005, affords a

tax incentive for the primary purpose and use of a commercial business or multi family

residential facility. Exemptions are approved for a term of 1 10 years, as determined by the

local unit of government. The intended use of 328 and 420 E. Mill Street as both a multi family

residential facility (130+ units) and a commercial business (food hub) meets the criteria for

approving a Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate application.

The City of Hastings adopted its Master Plan on July 26, 2021. The Master Plan identified the

shortage of housing options as the primary area of focus. An excerpt from the Action Plan

section of the Master Plan is quoted as follows:

To appeal to young professionals and empty nesters, high density residences must have

attributes beyond those directly related to the units themselves, such as being

architecturally attractive. They must be near retail, service, and dining options. They

must be pedestrian oriented and located within walking distance of those amenities.

Fortunately, Hastings’ downtown provides those desired uses and is pedestrian oriented.

The development of high density residential housing options must be near Downtown.

Currently, no developable land has been identified near Downtown. The creation of these

10B 



Regular Council
Agenda Item Memorandum

unit types will require the redevelopment of land within and near Downtown. The City

has already identified some locations through its various zoning district designations

that provide high density residential redevelopment opportunities. However, those

district regulations are one of the key impediments to the lack of high density residential

redevelopment. A revision of City regulations is the most viable alternative to sparking

future high density residential redevelopment. The proper locations are known. The

regulations must be revised to allow redevelopment and to make it economically viable

to undertake the redevelopment.

The addition of 134 multi family apartment units to the city will assist in filling housing needs as

identified in the Master Plan. Additional housing units also provide immediate economic impact

benefits to the community. Claritas and Place + Main Advisors estimate that 135 new housing

units would result in $8,260,720 in total retail trade including food and drink.

Additional housing options also benefit the local school district. The recently completed 60 unit

Tyden Lofts project contains 12 school age children with a few apartment applications still

pending review and approval. The number of school age children that will reside in the Tyden

Lofts will likely approach 20. Using the Tyden Lofts as a benchmark, the 420 E. Mills LLC project

could contain up to 50 school age children. With Michigan per pupil funding currently at $9,608

annually, the East Mill Street development could attract or retain $480,400 in local school

funding resources.

Approval of the Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate application accomplishes the

goal identified in the Master Plan to make housing development economically feasible,

potentially creates over $8 million in direct economic impact, and attracts or retains nearly

$500,000 in local school funding.

Financial Implications:

Both State Education Tax and local school operating taxes are levied on the new investment.

Local taxes are frozen and exempts the new investment from local taxes. The financial impact

to the city is also included in the BRA Amendment memorandum.



Regular Council
Agenda Item Memorandum

Attachments:

Resolution 2024 28

Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate Application

Legal Descriptions for 328 E. Mill Street and 420 E. Mill Street

Budget for Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate Application

Public Hearing Notice



Resolution 2024-28 As Amended Page 1 of 2     October 14, 2024  

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN

__________________________        ___________ _  

RESOLUTION 2024-28 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE COMMERCIAL REHABILITATION EXEMPTION 
CERTIFICATE APPLICATION, PA 210 of 2005, AS AMENDED FROM 420 E MILLS LLC 

AT 328 E MILL STREET AND 420 E MILL STREET, HASTINGS, MI 49058 

WHEREAS, The City of Hastings legally established the Commercial Rehabilitation District, District #2, on 
August 26, 2024, after a public hearing on August 26, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, The taxable value of the property proposed to be exempt plus the aggregate  
taxable value of property previously exempt and currently in force under Public Act 210 
of 2005 or under Public Act 198 of 1974 (IFT's) does not exceed 5% of the total taxable value of the City 
of Hastings; and 

WHEREAS, The application was approved at a public hearing as provided by section 4(2)  
of Public Act 210 of 2005 on October 14, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, The applicant 420 E. Mills, LLC is not delinquent in any taxes related to the facility; and 

WHEREAS, The application is for commercial property as defined in section 2(a) of Public Act 210 of 2005; 
and

WHEREAS, The applicant 420 E. Mills, LLC has provided answers to all required questions under the 
application instructions to the City of Hastings; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Hastings requires that rehabilitation of the facility shall be completed by September 
1, 2026; and

WHEREAS, The commencement of the rehabilitation of the facility did not occur more than six months 
prior to the filing of the application for exemption; and 

WHEREAS, The application relates to a rehabilitation program that when completed constitutes a qualified 
facility within the meaning of Public Act 210 of 2005 and that is situated within a Commercial Rehabilitation 
District established under Public Act 210 of 2005; and 

WHEREAS, Completion of the qualified facility is calculated to, and will at the time of issuance of the 
certificate, have the reasonable likelihood to, increase commercial activity, create employment, revitalize 
urban areas, and increase the number of residents in the community in which the facility is situated; and  

WHEREAS, The rehabilitation includes improvements aggregating 10% or more of the true cash value of 
the property at commencement of the rehabilitation as provided by section 2(j) of Public Act 210 of 2005. 



Resolution 2024-28 As Amended Page 2 of 2     October 14, 2024  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, By the City Council of the City of Hastings  

Be and hereby is granted a Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption for the real property, excluding 
land, located in Commercial Rehabilitation District, District #2 at 328 E. Mill Street and 420 E. Mill 
Street, Hastings, Michigan 49058 for a period of 10 years, beginning December 31, 2025 and 
ending December 30, 2035, pursuant to the provisions of PA 210 of 2005, as amended.

A motion to adopt the foregoing resolution being offered by Member ______ , with support by Member 
________:

YEAS:    
NAYS:   
ABSENT:

MOTION DECLARED __________. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was adopted at a duly held and attended regular meeting the 
14th day of October 2024, by the City Council of the City of Hastings, by a vote of __ members voting in 
favor thereof, __ members voting against and __ members absent. 

        ______________________________ 
                 Linda Perin 

         City Clerk/Treasurer 



Michigan Department of Treasury
4507 (Rev. 12-20) LOCAL GOVERNMENT UNIT USE ONLY

Application No. Date Received

Application for Commercial 
STATE USE ONLY

Application No. Date Received
Issued under authority of Public Act 210 of 2005, as amended.

Read the instructions page before completing the form.
is established.

PART 1: OWNER / APPLICANT INFORMATION 
owner of the facility)

Facility’s Street Address State

School District Where Facility is Located

Retain Employment Revitalize Urban Areas

Prevent Loss of Employment

No. of jobs to be created due to facility’s rehabilitation No. of jobs to be retained due to facility’s rehabilitation No. of construction jobs to be created during rehabilitation

PART 2: APPLICATION DOCUMENTS

General description of the facility (year built, original use, most recent use, 

Legal description

Establishments only)

Establishments

PART 3: APPLICANT CERTIFICATION
Telephone Number

E-mail Address

Street Address State

Title Date

420 E. Mills, LLC

328 & 420 E. Mill Street Hastings MI 49058

City of Hastings
Barry County Hastings Area

10/01/2024 09/01/2026

$27,300,000 10

5 0 100

Dean Rosendall (616) 920-1655

deanr@copperrockconstruction.com; jbelka@wnj.com

601 Fifth Street NW, Ste 300 Grand Rapids MI 49501

Manager 08/06/2024



Form 4507, Page 2

PART 4: ASSESSOR RECOMMENDATIONS (assessor of LGU must complete Part 4)

Taxable Value State Equalized Value (SEV)

Land

Building(s)

Telephone Number

E-mail Address

Assessor’s Signature Date

PART 5: LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACTION 

years, ending December 30,

Date District Established (attach resolution for district)

PART 6: LOCAL GOVERNMENT CLERK CERTIFICATION
Telephone Number

E-mail Address

Mailing Address State

Date

For faster service, the LGU should email the completed application and required documents to PTE@michigan.gov.

Lansing, MI 48909



Instructions for Completing Form 4507

Rehabilitation may commence after establishment of 
the Commercial Rehabilitation District.

Owner / Applicant Instructions

www.michigan.gov/propertytaxexemptions

LGU Assessor Instructions

LGU Clerk Instructions

4. For faster service, email the completed application and additional required documentation to PTE@michigan.gov. 

Application Deadline

www.michigan.gov/propertytaxexemptions or  



PROPERTY MAP and LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Property Address: 420 E. Mill St, Hastings, MI 49058 

Tax Parcel No.: 55-001-001-04 

Legal Description:  

Land in the City of Hastings, County of Barry, State of Michigan, described as follows: 
ALL OF LOTS 322 THRU 328, LOTS 336 THRU 348, PART OF LOTS 329 AND 335, ALL OF THE 
BLANK LOTS LYING WEST OF LOT 348, SOUTH OF APPLE STREET AND NORTHERLY OF 
THE THORNAPPLE RIVER, AND PART OF VACATED HANOVER, EAST AND APPLE 
STREETS, ALL IN THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE VILLAGE (NOW CITY) OF HASTINGS, 
BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS : 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTH 1/ 4 POST OF SECTION 17, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 8 WEST, 
HASTINGS TOWNSHIP, BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN; THENCE S00°15'25"W 1121.72 FEET 
ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH 1/ 4 LINE OF SAID SECTION 17 TO THE SOUTH LINE OF 
PLATTED MILL STREET (SAID POINT LYING 1.39 FEET EAST OF AN IRON PIPE); THENCE 
S00 °15'25" W, 499.60 FEET ALONG SAID 1/ 4 LINE TO AN INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE 
OF THE NORTH BANK OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER; THENCE S70°55'22"W, 268.20 FEET 
ALONG SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N72°46'49"W, 215.56 FEET ALONG 
SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N50°12'27"W, 358 .27 FEET TO THE END 
OF SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE N34 °44'13"E, 360 . 42 FEET TO SAID 
SOUTH LINE OF MILL STREET; THENCE S89°46'48"E, 531.53 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. INCLUDING ALL LAND LYING BETWEEN SAID 
INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER AS 



LIMITED BY THE SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE SIDELINES. CONTAINING 7.71 ACRES 
OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, TO SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE, PLUS AN 
UNDETERMINED AND VARIABLE AREA BETWEEN SAID TRAVERSE LINE AND THE 
WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER. SPLIT FROM 001-001-01 ON 8/28/19 
 

Property Address: 328 E. Mill St, Hastings, MI 49058 

Tax Parcel No.: 55-001-001-02 

Legal Description:  

Land in the City of Hastings, County of Barry, State of Michigan, described as follows: 
ALL OF LOTS 330, 332, 333, AND 334 AND PART OF LOTS 329, 331, AND 335 AND PART OF 
VACATED PLATTED HANOVER STREET, AND PART OF VACATED PLATTED BOLTWOOD 
STREET, ALL IN THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE VILLAGE (NOW CITY) OF HASTINGS, 
BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS: COMMENCING AT 
THE NORTH ¼ CORNER OF SECTION 17, TOWN 3 NORTH, RANGE 8 WEST: THENCE 
S00°15'23"W, 1121.83 FEET ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH ¼ LINE OF SAID SECTION 17 TO 
THE SOUTH LINE OF PLATTED MILL STREET; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 
N89°46'48"W, 534.08 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S34°44'13"W, 
359.13 FEET TO AN INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE OF THE NORTH BAND OF THE 
THORNAPPLE RIVER; THENCE ALONG SAID TRAVERSE LINE N50°51'15"W, 331.34 FEET; 
THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID TRAVERSE LINE N68°47'24"W, 82.56 FEET TO THE 
END OF SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE; THENCE ALONG THE WEST LINE OF 
VACATED BOLTWOOD STREET N00°19'59"E, 58.15 FEET TO SAID SOUTH LINE OF MILL 
STREET; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE S89°46'48"E, 538.24 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. INCLUDING LAND LYING BETWEEN SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE 
AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE RIVER, AS LIMITED BY THE SIDE LINES 
EXTENDED TO THE WATER EDGE. CONTAINING 1.95 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, 
TO SAID INTERMEDIATE TRAVERSE LINE, PLUS AS UNDETERMINED AND VARIABLE 
AREA BETWEEN SAID TRAVERSE LINE AND THE WATERS OF THE THORNAPPLE 
RIVER.SPLIT/COMBINED ON 01/13/2017 FROM 55-001-001-00



DEVELOPMENT BUDGET
Development Name: 420 E. Mills

City/Township/Village: City of Hastings

County: Barry
Construction Type: New Construction

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS Amount % of TDC

Acquisition

Land $380,000 1.17%

Building(s) 0.00%

Other: 0.00%

Subtotal Acquisition $380,000 1.17%

Hard Costs

Public Infrastructure (roads, sidewalks, utilities, sewage, etc.) 0.00%

Site Improvements (walks, drives, landscaping, fencing, lights, and drainage) $706,677 2.18%

Demolition (Include Lead & Asbestos Abatement) 3,000$            0.01%

Other Environmental Mitigation 0.00%

Earth Work $1,924,663 5.95%

Site Utilities 0.00%

Other: 0.00%

Structures $21,710,161 $0 $21,710,161 67.08%

   Parking Structures $0 0.00%

   Building Concrete/Masonry $4,124,011 $4,124,011 12.74%

   Carpentry $5,196,612 $5,196,612 16.06%

   Roofing/Metal/Siding/Insulation/Caulking $2,886,157 $2,886,157 8.92%

   Doors/Windows/Glass $1,447,247 $1,447,247 4.47%

   Drywall/Acoustical $2,575,203 $2,575,203 7.96%

   Flooring $0 0.00%

   Cabinets/Countertops/Appliances $689,810 $689,810 2.13%

   Painting/Decorating $0 0.00%

   Plumbing/Electrical/Fire Protection $3,459,722 $3,459,722 10.69%

   HVAC $1,475,340 $1,475,340 4.56%

   Accessory Buildings/Garages $100,000 $100,000 0.31%

   Elevators/Special Equipment $522,473 $522,473 1.61%

   Tenant Upgrades $0 0.00%

   Other: ($766,413) ($766,413) -2.37%

Builder Overhead/Profit/General Requirements $2,575,161 $0 $2,575,161 7.96%

Permits/Tap Fees/Bond/Cost Certification $0 $0 0.00%

Construction Contingency $187,918 $0 $187,918 0.58%

Other: $268,050 $0 $268,050 0.83%

Subtotal Hard Costs $27,375,630 84.58%

New Construction

Rehabilitation 

Renovation

Tap Fees

Foundation TI Covered Costs



City of Hastings 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING 
COMMERCIAL REHABILITATION EXEMPTION 
CERTIFICATE APPLICATION AS PROVIDED BY 
P.A. 210 OF PUBLIC ACTS 2005, MCL 207.842 

Notice is hereby given that the Hastings City Council 
will hold a public hearing on Monday October 14, 2024 
at 7:00 pm, in the City Council Chambers, second floor 
of City Hall at 201 E. State Street, Hastings, Michigan 
49058.

The purpose of the Public Hearing is for City Council to 
hear comments and consider granting a Commercial 
Rehabilitation Exemption Certificate for 420 E. Mills, 
LLC for the properties located at 328 and 420 E. Mill 
Street, Hastings, MI 49058: 

Parcel # 08-55-001-001-02 and 08-55-001-001-04 

For additional information please contact the Office of 
the Community Development Director, 201 E. State 
Street, Hastings, MI  49058. Questions or comments 
can be directed to Dan King, Community Development 
Director at 269-945-2468 or dking@hastingsmi.gov.

The City will provide necessary aids and services to 
individuals with disabilities upon five days’ notice to the 
Clerk of the City of Hastings. Individuals requiring 
these services should contact the Clerk of the City of 
Hastings at 269-945-2468, or via email at 
lperin@hastingsmi.gov.

Linda Perin 
City Clerk 



2024 October Council 
Report 

 

1 
 

 

To:  The City Council  

From:  Travis J. Tate, P.E., Director of Public Services 

Subject:  DPS Monthly Council Report 

Meeting Date: October 14, 2024 

 

 

Cemetery Memorial Wall Construction: 

  Katerberg VerHage (KV) has completed most of the work to date.  The curved benches at the 
kneeling walls, are still waiting to be installed because of lead time.  We will notify the community when 
it will be open to the public. 

. 

 

 
 

12A 



2024 October Council 
Report 

 

2 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



2024 October Council 
Report 

 

3 
 

Small Urban Project – East State Street 
 
  Moore & Bruggink has submitted the plans and specifications to MDOT for an initial GI meeting 
later this month.  The aim is to bid let by March 7, 2025. 
 
Green & Market Street Improvements 
 
  Design plans and specifications are close to submittal to EGLE for water and sanitary sewer 
permits. 
 
USDA – Rural Development Loan Application  
   
  The application Moore & Bruggink has been working on is close to submission.  The applications 
are quarterly, so the next round deadline is at the end of December of this year.  This loan will fund capital 
improvements for Mill Street Improvement, Apple Street Improvement, and North Street Improvement 
Projects.  The total cost for these projects are estimated to be approximately 8 million dollars. 
  
Upcoming Fall Projects: 

 

 Tree Planting 

 133 E. State Street Demolition Project 

 Misc. Survey Projects 

 City Hall Improvements (Police Area Renovation, Breakroom Renovation, ect.) 

 Water Asset Management Plan (WAMP) 

 Michigan Avenue Bridge Maintenance 

 WTP Generator Wall 

 Tree Removal RFP 

 Fall leaf and brush pick‐up 
 
I will gladly answer any questions that Council members have at the meeting. 

 
Respectfully, 

 
 

Travis Tate, P.E. 

DPS Director 



   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Fire Department Council Report September 2024  

 

The department responded to 51 calls for service: 20 in the city,29 in the townships and 2 mutual aids.  Our 
members spent a total of 263 hours responding to calls for service. Total calls for service are 593 YTD.  We have 
issued 501 burn permits in the townships.   

Training  

Our members trained a total of 36 hours for the month of August. We focused on building ventilation and airway 
management. In October we have 2 new members starting fire academy, this is a 6‐month commitment every 
Saturday and Tuesday, they will be complete in June 2025.  

Smoke/ CO detector installations 

We installed 6 smoke detectors and 2 carbon monoxide detectors in September.   

Department activities  

During the month, we started the training process for our new full time fire fighter, getting him acclimated to the 
routine of the department and up to speed on projects and report work we do monthly.  We completed our ladder 
and aerial testing. We did discover a water leak in the aerial water way and are hopeful a repair will be completed 
in October. The truck is still in service just something that needs repaired. Our 1999 engine 832 has been in the shop 
to have all the valves replaced on the fire pump, hopefully will be back in service in the next week or so.  

 Chief’s comments 

 October  is Fire Prevention Month.   We have several visits planned with the elementary students either at their 
school or at our station. Now that we are back to full staff, we will be catching up on some inspection items that 
were missed since April due to staff shortages.   

Respectfully, 

Chief Mark Jordan   

 

 

 

 

 

12B 



   

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



12C













 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

 

To:            City Council 

From:        Assessing Department 

Subject:    Assessing Report 

Meeting Date:   October 2024 

 

Recommended Action:  

Background Information:  

Over the last month we have been working on the following: 

 Continue to review commercial and industrial values for 2025. 
 Continue to review sales for residential values for 2025. 
 Visiting building permits.  
 Training staff.  

 

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Debbie Rashid      

 

Financial Implications:  

Attachments: 

12D 



September 9, 2024 

YMCA Updates for the City of Hastings 

CAMP 

• We are wrapping up staff training from June 7 – June 21. This year we have 8

international staff from the UK, Hungary, Mexico and Spain; American camp staff = 5

• Kitchen = Jay + 6, including 3 HS students

• Maintenance = Scott + 5, including 2 HS students

• As of June 20, we have 412 unique campers (505 registrations) and 69 openings;

last year total we had 431 unique campers (541 registrations)

OUTREACH and RECREATION 

• Many of our outreach staff and community builders are back for another summer of

Playground, B. Bus and Y on the Fly, Golf, Tennis and more

• Gina has 14 staff (so far) who started programs June 10th.

• We are supported by 4 school districts, Summer Food programs, and the Partners for

Youth annual campaign.

Y-TIME CHILDCARE

• Marci and Shay are back at it for their 5th summer together at the Nazarene Church.

• There are 41 families signed up (12 preschool and 29 school age)

• We are still trying to hire PT staff to fill up our rosters. (could add 2 PS and 7 SA

spots w/ 2 more staff)

• STEM learning is a component that keeps our funding levels high from the State

Alliance.

FACILITY AND MAINTENANCE 

• Camp looks amazing. We’re sticking to our Master Plan, and the list continues to

grow with possibilities to improve areas and space.

• The new building site is coming along. The new construction calendar should be

available mid-summer.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENTS 

• Megan graduated from Leadership Barry County.

• The B. Bus joined the HPL for summer reading kick-off.

• We had a bus/tent at Very Barry.

• Flexfab health fair representation.

• We had 3 Youth Quest Staff join our summer staff challenge course training.

• I brought a few international staff to Rotary.

• Youth Quest is scheduled this weekend for the first time in 5 years

STATISTICS 

• 7,299 B.Bus Books checked out (since 2023); 3,099 in 2024

• 3,541 Y-on-the-Fly Meals served (total since 2023); 1,512 meals in Summer 2024

• 2,367 Y-on-the-Fly Summer attendees

• 2,4122 Meals and snacks provided at Summer playground

• 389 Summer playground attendees

• 60 youth sports participants

Respectfully submitted, 

Jon Sporer, CEO 

Nichole Lyke, YMCA Board Secretary 

13A



Hastings Public Library Board of Trustees 
Draft Minutes 

Date: October 7, 2024 - 4:30PM 
Location: Hastings Public Library, 227 E. State St., Hastings, Ml 49058 

Community Room 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
The Meeting was called to order by Chloe Kelly at 4:30 p.m. 
• Board members present: Jane Cybulski, Chloe Kelly, Brenda (Stacy) 

Johnson, Kelli Newberry, Rebecca Lectka, Carol Dwyer, and Cloe Oliver. Not 
present were Peggy Hemerling, Norm Barlow, and Sam Cale. 

• Also present was David Edelman. 

2. AGENDA:  Carol Dwyer motioned to approve amended agenda, seconded by 
Brenda Johnson.  Motion approved to correct wording on item 9f to read 
Consider rescinding the Literacy Room policy.  

3. MINUTES: Cloe Oliver motioned to approve the September 9, 2024, 
minutes, seconded by Rebecca Lectka. Motion approved. 

4. FINANCIALS: 
a. August 2024 Invoices and Budget Report:   Cloe Oliver motioned to approve 

the financials, seconded by Rebecca Lectka. Motion approved. 
 
5. LIBRARY DIRECTOR REPORTS: September 2024 

 
6. COMMITTEES 

a. Budget and Finance – Kelli Newberry motioned to authorize an offer to David 
Edelman for a $50,000 annual salary for the position of Library Director, with an 
increase to $55,000 upon completion of his Master’s degree. Cloe Oliver 
seconded. Motion approved after discussion. Roll call vote, Kelli Newberry-Yes, 
Jane Cybulski-Yes, Cloe Oliver-Yes, Rebecca Lectka-Yes, Brenda Johnson-Yes, 
Carol Dwyer-Yes. 

b. Building and Grounds - 
c. Personnel - 
d. Policy-  
e. Marketing- 

 
?. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the updates to the Community Room 
Policy. Seconded by Cloe Oliver. Motion approved. 

b. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the updates to the Study Room Policy 
Seconded by Cloe Oliver. Motion approved 

c. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the updates to the Fee Schedule 
Seconded by Cloe Oliver. Motion approved 

d. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the updates to the Public Computer 
and Internet Policy Seconded by Cloe Oliver.  Motion approved 

 
 
 
 

13B 



e. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the updates to the Staff AI Usage 
policy Seconded by Cloe Oliver. Motion approved 

f. Jane Cybulski motioned to approve the rescinding of the Literacy Office 
Policy. Seconded by Cloe Oliver. Motion approved 

 
8. NEXT MEETING DATE 

a. Next board meeting on Monday, November 4, 2024, at 4:30 p.m. 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting was adjourned at 5:12 p.m. 



Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
27 28 29 30 31 01 02

7:00 PM Council

03 04 05 06 07 08 09

7:00 PM PC 
4:30 PM Library Board

10 11 12 13 14 15 16

City Hall Closed 
Veteran's Day 7:00 PM Council 3:00 PM Cemetery

17 18 19 20 21 22 23

7:00 PM ZBA 10:30 AM Parks 8:00 AM DDA

24 25 26 27 28 29 30

7:00 PM Council 4:30 PM Airport
City Hall Closed 

Thanksgiving 
BRA date TBD

City Hall Closed 
Thanksgiving

01 02 03 04 05 06 07

2024

PC (Planning Commision)
ZBA (Zoning Board of Appeals)
DDA(Downtown Development Authority)
BRA (Brownfield Redevelopment Authority)
JPA (Hastings/Rutland Joint Plannina Alliance)
JPC (Hastings/Rutland Joint Planning Commission)

NOVEMBER
13C


	0_Exec Summary 10 14 2024.pdf
	4_Agenda 10 14 2024.pdf
	5.A_Minuts 09 09 2024 corrected.pdf
	5_Minutes 09 23 2024.pdf
	9.B_Invoices 10 14 2024.pdf
	9.A_St Rose Fun Run 2025.pdf
	10.A_Resolution 2024-27 Brownfield Plan Amendment.pdf
	10.B_Resolution 2024-28 Commercial Rehab Exemption Cert 420 E Mills LLC 2.pdf
	12.A_October Monthly Report DPS.pdf
	12.B_Fire Chief Report Sept 2024
	12.C_Director's report 100724.pdf
	12.D_Oct 2024 Board Report.pdf
	13.A_City of Hastings Update  09 18 24.pdf
	13.B_Library Board Minutes Draftg 10 07 2024.pdf
	13.C_2024 Event Calendars.pdf



